# AUSTRALIAN STANDARDS FOR WOUND PREVENTION AND MANAGEMENT

# Fourth Edition







Copyright © Wounds Australia, 2023 Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management Fourth edition

ISBN 978-0-6487313-5-1 Previous ISBN 978-0-9807396-9-5

Published by Cambridge Media on behalf of the Australian Health Research Alliance, Wounds Australia, and WA Health Translation Network.







Previous editions published by Cambridge Media on behalf of Wounds Australia:

First edition published2002Second edition published2010Third edition published2016Fourth edition published2023

# **Development of the Standards**

Wounds Australia wishes to acknowledge that the Fourth Edition of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management has been produced through a unique collaboration by the Western Australian Health Translation Network (WAHTN), as part of the Australian Health Research Alliance (AHRA) National Wounds Initiative. It has been funded by the Federal Government through its Medical Research Future Fund. Wounds Australia's Third Edition of the Standards forms the basis for this edition.

# Suggested citation

Haesler E. and Carville K. (2023). Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management. Australian Health Research Alliance, Wounds Australia and WA Health Translation Network.

# Disclaimer

The Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management (Fourth Edition) represent the best evidence at the time of the literature search. The Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management reflect best clinical practice, to be implemented by registered health professionals and unregulated health care workers subject to their scope of practice and skills, clinical judgement, local policies and in consideration of the personal preferences of the individual with or at risk of a wound. The Standards for Wound Prevention and Management should be implemented in a culturally aware and respectful manner in accordance with the principles of protection, participation and partnership.

# Accessing the Standards

Electronic copies of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management (Fourth edition) can be downloaded from: www.woundsaustralia.org

Printed copies of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management (Fourth Edition) can be ordered from Wounds Australia at www.woundsaustralia.org

# Foreword

Acute and chronic wounds constitute a considerable care challenge and a financial burden on the Australian health system. Every Australian with a wound should expect and receive the same standard of care regardless of who they are, where they are and who is treating them. The detrimental impacts of a wound on an individual's health status, activities of daily living, quality of life and wellbeing can be monumental, with flow-on adverse outcomes for their significant others and the community.

The Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management (Fourth edition), provide a contemporary, evidence-based framework for delivery of best practice in wound prevention and management. The aim of this document is to facilitate high quality and safe clinical practice that optimises outcomes for Australians with, or at risk of, wounds. The Standards are intended for use by professional wound practitioners, organisations with wound services, educators, researchers, unregulated health care workers, individuals and family/carers across Australia. The Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management foster a collaborative approach to wound management and will inform clinical practice, quality and safety initiatives, development and implementation of policies and procedures, and resourcing of wound services.

The partnership and leadership of Wounds Australia, the Western Australian Health Translation Network and the Australian Health Research Alliance, which led to this national initiative are acknowledged, as is the participation of Australian individuals, peak bodies and organisations who responded to the invitation to review draft editions of the Standards. It is anticipated that the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management will indeed make a difference to the care and health outcomes of all Australians with, or at risk of, a wound.

Hayley Ryan Chair, Wounds Australia

Professor Ian Everall Executive Director, WAHTN

# Acknowledgements

The fourth edition of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management builds on the work completed for previous editions. Appreciation and recognition are extended to past development teams for their contribution to previous editions of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management. The involvement of Australian individuals, peak bodies and organisations who responded to the invitation to review draft editions of this document are acknowledged with gratitude, as is the significant input of the Expert Reference Group that contributed to the fourth edition, who are listed below.

Wounds Australia wishes to acknowledge that the fourth edition of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management has been produced through a unique collaboration with the Western Australian Health Translation Network (WAHTN), as part of the Australian Health Research Alliance (AHRA) National Wounds Initiative. It has been funded by the Federal Government through its Medical Research Future Fund. Wounds Australia's Third Edition of the Standards forms the basis on which this edition has been developed.

# **Authors**

Adjunct Professor Emily Haesler, PhD, PGradDipAdvNurs(Gerontics), BNurs, FWA	Curtin Health Innovation Research Institute, Curtin University Australian Centre for Evidence Based Aged Care,
	Wounds Australia Fellow
Professor Keryln Carville, RN, PhD, STN(Cred), CF, FWA	Western Australian Health Translation Network
	Silverchain Group
	Curtin Health Innovation Research Institute and School of Nursing, Curtin University
	Wounds Australia Fellow

# Expert Reference Group

Dr Denise Findlay, MBBS, MEd, MET, FRACGP	Curtin Medical School, Curtin University
Associate Professor Peter Lazzarini, PhD, BAppSci	Queensland Health
	Queensiana University of Technology
Dr Sue Monaro, RN, PhD, BAppSci(Nursing), MN	Clinical Nurse Consultant, NSW Health
Pam Morey, RN, MN(NP), FWA	Wounds Australia Board Representative Silverchain Group Wounds Australia Fellow
Hayley Ryan, RN, Wound CNC	Wounds Australia Chair
Juliet Scott, RN, MN, BAppSci(Nursing), MN(NP)	Clinical Nurse Consultant, Tasmanian Health Service
Professor Isabelle Skinner, PhD(Public Health), Senior Exec MBA, MPH&TM, GradDipProfComm	James Cook University

# **Project Management**

Professor Gary Geelhoed, MBBS, FRACP, FACEM, MD	Western Australian Health Translation Network
Dr Tanya Tuffrey, PhD, BSci(Hons)	Western Australian Health Translation Network
Ms Jo Wilkie	Western Australian Health Translation Network

# CONTENTS

Foreword	1
Acknowledgements	2
Introduction	5
Overview	11
STANDARD 1: Scope of Practice	15
STANDARD 2: Collaborative Practice	23
STANDARD 3: Wound Assessment	31
STANDARD 4: Wound Prevention	47
STANDARD 5: Wound Treatment	54
STANDARD 6: Documentation	67
	70
SIANDARD /: Knowledge, Education and Research	/3
STANDARD 8 Digital Platforms and Technologies	80
Glossary of Terms	86

# Introduction

The Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management outline quality care for people with a wound or at risk of sustaining a wound. Quality wound practice is outlined across eight core standards that exemplify wound management in the Australian context.

# Terminology used in the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management

A range of wound practitioners, from both registered health professional and unregulated health care worker groups, with different education and training levels are involved in wound prevention and management in different clinical settings. Throughout the document, the term wound practitioner is used to refer to any person employed in the care of individuals with a wound or at risk of sustaining a wound. The term encompasses both registered health professionals and unregulated health care workers who are involved in wound management as part of a health service. A registered health professional is any person who has completed professional education in a health discipline that is regulated in Australia such as medical practitioner, nurse practitioner, registered and enrolled nurses, or allied health professional.<sup>1,2</sup> An unregulated health care worker is any person who is working in an unregulated role, such as an Aboriginal health worker, assistant in nursing, support worker, disability worker, aged care worker.<sup>1</sup> When referring to the full team of wound practitioners (across clinical disciplines and professions, and including unregulated health care workers) who deliver care to individuals, the term collaborative care team is used.

Throughout the document, the term wound service provider is used to refer to organisations, facilities and services that provide care to individuals with or at risk of sustaining a wound. Unless specifically stated, the term refers to any service provider with admitted/registered care recipients (e.g. community health services, primary health care services, residential aged care facilities, long term care facilities, day centres, hospitals).

The term *individual/s* has been used to refer to people receiving wound management and the term *family/carers* has been used to refer to family members, friends and/ or other significant support people who provide care to the individual within the context of an existing relationship.

The term wound management has been used when referring to clinical processes used when preventing and treating wounds (i.e. screening, assessment, prevention and treatment). The term wound treatment has been used when referring to procedures describing direct care to treat a wound. There is an assumption that screening and assessment underpins both wound prevention and treatment.

# Target audience

The Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management are relevant to individual wound practitioners and at the wound service (organisational) level. The target audience under the umbrella of wound practitioners includes:

• Wound specialists/experts (i.e. people with specialist qualifications, experience or clinical roles in wound management).

- Health professionals (registered health professionals with a health discipline qualification) with involvement in wound management.
- Unregulated health care workers with involvement in wound management.

This edition of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management includes standards that are targeted to health organisations delivering services to people with, or at risk of, wounds. The level of involvement a wound service provider has in wound management will influence the relevance and application of the Standards to the service.

# Structure of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management

The Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management consists of eight core Standards addressing the key concepts/domains of professional and clinical practice, as outlined in Figure 1. These Standards should be considered and used in conjunction with other clinical care standards, accreditation standards and professional standards.



Figure 1. The eight core Standards

The eight core Standards address the ways in which wound practitioners deliver clinical wound practice, as well as expected standards for professional wound practice. These two areas of practice interact closely, as demonstrated in Figure 1. In this edition of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management, three core domains of wound management have been highlighted—wound assessment (including screening, assessment and evaluation), wound prevention

and wound treatment. These three Standards outline best practice in these domains based on current evidence. Exemplifying professional standards of care, which encompass practice within legal, moral and ethical frameworks as well as judiciously applying evidence, is core to delivering best wound practice.

Within the eight core domains, specific principles are outlined in 61 Standards (42 for wound practitioners and 19 for wound service providers), each of which details a level of care that reflects best practice and evidence criteria that demonstrate that the core Standard has been reached. Because the concepts throughout core domains are all closely related, some evidence criteria have been included in more than one Standard. For example, documentation requirements are specified in the Documentation Standard, and specific requirements for documenting wound assessments are also included as evidence criteria in the Wound Assessment Standard.

Each core Standard includes a rationale, criteria for achievement background and context as extended information, and a table of relevant resources that can be used to guide clinical performance that meets the core Standards. Resources were classified according to type and are coded throughout the document, as outlined in Table One.

Type of document	
Standard or similar over-arching principle, including legislation	
Evidence-based Clinical Practice Guideline	
Consensus Document or Consensus-based Clinical Practice Guideline	
Position Document	
Primary Research	R

Table 1. Resource types and coding

# The relevance of the Standards to wound management in Australia

The Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management express attributes that reflect quality of wound practice applied across different contexts and clinical disciplines. They are not intended to be an exhaustive list of qualities that reflect best practice, but rather they are intended as contemporaneous guidance to the way wound management is considered, reflected upon and delivered for people in Australia. This edition of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management includes both professional standards and clinical governance standards.

# What is a standard of practice?

A standard of practice is a statement that identifies an expectation regarding care that should be delivered to an individual. Standards of practice set out practices, procedures and behaviours that reflect exemplary ways in which registered health professionals and unregulated health care workers should deliver care. Standards define expectations of health service delivery, knowledge, competency and proficiency that promote safe, consistent and reliable health care. The information outlined in a standard provides criteria by which the quality of health care can be evaluated. Standards provide a valuable tool, not only for guiding clinical practice, but also for informing the development of policies, procedures, education, research initiatives and continuous quality improvement programs (including auditing and staff appraisal). Standards therefore play an important role in improving the safety of the individual and promoting positive care outcomes.

However, standards cannot be used in isolation. A range of other important resources guide the way in which care is delivered safely and at a high standard by wound practitioners. Some of these resources are illustrated in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Resources for care delivery

# Relevance of the Standards to wound practitioners

The level of involvement a wound practitioner has in delivering wound management will influence the relevance and application of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management to their clinical practice. The eight core standards acknowledge that the level of involvement in wound management varies widely across disciplines, clinical settings and clinical roles, and is influenced by education, training, and scope of practice. Level of experience also influences the relevance of each individual standard to the individual wound practitioner; a novice clinician may not be expected to meet each standard at the same level as a wound specialist with years of experience. The eight core Standards refer to various levels of responsibility, including direct wound management, facilitation and a referral role.

Regular review of performance against the eight core Standards can be conducted by wound practitioners seeking to evaluate their practice. When using the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management for self or peer evaluation, application of judgement regarding the relevance to the individual wound practitioner is encouraged.

# Relevance of the Standards to wound service providers

The eight core Standards acknowledge that the level of involvement in wound management varies widely across health services and is influenced by the function of the health service and its care agreement with the individual. Wound service providers should also consider the eight core Standards in the context of other service standards (e.g. the Aged Care Quality Standards,<sup>3</sup> the National Standards for Disability Services,<sup>4</sup> Standards for General Practice,<sup>5</sup> and the National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards).

At the organisation level, the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management can be used within quality improvement and research activities to monitor the safety and quality of care being delivered by wound service providers. The Standards can be used as a component of accreditation and to inform local clinical governance standards and policy and procedure development. When using the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management for evaluation of the wound service provider, application of judgement regarding the relevance to the particular service is encouraged.

#### Relevance of the Standards to individuals with or at risk of a wound

Individuals receiving wound management and their family/carers (i.e. family members, friends and/or other significant supports) may use the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management to further understand the context and quality of wound management.

#### Relevance of the Standards to wound education

The Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management are relevant for use in the health education sector for advancing knowledge and skills, curriculum development, assessment and credentialing programs.

# Development of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management

The Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management and the supporting evidence sources presented in this edition build on those in previous editions. For the Fourth Edition, a scoping review was undertaken to identify existing relevant standards, supporting clinical guidelines and other key evidence sources.

A search strategy was developed to identify free text terms associated with the key concepts/domains relevant to the Standards. Next, a search was undertaken in the National Library of Medicine (NLM) Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) Browser to identify MeSH terms associated with the free text terms. A limited search of PubMed was conducted using the MeSH terms and relevant papers were reviewed for additional keywords used by evidence sources that could further add to the search. The Expert Reference Group reviewed the search strategy and offered additional relevant search terms. The final search strategy was undertaken using MeSH terms in Medline and PubMed, and then adapted for Embase, Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), the Cochrane Library, Google Scholar and JBI Database of Systematic Review and Implementation Reports to identify relevant references published since the previous edition in 2016. Additionally, a search was undertaken of websites of relevant professional bodies that publish standards, professional guidance and related regulatory documents, and any additional key documents recommended by the Expert Reference Group were also retrieved. Searches were conducted in September 2020 and updated in October 2021 (website material was also updated in February 2023). Sources identified in the search were imported into Endnote, duplicates removed and full texts were retrieved.

Each source was reviewed for its relevance as a supporting document for the core professional and practice domains. Additional prominent concepts/domains included in other standards and guidelines were also identified for potential inclusion

in this edition of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management. The Expert Reference Group reviewed the identified concepts and the authors' proposed domain structure to ensure their currency and reflection of wound practice. Next, identified sources were classified based on their level of relevance to the domains and goals of the Standards. The references included in the previous editions were also reviewed for their ongoing relevance to current practice. All evidence of the highest relevance has been included to support this edition of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management, with evidence of lower relevance used as a supporting citation when relevant.

The Expert Reference Group reviewed the draft version and comments were addressed. The revised Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management then underwent an extensive stakeholder review advertised on the websites and social media of Western Australian Health Translation Network, the Australian Health Research Alliance and Wounds Australia from November 2021 to February 2022. In addition to the open invitation to review the draft document, 119 key organisations (e.g. professional bodies, educational organisations and peak bodies) and individuals were directly invited to review the draft. Feedback was then reviewed by the authors and the Expert Reference Group and, where appropriate, incorporated into the final Fourth Edition of the Australian Standards for Wound Prevention and Management. A final review was undertaken by the Expert Reference Group before endorsing the document.

# References

- 1. Department of Health. Australia and healthcare worker regulation. 2015. Available from: https://www.health.vic.gov.au/health-workforce-regulation/australia-and-healthcareworker-regulation. [cited March 2022].
- 2. Ahpra. Regulatory principles for the National Scheme. 2021. Available from: https://www. ahpra.gov.au/About-Ahpra/What-We-Do/Regulatory-principles.aspx [cited March 2022].
- 3. Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission. 2019. Aged Care Quality Standards. Australian Government: https://www.agedcarequality.gov.au/.
- 4. Department of Social Services. 2013. National Standards for Disability Services. Australian Government: https://www.dss.gov.au/.
- 5. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Standards for general practices. 2020. 5th ed. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP.

# Overview

In this overview of the Standards, WP refers to Standards for Wound Practitioners, and WSP refers to Standards for wound service providers.

# Standard 1: Scope of practice

Wound management is delivered in a way that respects and complies with legislation, regulations, scope of practice, local policies, current evidence and ethical decision making.

- WP 1.1. Performs in accordance with relevant legislation, regulations, codes of conduct, scope of practice and policies of the wound service provider.
- WP 1.2. Delivers evidence-based wound practice.
- WP 1.3. Provides care within an ethical practice framework.
- WSP 1.4. Defines and monitors the scope of practice associated with wound practitioner roles.
- WSP 1.5. Endorses evidence-based wound practice.
- WSP 1.6. Endorses ethical wound practice.

#### Standard 2: Collaborative practice

Wound assessment, prevention and management are delivered using a collaborative approach between the individual, their family/carers and the collaborative care team.

- WP 2.1. Empowers the individual and their family/carers to participate in wound management.
- WP 2.2. Practises person-centred wound management.
- WP 2.3. Works collaboratively with the care team in respect to wound management.
- WP 2.4. Communicates in a way that facilitates collaborative wound management.
- WSP 2.5. Promotes person-centred care models in wound management.
- WSP 2.6. Implements and supports a wound service model based on collaborative care.

WSP 2.7. Facilitates and supports a wound service environment of mutual respect.

# Standard 3: Wound assessment

A comprehensive, ongoing assessment of the individual, their wound and their environment is performed and used to develop an individualised wound prevention and management plan.

- WP 3.1. Conducts regular, comprehensive screening and assessment of the individual's risk of sustaining a wound, including factors that impact healing.
- WP 3.2. Conducts a regular, comprehensive skin inspection.

- WP 3.3. Conducts a lower limb assessment to identify skin, vascular, lymphatic, neuropathic and other deficits, if appropriate.
- WP 3.4. Conducts and documents comprehensive and regular wound assessment.
- WP 3.5. Conducts a comprehensive and regular assessment of the individual's wound-related pain.
- WP 3.6. Uses valid, reliable and appropriate tools and/or frameworks when undertaking wound-related assessments.
- WP 3.7. Uses diagnostic investigations to support wound assessment.
- WP 3.8. Identifies factors in the environment that could impact on the risk of sustaining a wound, wound healing and/or care delivery.
- WP 3.9. Establishes goals of care with the individual, their family/carers and the collaborative care team.
- WP 3.10. Monitors and documents wound status, wound healing progress and effectiveness of the wound management plan.
- WSP 3.11. Promotes a clinical governance framework that is consistent with individuals receiving a comprehensive clinical assessment.

#### Standard 4: Wound prevention

Wound prevention is practised according to the best available evidence to achieve optimal outcomes for the individual and their skin integrity.

- WP 4.1. Promotes skin integrity and hygiene to reduce the individual's vulnerability to sustaining a wound.
- WP 4.2. Optimises the individual's general physical health to reduce the risk of sustaining a wound.
- WP 4.3. Implements individualised strategies to prevent wounds based on clinical assessment and identified need.
- WP 4.4. Optimises the individual's cognitive and mental status, psychosocial health and knowledge to reduce the risk of sustaining a wound.
- WSP 4.5. Supports and facilitates the delivery of individualised, evidence-based wound prevention strategies.
- WSP 4.6. Supports and drives the implementation of organisation-level wound prevention programs.

# Standard 5: Wound treatment

Wound treatment is delivered according to the best available evidence to achieve optimal outcomes for the individual and their wound.

WP 5.1. Interprets the findings from a comprehensive assessment to inform and develop an individualised wound treatment plan.

- WP 5.2. Implements strategies to optimise the individual's wound-related quality of life.
- WP 5.3. Implements strategies to optimise the individual's healing capacity.
- WP 5.4. Implements strategies to optimise the wound and periwound area for healing.
- WP 5.5. Attends wound cleansing in a manner that is appropriate to the individual, their wound and the clinical context.
- WP 5.6. Prevents and manages wound-related infection and cross infection.
- WP 5.7. Selects and uses products, pharmaceuticals and devices competently and safely.
- WP 5.8. Considers adjunctive therapies and advanced innovations for stimulating wound healing when available, appropriate and recommended.
- WSP 5.9. Supports and facilitates the delivery of individualised, evidence-based wound treatments.
- WSP 5.10. Supports and facilitates wound infection prevention and control.

WSP 5.11. Provides an environment conducive to wound healing.

#### Standard 6: Documentation

Wound-related documentation provides a legal, comprehensive and chronological record of assessments, investigations, wound prevention and management planning and monitoring, and evaluation at the individual and organisation level.

- WP 6.1. Maintains wound-related health records that meet legislative, regulatory and service provider requirements.
- WP 6.2. Documents wound assessment, prevention and management comprehensively, chronologically and accurately.
- WP 6.3. Consults with the individual and their family/carers regarding the use of health information.
- WSP 6.4. Ensures that health and wound related records are maintained in a manner that meets legislative, regulatory and care provision requirements.

# Standard 7: Knowledge, education and research

Wound-related knowledge, education and research capacity are maximised.

- WP 7.1. Demonstrates knowledge, skills and critical thinking with respect to woundrelated practice.
- WP 7.2. Maintains current and evidence-based wound knowledge.
- WP 7.3. Contributes to wound-related research, quality improvement activities and other opportunities to translate evidence into practice.

- WP 7.4. Contributes to the wound-related professional development of the collaborative care team.
- WP 7.5. Educates the individual and their family/carers regarding the wound management.
- WSP 7.6. Identifies wound-related learning needs of the collaborative care team.
- WSP 7.7. Promotes wound-related education for the collaborative care team, individuals and family/carers.
- WSP 7.8. Facilitates the collaborative care team to evaluate evidence and translate it into practice.
- WSP 7.9. Strives to achieve wound-related service level quality indicators.

# Standard 8: Digital platforms and technologies

Digital platforms and technologies are used to facilitate the delivery of evidence based wound prevention and management.

- WP 8.1. Accesses and delivers telehealth when appropriate in a manner consistent with professional standards and regulatory requirements.
- WP 8.2. Delivers telehealth in a manner consistent with best practice in wound assessment, prevention and management.
- WP 8.3. Implements digital technologies (e.g. photography) in a manner consistent with effective wound management.
- WP 8.4. Uses social media and other digital platforms in a professionally responsible manner.
- WSP 8.5. Facilitates access to telehealth when it is appropriate to enable access to wound assessment, prevention and management.
- WSP 8.6. Facilitates use of digital technologies to enable accurate wound assessment, prevention and management.
- WSP 8.7. Promotes responsible use of social media and other digital platforms.

# STANDARD 1: SCOPE OF PRACTICE

Wound management is delivered in a way that respects and complies with legislation, regulations, scope of practice, local policies, current evidence and ethical decision making.

# Rationale

Wound management should be delivered within the legal boundaries of scope of practice and must comply with legislation, regulations, and local policies of professional and ethical practice. Implementing wound management that reflects current best practice is associated with maximised wound healing potential, positive clinical outcomes, and safety.

# Criteria for wound practitioners

To meet the criteria for the Scope of Practice Standard, the wound practitioner:

1.1 Performs in accordance with relevant legislation, regulations, codes of conduct, scope of practice and policies of the wound service provider.

# Evidence Criteria

- 1.1.1 Functions in accordance with the relevant professional code of conduct and scope of practice as determined by regulatory authorities and within the scope of employment as defined by the wound service provider.<sup>1-10</sup>
- 1.1.2 Meets regulatory requirements of relevant registering authorities.<sup>1-13</sup>
- 1.1.3 Has appropriate education qualifications and clinical skills to perform practice role related to wound management.<sup>1, 3-5, 9, 13-17</sup>
- 1.1.4 Is accountable for practice.<sup>1-5, 10, 11, 15, 17, 18</sup>
- 1.1.5 Recognises limitations of scope of practice for regulated and nonregulated practice.<sup>1-3, 5, 9, 11, 17, 19</sup>
- 1.1.6 Has knowledge of, and compliance with, policies and procedures of the wound service provider.

# 1.2 Delivers evidence-based wound practice.

- 1.2.1. Accesses current evidence from reputable sources in order to maintain a knowledge base appropriate to practice role.<sup>1, 9, 10, 15, 19-21</sup>
- 1.2.2. Makes care decisions that reflect evidence-based practice.<sup>1, 2, 5, 9, 10, 15, 17</sup>
- 1.2.3. Evaluates the benefits, risks and cost effectiveness of wound-related products, pharmaceuticals, therapies and devices.<sup>1, 2, 16, 22, 23</sup>

# 1.3. Provides care within an ethical practice framework.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 1.3.1. Minimises risk of harm to the individual and their family/carers.<sup>1-5, 7, 8</sup>
- 1.3.2. Recognises the rights and responsibilities of the individual, family/carers and members of the collaborative care team.<sup>1-5, 17, 19, 24</sup>
- 1.3.3. Delivers evidence-based wound practice that is sensitive to beliefs, values, ethnicity, culture and dignity.<sup>1-5, 10, 11, 17, 18, 24, 25</sup>
- 1.3.4. Considers moral and ethical issues when performing wound management.<sup>1, 3-5, 10, 11, 26</sup>
- 1.3.5. Maintains trust, privacy and confidentiality of the individual and family/ carers.<sup>3-5, 15, 17, 18</sup>
- 1.3.6. Considers equitability and sustainability when performing wound management.<sup>5, 21</sup>

# Criteria for wound service providers

To meet the criteria for the Scope of Practice Standard, the wound service provider:

1.4. Defines and monitors the scope of practice associated with wound practitioner roles within the wound service.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 1.4.1. Develops and regularly reviews roles and responsibilities that reflect scope of practice determined by regulatory authorities.<sup>14, 18, 27-30</sup>
- 1.4.2. Ensures an appropriate skills-mix within the work force to enable delivery of optimal wound management <sup>12, 15, 16, 24, 30, 31</sup>
- 1.4.3. Ensures staff access ongoing education and training appropriate to their professional and/or clinical role.<sup>5, 14, 16, 18, 19, 29-31</sup>

# 1.5. Endorses evidence-based wound practice.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 1.5.1. Provides access to contemporary, evidence-based, documented protocols to guide delivery of wound management within the wound service.<sup>13,14,29</sup>
- 1.5.2. Facilitates and supports access to evidence-based learning for the collaborative care team.<sup>14, 29, 30</sup>
- 1.5.3. Provides or facilitates access to the necessary resources for the implementation of cost effective, evidence-based practice in the care of individuals with or at risk of wounds.<sup>13, 14, 16, 29, 32</sup>

# 1.6. Endorses ethical wound practice.

#### Evidence Criteria

1.6.1. Recognises the rights and responsibilities of the individual, family/carers and the collaborative care team.<sup>29,31,33</sup>

- 1.6.2. Promotes respect of values, diversity and dignity throughout the wound service.<sup>30, 31, 34</sup>
- 1.6.3. Considers accessibility, equitability and sustainability in policies and procedures.<sup>29-31, 34</sup>

# **Related resources**

Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. (2021). The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Clinical Governance Standard. https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/our-work/clinical-governance/ clinical-governance-standard	S
Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. (2020). Draft Credentialing and Defining Scope of Clinical Practice: A guide for managers and clinicians. https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au	S
Ahpra and National Boards. (2014). For registered health practitioners: Code of conduct. https://www.ahpra.gov.au/News/2014-02-13-revised-guidelines-code-and-policy.aspx	S
Ahpra and National Boards. (2018). Guideline - Informing a National Board About Where you practise. Ahpra: https:// www.physiotherapyboard.gov.au/documents/default. spx?record=WD18%2f25927&dbid=AP&chksum=qOhXIXRXWGdw%2bK B%2bw055Dw%3d%3d	S
Ahpra and National Boards. (2019). Social media: How to Meet your Obligations Under the National Law. Ahpra: https://www.ahpra.gov.au/Publications/Social- media-guidance.aspx	S
Ahpra and National Boards. (2020). Guidelines: Mandatory notifications about registered health practitioners. Ahpra: https://www.ahpra.gov.au/Notifications/mandatorynotifications/Mandatory-notifications.aspx	S
Continence Nurses Society Australia. (2017). Practice Standards for Nurse Continence Specialists. Melbourne, Australia: Continence Nurses Society Australia	S
International Council of Nurses. (2021). The ICN Code of Ethics for Nurses. https://www.icn.ch/system/files/2021-10/ICN_Code-of-Ethics_EN_Web_0.pdf	S
Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia (2016). Registered Nurses Standards For Practice. https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines- Statements/Professional-standards.aspx	S
Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. (2018). Code of conduct for nurses. https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Statements/ Professional-standards.aspx	S
Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. (2021). Nurse Practitioner Standards for Practice. https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-State- ments/Professional-standards.aspx	S
Medical Board of Australia and Ahpra. (2020). Good Medical Practice: A Code of Conduct for Doctors in Australia. Retrieved from https://www.medicalboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Policies.aspx	S

# **Background and Context**

# Scope of practice

Scope of practice refers to the area of practice in which a wound practitioner is educated and trained and is competent and legally permitted to perform. Scope

of practice is determined by educational background, status with an Australian health care registration body and the law and regulations pertaining to the clinical field. Scope of practice may be influenced by the level of competency and confidence of a wound practitioner in performing specific duties,<sup>3-5, 17, 35</sup> and may also be influenced by the workplace, with limitations defined by job description, roles and responsibilities provided by the wound service provider.<sup>2, 14</sup>

# Standards for practice

Standards for practice outline the minimum expected quality of wound management delivered. Standards of practice primarily relate to registered health professionals, and include professional attributes that underpin competent performance in a health discipline.<sup>2</sup> The values, knowledge and skills expected of a registered health professional are outlined in relevant national core competency standards. The concepts reflected within professional standards of practice are ubiquitous, with professional regulatory bodies across health disciplines and countries with very similar professional expectations.<sup>1, 2, 9, 10, 12, 21</sup>

Beyond outlining the education, legal and competency requirements and scope of practice, standards of practice promote the respect, dignity, safety and wellbeing of the individual, their family/carers and the collaborative care team.<sup>4, 5, 19, 25</sup> It is recognised that the scope of practice varies according to clinical role, education and training. For example, registered health professionals work within a professional framework that requires ongoing development, self-reflection, professional judgement and decision making<sup>1, 2, 9, 10, 12, 21</sup> While accountable for their practice, unregulated health care workers are not expected to have the same knowledge level, experience or decision making responsibilities as registered health professionals.<sup>36</sup> It is expected that all wound practitioners have a strong understanding of the scope of practice and standards defining their own practice and that of their colleagues, and are able to identify and negotiate breaches of practice scope in order to promote safe and quality wound management. Being aware of the limitations to the practice of others is particularly important for those who have delegation roles.<sup>1, 2, 10</sup>

# **Evidence-based practice**

Registered health professionals have a responsibility to engage in evidencebased practice through implementing care strategies that have been shown to be efficacious. An important component of clinical practice is engagement in evidence-based practice. Evidence-based wound practice involves conscientious and judicious evaluation of the best available evidence to inform the way in which wound prevention and management is delivered.<sup>20, 22, 37</sup> Implementation of evidence-based practice is dependent on the clinical experience and expertise of the wound practitioner and collaborative care team, and the perspectives of the person with a wound and their family/carers. Evidence-based practice requires continuous professional development through the ongoing questioning of one's clinical practice, seeking out evidence from a range of reputable sources to inform and evaluate practice and, where possible, engaging in research to add to the body of evidence in wound prevention and management.<sup>37-40</sup> Wound service providers have a crucial role in providing structures and processes that support evidence-based practice. Facilitating continuing professional development, ensuring allocation of required resources, supporting continuous quality improvement activities and

implementing root cause analysis are some ways in which wound service providers endorse evidence-based practice.<sup>39, 41-44</sup>

Evidence-based practice incorporates the safe and effective delivery of interventions.<sup>22, 37</sup> The collaborative care team are accountable for ensuring therapies are selected in the best interest of individuals, and are delivered safely and in accordance with manufacturer directions and Therapeutic Goods Administration licensing and are evaluated for effectiveness.<sup>45</sup>

When planning and implementing wound management, consideration should be given to achieving meaningful outcomes for individuals with a wound or at risk of sustaining a wound (e.g. preventing, healing and/or maintaining wounds, maximising quality of life, promoting cost effectiveness) while minimising adverse outcomes.<sup>38, 46</sup>

Clinical practice guidelines developed using evidence-based approaches provide one source by which the collaborative care team can review evidence underpinning care options and recommendations for prevention and management of wounds.<sup>47</sup> However, implementation of evidence-based principles requires an interdisciplinary or multidisciplinary approach, with consideration to the knowledge and skills of the entire team, the individual's preferences, the resources available, local policies and procedures and the context of care.<sup>20, 46, 48</sup>

Context of care includes contextual elements at the individual, community and global level. Consideration should be given to the care setting and to the individual's values, psychosocial status and experiences. At a higher level, consideration should also be given to health equity and sustainable wound management relevant to the local context.<sup>49</sup> Health equity seeks to prevent social determinants of health acting as a barrier to individuals achieving positive outcomes. Health equity requires the collaborative team and the wound service provider to ensure individuals do not experience poorer outcomes due to physical or psychosocial disadvantage.<sup>39</sup> Sustainable care achieves quality outcomes with minimal social, financial or environmental costs. Increasingly, evaluation of the impact of care delivery on the environment is expected of wound practitioners and wound service providers. Areas for consideration include waste production and management, energy use, care delivery models and procurement of resources.<sup>21, 50</sup>

# Ethical clinical practice

Ethical clinical practice refers to application of the science and understanding of morality in health sciences with a goal of improving the quality of care.<sup>51</sup> Ethical clinical practice requires consideration of what is morally right and wrong, and the potential outcomes of actions.<sup>26</sup> Fundamental principles guiding wound prevention and management involve the recognition of the individual's rights and promotion of dignity. Guiding principles in delivering ethical clinical practice include valuing individual diversity. Advocating for individuals' access to quality wound prevention and management, informed decision-making, safety, privacy and wellbeing are core strategies that guide the collaborative teams delivery of ethical care.<sup>1-5, 19, 52</sup> The wound service provider has a pivotal role in ensuring the environment in which wound management is delivered is safe for all stakeholders, and that fundamental ethical and moral principles underpin the service's philosophy, policies and practices.<sup>14</sup>

# References

- 1. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2016. Registered Nurses Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 2. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2021. Nurse Practitioner Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 3. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2018. Code of Conduct for Nurses. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Statements/Professional-standards.aspx.
- 4. Medical Board of Australia and Ahpra. 2020. Good Medical Practice: A Code of Conduct for Doctors in Australia. Ahpra: https://www.medicalboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Policies.aspx.
- 5. Ahpra and National Boards. 2014. For Registered Health Practitioners: Code of Conduct. Ahpra: https://www.ahpra.gov.au/News/2014-02-13-revised-guidelines-code-and-policy. aspx.
- 6. Ahpra and National Boards. 2018. Guideline Informing a National Board About Where you Practise. Ahpra: https://www.physiotherapyboard.gov.au/.
- 7. Ahpra and National Boards. 2020. Guidelines: Mandatory Notifications About Registered Health Practitioners. Ahpra: https://www.ahpra.gov.au/Notifications/ mandatorynotifications/Mandatory-notifications.aspx.
- 8. Ahpra and National Boards. 2020. Guidelines: Mandatory Notifications About Registered Students. Ahpra: https://www.ahpra.gov.au/.
- 9. EdCaN. 2020. Competency Standards for Specialist Cancer Nurses. Cancer Australia: http://edcan.org.au/professional-development/professional-development-model/somenurses/competency-standards.
- 10. Continence Nurses Society Australia. 2017. Practice Standards for Nurse Continence Specialists. Continence Nurses Society Australia: Melbourne.
- 11. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2016. Standards for Practice: Enrolled Nurses. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 12. American Physical Therapy Association. 2019. Standards of Practice for Physical Therapy. American Physical Therapy Association: https://www.apta.org/apta-and-you/leadership-and-governance/policies/standards-of-practice-pt.
- 13. American Nurses Association. 2019. Core Principles on Connected Health (Principles). ANA: Silver Spring, MD.
- 14. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2020. Draft Credentialing and Defining Scope of Clinical Practice: A guide for managers and clinicians. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au.
- 15. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2020. Strategies to Reduce Practice Variation in Wound Assessment and Management: The T.I.M.E. Clinical Decision Support Tool. Wounds International: London.
- 16. Wounds UK. 2019. Best Practice Statement: Ankle Brachial Pressure Index (ABPI) in Practice. Wounds UK: London.
- 17. College of Nurses of Ontario. 2019. Practice Standard: Code of Conduct. College of Nurses of Ontario: Toronto, ON.
- 18. Australian Nursing Federation. 2013. Guidelines for Telehealth On-Line Video Consultation Funded Through Medicare. Australian Nursing Federation: Australia.
- 19. International Council of Nurses. 2021. The ICN Code of Ethics for Nurses. ICN: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 20. Woodward M. Using the journal to improve patient care. Wound Practice and Research, 2012; 20(4): 172.

- 21. American Nurses Association. 2015. Nursing: Scope and Standards of Practice. American Nurses Association: Silver Spring, MD.
- 22. van Rijswijk L and Gray M. Evidence, research, and clinical practice: a patient-centered framework for progress in wound care. J Wound Ostomy Cont Nurs, 2012; 39(1): 35-44.
- 23. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Medication Safety Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/medication-safety-standard.
- 24. ISBI Practice Guidelines Committee. 2016. ISBI Practice Guidelines for Burn Care. Burns, 42: 953-1021.
- 25. American Nurses Association. 2017. Ethics and Human Rights Statement. ANA: Silver Spring, MD.
- 26. Welsh L. Ethical issues and accountability in pressure ulcer prevention. Nursing Standard, 2014; 29(8): 56-63.
- 27. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Clinical Governance Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/our-work/clinical-governance/clinical-governance.
- 28. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Comprehensive Care Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/comprehensive-care-standard.
- 29. Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission. 2019. Aged Care Quality Standards. Australian Government: https://www.agedcarequality.gov.au/.
- 30. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. 2020. Standards for general practices. 5th ed. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP.
- 31. Department of Social Services. 2013. National Standards for Disability Services. Australian Government: https://www.dss.gov.au/.
- 32. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards, Comprehensive Care Standard: Minimising Patient Harm. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/comprehensive-care-standard/minimising-patient-harm.
- 33. Australian Government Department of Health. 2015. Charter of Care Recipients' Rights and Responsibilities Home Care, Aged Care Act 1997, Schedule 2 User Rights Principles 2014 DoH: Canberra.
- 34. Wounds UK. 2020. Best Practice Statement: Post-Operative Wound Care Reducing the Risk of Surgical Site Infection. Wounds UK: London.
- Adderley UJ and Thompson C. Confidence and clinical judgement in community nurses managing venous leg ulceration - A judgement analysis. J Tissue Viability, 2017; 26(4): 271-6.
- 36. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2007. A National Framework for the Development of Decision-making Tools for Nursing and Midwifery Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 37. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2012. National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards. ACSQHC: Sydney.
- 38. Harding K. Evidence and wound care: What is it. J Wound Care, 2000; 9(4): 188.
- 39. Busse R, Klazinga N, Panteli D, and Quentin W. eds. 2019. Improving healthcare quality in Europe: Characteristics, Effectiveness and Implementation of Different Strategies. OECD and World Health Organization European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies: Copenhagen, Denmark.

- 40. McKeeney L. Evaluating the effectiveness of wound management products. Nurs Stand, 2011; 26(7): 72-6 4p.
- 41. Walsh K, Helm R, and Aboshady OA. Quality improvement in health care: How to do it. Br J Hosp Med (Lond), 2016; 77(9): 536-8.
- 42. Scott SM and Bennett J. Avoiding pressure injuries with root cause analysis and action. AORN J, 2018; 108(5): 15-6.
- 43. Leese GP and Stang D. When and how to audit a diabetic foot service. Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2016; 32 Suppl 1: 311-7.
- 44. Black JM. Root cause analysis for hospital-acquired pressure injury. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs, 2019; 46(4): 298-304.
- 45. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2016. Registered Nurse Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 46. Australian Wound Management Association (AWMA) and New Zealand Wound Care Society (NZWCS). 2012. Australia and New Zealand Clinical Practice Guideline for Prevention and Management of Venous Leg Ulcers. Cambridge Media: Osborne Park, WA.
- 47. Beeckman D and Duprez V. The journey to evidence-based practice. British Journal of Nursing, 2011: S3.
- 48. European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel, and Pan-Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers/Injuries: Clinical Practice Guideline. 2019, Haesler E. (ed). EPUAP/NPIAP/PPPIA.
- 49. Dowsett C, Bielby A, and Searle R. Reconciling increasing wound care demands with available resources. J Wound Care, 2014; 23(11): 552-8
- 50. Australian Medical Association. 2019. Environmental Sustainability in Health Care. AMA: https://ama.com.au/position-statement/environmental-sustainability-health-care-2019.
- 51. Nandi PL. Ethical Aspects of Clinical Practice. Arch Surg, 2000; 135(1): 22-5.
- 52. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2008. Code of Ethics for Nurses in Australia. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.

# **STANDARD 2: COLLABORATIVE PRACTICE**

Wound assessment, prevention and management are delivered using a collaborative approach between the individual, their family/carers and the collaborative care team.

# Rationale

Collaborative practice is associated with optimal outcomes in wound prevention and healing, quality of life, and cost-effective care delivery.<sup>1-7</sup>

# Criteria for wound practitioners

To meet the criteria for the Collaborative Practice Standard, the wound practitioner:

2.1. Empowers the individual and their family/carers to participate in wound management.

# Evidence Criteria

- 2.1.1. Recognises the diversity of the individual.<sup>8,9</sup>
- 2.1.2. Recognises the importance of family, community, partnership and collaboration in the wound-related decision-making of Aboriginal and/ or Torres Strait Islander peoples. <sup>10-12</sup>
- 2.1.3. Recognises the individual's wishes with respect to individual participation and involvement of family/carers in wound management.<sup>13</sup>
- 2.1.4. Communicates in a manner that is consistent with the individual's values, preferences, culture, language and health literacy.<sup>8-10, 12, 14-16</sup>
- 2.1.5. Assesses and documents the health literacy of the individual and their family/carers, including their capacity to engage in informed decision making.<sup>2, 10, 16</sup>
- 2.1.6. Provides relevant information, education and support to the individual and their family/carers to enable informed participation in wound management planning and delivery and future care directives.<sup>2-4, 15-21</sup>

# 2.2. Practises person-centred wound management.

- 2.2.1. Partners with individuals and their family/carers in planning, delivery and evaluation of wound management.<sup>1, 17, 18, 22-24</sup>
- 2.2.2. Respects the care goals, values, practices and preferences of the individual and their family/carers.<sup>10</sup> <sup>2, 3, 14, 16, 23, 25</sup>
- 2.2.3. Assesses and engages the skills, knowledge and willingness of the individual and their family/carers to participate in care decisions, and self-care.<sup>2, 6, 20, 26</sup>

2.2.4. Uses information received from the individual and their family/carers in planning and delivering wound management, including decisions on responsibility for different aspects of care.<sup>2, 10, 14, 16, 20, 22, 27</sup>

# 2.3. Works collaboratively with the care team in respect to wound management.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 2.3.1. Uses a collaborative approach to wound assessment, planning, management and evaluation when appropriate.<sup>1-3, 5, 14, 15, 20, 26, 28-32</sup>
- 2.3.2. Makes appropriate referrals when necessary.<sup>1-3, 10, 15, 18, 27, 28, 30</sup>

# 2.4 Communicates in a way that facilitates collaborative wound management.

# Evidence Criteria

- 2.4.1. Creates a positive and safe environment that respects the diversity of individuals, their family/carers and the collaborative care team to promote effective collaboration.<sup>10, 16, 24, 25</sup>
- 2.4.2. Regularly communicates with the individual and their family/carers regarding wound management.<sup>10, 14, 25</sup>
- 2.4.3. Regularly communicates with the collaborative care team regarding care planning, management and evaluation.<sup>1, 10, 13, 14</sup>
- 2.4.4. Engages in timely communication when there are changes that impact on the individual, their wound and/or their wound healing environment.<sup>10,</sup> <sup>13, 33</sup>

# Criteria for wound service providers

To meet the criteria for the Collaborative Practice Standard, the wound service provider:

# 2.5 Promotes person-centred care models in wound management.

# Evidence Criteria

- 2.5.1 Outlines mission, goals and/or philosophy that focus on improving the experience of the individual.<sup>8, 17, 23, 34</sup>
- 2.5.2 Communicates with individuals and their family/carers in ways that support engagement in wound management.<sup>23</sup>

# 2.6. Implements and supports a wound service model based on collaborative care.

- 2.6.1. Ensures access to services from a range of health disciplines.<sup>1, 3, 8, 19, 22, 34, 35</sup>
- 2.6.2. Implements structures that support collaborative interaction and communication across health sectors and within health disciplines.<sup>1-3, 8, 19, 33, 34</sup>

# 2.7 Facilitates and supports a wound service environment of mutual respect.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 2.7.1 Recognises the importance of family, community, partnership and collaboration in the wound-related decision-making of Aboriginal and/ or Torres Strait Islander peoples.<sup>8-11, 17, 36, 37</sup>
- 2.7.2 Promotes an environment that accepts diversity among staff, individuals and family/carers.<sup>8, 9, 18, 34, 37</sup>
- 2.7.3 Promotes an environment and culture that focuses on satisfaction of staff, individuals and family/carers.<sup>1, 8, 9, 17, 25, 34</sup>

# **Related resources**

Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. (2021). The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Partnering with Consumers Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/partnering-consumers-standard	S
Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Healthcare. (2011). Patient- centred Care: Improving Quality and Safety Through Partnerships with Patients and Consumers. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/publications- and-resources/resource-library/patient-centred-care-improving-quality-and- safety-through-partnerships-patients-and-consumers	S
Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council's National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Standing Committee. (2016). Cultural Respect Framework 2016-2026 for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health. Council of Australian Governments: https://healthbulletin.org.au/articles/cultural-respect-framework- 2016-2026-for-aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-health/	Ρ
Choi BC and Pak AW. Multidisciplinarity, interdisciplinarity and transdisciplinarity in health research, services, education and policy: 1. Definitions, objectives, and evidence of effectiveness. Clinical and Investigative Medicine, 2006. 29(6): p. 351- 64	R
Gethin G, Probst S, Stryja J and Christiansen N. Evidence for person-centred care in chronic wound care: A systematic review and recommendations for practice. J Wound Care, 2020. 29(Supplement 9b): p. S4-S23.	R
Moore Z, Butcher G, Corbett L, McGuiness W, Synder R and van Acker K. Managing wounds as a team. J Wound Care, 2014. 23(5 Suppl): p. \$1-38.	С
Wu T, Chaer RA and Salvo NL. Building effective partnerships between vascular surgeons and podiatric physicians in the effective management of diabetic foot ulcers. J Am Podiatr Med Assoc, 2016. 106(4): p. 308-11.	R

# **Background and Context**

# **Empowering individuals**

The right of individuals to independence, choice, and control over their health care is enshrined in quality standards for acute care, sub-acute care, aged care and community-based care in Australia.<sup>8, 9, 23, 38, 39</sup> A person-centred approach to care requires the collaborative care team to maintain respect for individuals and support and promote engagement in their own care. In order to make choices about their wound management, to contribute to goal and care planning and to actively engage in self-care activities, individuals require an appropriate level of health literacy, education and support. Promoting quality care involves key strategies at a system, service, team and individual level.<sup>17, 38</sup> These strategies include, but are not limited to:<sup>17, 23, 40</sup>

- recognising and promoting roles and responsibilities of those involved in wound management, including the individual and their family/carers,
- developing service policies that promote partnerships with the individual and family/carers,
- assessing and promoting the individual's ability to engage in care decisions and self-care activities,
- providing education and support to allow individuals and family/carers to develop decision-making and self-care skills, and
- recognising the diverse backgrounds of individuals with or at risk of a wound.

Cultural awareness is recognised as a prerequisite for a strong collaborative care team and holistic care.<sup>37, 41</sup> Cultural awareness and partnerships are associated with improved perceptions of health services by people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds, including Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Developing and implementing effective approaches to achieving cultural awareness in any health service requires an ongoing, planned strategic direction that is driven and modelled by all stakeholders.<sup>37, 41</sup>

Such a person-centred approach is associated with improved preventive care, improved functional status, increased engagement in wound management, reduced complication rates and fewer adverse outcomes.<sup>17</sup>

# Collaborative care

Adopting a collaborative approach to care delivery is recognised as a core component of professional practice across health disciplines and clinical settings.<sup>22, 43</sup> A collaborative approach to wound management that includes wound practitioners from a range of disciplines, the individual and their family/carers is considered to be a gold standard, and is fundamental to person-centred care models.<sup>1, 44</sup> Collaborative care can be delivered using various models of care, including person-centred care, team-based care, interdisciplinary care and multidisciplinary care.

A collaborative approach to wound management is associated with improved outcomes for individuals with, and at risk of, all types of wounds. Collaboration across health disciplines and skill sets is associated with:<sup>1-7, 27, 45, 46</sup>

- decreased incidence of preventable wounds,
- improved wound healing times,
- reduction in amputation rates,
- increased adherence to management plans,

- improved health-related quality of life, and
- cost-effective wound management.

Wound management is a multifactorial clinical domain that encompasses the scope of practice of numerous health disciplines. Wound practitioners from a range of health disciplines have the expertise to contribute to the assessment, prevention and management of wounds and related co-morbidities.<sup>47</sup> Evidence-based wound management guides collaboration between the individual, the collaborative care team and family/carers is as an essential component of high quality care.<sup>7, 19, 20, 48</sup>

Collaborative wound management promotes integration of complementary perspectives, philosophies and strategies derived from wound practitioners from a range of professional and clinical backgrounds.<sup>28</sup> This includes timely and appropriate address of intrinsic and extrinsic factors that influence an individual's wound healing, recognition of risk indicators and wound deterioration, prompt referral, and comprehensive documentation.<sup>49</sup> Significant direct and indirect cost savings have been noted, particularly when collaborative care is co-located, and referrals are streamlined.<sup>45</sup>

# Working as a team

Successful collaboration requires individuals to work together as a group within and across health care disciplines and settings. Effective communication requires team members to: make appropriate and timely referrals; share information; negotiate, plan and implement; give and receive feedback; respect one another; and resolve conflict in order to achieve identified mutual goals and optimum outcomes for the individual with a wound or at risk of sustaining a wound.<sup>1, 50</sup>

Clinical expertise, communication, leadership skills and self-reflection are core facilitators to collaborative team work.<sup>51, 52</sup> Having a thorough appreciation and acknowledgement of the scope of practice and skills of other team members is a fundamental principle of successful collaboration.<sup>26, 53</sup> Supporting other members of the team in their professional development (e.g. through sharing of educational opportunities, research or professional development activities) is a part of successful collaboration.

Wound service providers play a significant role in supporting collaborative wound management. The model of care supported within the service drives the level of collaborative input to care.<sup>35</sup> Bringing together wound practitioners from a range of disciplines can be supported via recruitment policies, service delivery models, strategic partnerships, outreach programs and co-location arrangements.<sup>35</sup> Strong collaborative care requires an investment by the wound service provider in administrative systems to support communications, referrals, clinical care meetings and interdisciplinary education.

# References

- 1. Moore Z, Butcher G, Corbett L, McGuiness W, Synder R, and van Acker K. Managing wounds as a team. J Wound Care, 2014; 23(5 Suppl): \$1-38.
- 2. Wounds UK. 2019. Best Practice Statement: Addressing Complexities in the Management of Venous leg Ulcers. Wounds UK: London.

- 3. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2016. Florence Congress, Position Document. Local Management in Diabetic Foot Ulcers Wounds International: London.
- 4. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2020. Strategies to Reduce Practice Variation in Wound Assessment and Management: The T.I.M.E. Clinical Decision Support Tool. Wounds International: London.
- 5. Rivolo M, Dionisi S, Olivari D, Ciprandi G, Crucianelli S, Marcadelli S, Zortea RR, Bellini F, Martinato M, Gabrielli A, and Pomponio G. Heel pressure injuries: Consensus-based recommendations for assessment and management. Adv Wound Care, 2020; 9(6): 332-47.
- 6. Gethin G, Probst S, Stryja J, and Christiansen N. Evidence for person-centred care in chronic wound care: A systematic review and recommendations for practice. J Wound Care, 2020; 29 (Supplement 9b): S4-S23.
- Buggy A and Moore Z. The impact of the multidisciplinary team in the management of individuals with diabetic foot ulcers: A systematic review. J Wound Care, 2017; 26(6): 324-39.
- 8. Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission. 2019. Aged Care Quality Standards. Australian Government: https://www.agedcarequality.gov.au/.
- 9. Department of Social Services. 2013. National Standards for Disability Services. Australian Government: https://www.dss.gov.au/.
- 10. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2018. Code of Conduct for Nurses. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Statements/Professional-standards.aspx.
- 11. Department of Health. 2021. National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Plan 2021-2031. Australian Government: https://www.health.gov.au/topics/aboriginal-and-torresstrait-islander-health/how-we-support-health/health-plan
- 12. Medical Board of Australia and Ahpra. 2020. Good Medical Practice: A Code of Conduct for Doctors in Australia. Ahpra: https://www.medicalboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Policies.aspx.
- 13. College of Nurses of Ontario. 2019. Practice Standard: Code of Conduct. College of Nurses of Ontario: Toronto, ON.
- 14. American Physical Therapy Association. 2019. Standards of Practice for Physical Therapy. American Physical Therapy Association: https://www.apta.org/apta-and-you/leadershipand-governance/policies/standards-of-practice-pt.
- 15. EdCaN. 2020. Competency Standards for Specialist Cancer Nurses. Cancer Australia: http://edcan.org.au/professional-development/professional-development-model/somenurses/competency-standards.
- Ahpra and National Boards. 2014. For Registered Health Practitioners: Code of Conduct. Ahpra: https://www.ahpra.gov.au/News/2014-02-13-revised-guidelines-code-and-policy. aspx.
- 17. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Healthcare. 2011. Patient-centred care: Improving quality and safety through partnerships with patients and consumers. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/publications-and-resources/resource-library/ patient-centred-care-improving-quality-and-safety-through-partnerships-patients-andconsumers.
- 18. Wounds UK. 2020. Best Practice Statement: Post-Operative Wound Care Reducing the Risk of Surgical Site Infection. Wounds UK: London.
- 19. Schaper NC, van Netten JJ, Apelqvist J, Bus SA, Hinchcliffe RJ, Lipsky BA, and Board IE. Practical Guidelines on the prevention and management of diabetic foot disease (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36(S1): e3266.

- 20. European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel, and Pan-Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. 2019. Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers/Injuries: Clinical Practice Guideline. Haesler E. (ed). EPUAP/NPIAP/PPPIA.
- 21. Araki E, Goto A, Kondo T, Noda M, Noto H, Origasa H, Osawa H, Taguchi A, Tanizawa Y, Tobe K, and Yoshioka N. Japanese Clinical Practice Guideline for Diabetes 2019. Diabetol Int, 2020; 11(3): 165-223.
- 22. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2007. A National Framework for the Development of Decision-making Tools for Nursing and Midwifery Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 23. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Partnering with Consumers Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/partnering-consumers-standard.
- 24. Romanelli M, Serena T, Kimble R, Han S-K, Kim JT, Cruz J, Zin C, Chong SJ, and Al Assar S. 2019. Skin graft donor site management in the treatment of burns and hard-to-heal wounds. Wounds International.
- 25. Gerardi D and Fontaine D. True collaboration: envisioning new ways of working together. AACN Advanced Critical Care, 2007; 18(1): 10-4.
- 26. Denyer J, Pillay E, and Clapham J. 2017. Best Practice Guidelines for Skin and Wound Care in Epidermolysis Bullosa. An International Consensus. Wounds International: London.
- 27. National Association of Diabetes Centres and The Australian Diabetes Society. 2019. Interdisciplinary Diabetes High Risk Foot Services (HRFS) Standards. NADC: Sydney, NSW.
- 28. Choi BC and Pak AW. Multidisciplinarity, interdisciplinarity and transdisciplinarity in health research, services, education and policy: 1. Definitions, objectives, and evidence of effectiveness. Clin Invest Med, 2006; 29(6): 351-64.
- 29. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2016. Registered Nurses Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 30. Continence Nurses Society Australia. 2017. Practice Standards for Nurse Continence Specialists. Continence Nurses Society Australia: Melbourne.
- 31. Australian Nursing Federation. 2013. Telehealth Standards: Registered Nurses. Australian Nursing Federation: Australia.
- 32. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2021. Nurse Practitioner Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 33. The Association for the Advancement of Wound Care. 2018. Major Recommendations for the International Consolidated Wound Infection Guideline (ICWIG) https://aawconline. memberclicks.net/resources: The Association for the Advancement of Wound Care.
- 34. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. 2020. Standards for general practices. 5th ed. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP.
- 35. Wu T, Chaer RA, and Salvo NL. Building Effective Partnerships Between Vascular Surgeons and Podiatric Physicians in the Effective Management of Diabetic Foot Ulcers. J Am Podiatr Med Assoc, 2016; 106(4): 308-11.
- 36. Cultural Capability Team Queensland Health. 2015. A guide for improving the identification of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in health care. Queensland Government: https://www.health.qld.gov.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0032/146795/ii\_guide.pdf.
- 37. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2017. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards, User Guide for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health. ACSQHC https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/topic/user-guide-aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-health.

- 38. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Comprehensive Care Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/comprehensive-care-standard.
- 39. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Communicating for Safety Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/communicatingsafety-standard.
- 40. Australian Government. Quality of Care Principles 2014, Compilation No. 2, in F2016C00451, Federal Register of Legislation, Editor. 2016, Australian Government: https://www.legislation.gov.au/Details/F2016C00451.
- 41. Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council's National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Standing Committee. 2016. Cultural Respect Framework 2016-2026 for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health. Council of Australian Governments: https://healthbulletin. org.au/articles/cultural-respect-framework-2016-2026-for-aboriginal-and-torres-straitislander-health/
- 42. Hand T. The developing role of the HCA in general practice. Prac Nurs, 2012; 42(19): 14-7.
- 43. Norman RE, Gibb M, Dyer A, Prentice J, Yelland S, Cheng Q, Lazzarini P, Carville K, Innes-Walker K, Finlayson K, Edwards H, Burn E, and Graves N. Improved wound management at lower cost: a sensible goal for Australia. International Wound Journal, 2016; 13(3): 303-16.
- 44. Plummer ES and Albert SG. Diabetic foot management in the elderly. Clin Geriatr Med, 2008; 24: 551-67.
- 45. Chandra V, Glebova NO, Salvo NL, and Wu T. Partnerships between podiatrists and vascular surgeons in building effective wound care centers. J Vasc Surg, 2017; 66(3): 902-5.
- 46. Blanchette V, Brousseau-Foley M, and Cloutier L. Effect of contact with podiatry in a team approach context on diabetic foot ulcer and lower extremity amputation: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Foot Ankle Res, 2020; 13(1): 15.
- 47. Bogie KM and Ho CH. Multidisciplinary approaches to the pressure ulcer problem. Ostomy Wound Management, 2007; 52(10): 26-32.
- 48. Australian Wound Management Association (AWMA) and New Zealand Wound Care Society (NZWCS). 2012. Australia and New Zealand Clinical Practice Guideline for Prevention and Management of Venous Leg Ulcers. Cambridge Media: Osborne Park, WA.
- 49. Armstrong DG, Bharara M, White M, Lepow B, Bhatnagar S, Fisher T, Kimbriel HR, Walters J, Goshima KR, Hughes J, and Mills JL. The impact and outcomes of establishing an integrated interdisciplinary surgical team to care for the diabetic foot. Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2012; 28(6): 514-8.
- 50. Abrahamyan L, Wong J, Pham B, Trubiani G, Carcone S, Mitsakakis N, Rosen L, Rac VE, and Krahn M. Structure and characteristics of community-based multidisciplinary wound care teams in Ontario: An environmental scan. Wound Repair & Regeneration, 2015; 23(1): 22-9.
- 51. Acker KV. Employing interdisciplinary team working to improve patient outcomes in diabetic foot ulceration our experience. EWMA Journal, 2012; 12(2): 31-5.
- 52. Shiu ATY, Lee DTF, and Chau JPC. Exploring the scope of expanding advanced nursing practice in nurse-led clinics: A multiple-case study. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 2012; 68(8): 1780-92.
- 53. Atwal A and Caldwell K. Nurses' perceptions of multidisciplinary team work in acute health-care. Int J Nurs Pract, 2006; 12(6): 359-60.

# STANDARD 3: WOUND ASSESSMENT

A comprehensive, ongoing assessment of the individual, their wound and their environment is performed and used to develop an individualised wound prevention and management plan.

# Rationale

Clinical decision making is underpinned by screening and assessment of the individual and (when present) their wound. Screening is undertaken to determine areas of risk that require comprehensive assessment. Comprehensive assessment of factors that influence both the risk of sustaining a wound and the ability of a wound to heal are conducted based on initial screening, clinical judgement, recommendations, needs of the individual, and local policy. Screening and assessment are core components of wound management and should be facilitated with consideration to scope of practice and the services available. A comprehensive assessment of the individual, their wound or risk of wounding, and their environment is fundamental for planning, implementation and evaluation of wound management.

# Criteria for wound practitioners

To meet the criteria for the Wound Assessment Standard, the wound practitioner:

3.1. Conducts regular, comprehensive screening and assessment of the individual's risk of sustaining a wound, including factors that impact healing.

- 3.1.1. Regularly assesses the individual's general health and wellbeing, which may include:<sup>1-13</sup>
  - Reason for presentation.
  - Cultural sensitivities, language and need for interpreter service.
  - Health literacy, health service access, socioeconomic status and wound-related knowledge.
  - Health history and co-morbidities that impact wound healing.<sup>14</sup>
  - Previous wound history, management and outcomes.
  - Previous relevant diagnostic investigations.
  - Age and specific age-related changes.
  - Vital signs.
  - Continence status.
  - Mobility and activity.

- Prescription and over-the-counter medications or recreational drug use, skin and wound products,<sup>13</sup> and alternative preparations (e.g. homeopathic medication).
- Sensitivities and known allergies.
- Perceptions, preferences, goals, concerns and self-care ability.
- Capacity to heal.<sup>15-18</sup>
- 3.1.2. Undertakes or refers for nutritional screening and assessment,<sup>6, 7, 19, 20</sup> which may include:
  - Quantity, quality and nutritional content of food and fluid intake.<sup>19</sup>
  - Anthropometric measurements including weight history.<sup>1, 19</sup>
  - Recognised metabolic rate or basal energy expenditure formulas.<sup>19</sup>
  - Hair and skin changes.
  - Factors that influence food and fluid intake, including need for assistance.<sup>19</sup>
  - Additional specific biochemical tests (e.g. albumin, transferrin, zinc or vitamins).<sup>19</sup>
- 3.1.3. Undertakes or refers for cognitive and psychosocial screening and assessments, which may include:<sup>4, 8, 9, 12, 21</sup>
  - Cognitive screening (e.g. screening for delirium and dementia).
  - Psychological screening (e.g. screening for mood disturbance).
  - Wellbeing, quality of life, social and wound impact assessments.
- 3.1.4. Undertakes or refers for screening and risk assessments that lead to loss of skin integrity as appropriate to the individual. These may include:<sup>6, 7, 10, 13, 19, 22, 23</sup>
  - Pressure injuries.
  - Falls.
  - Skin tears.
  - Incontinence-associated skin damage.
  - Skin and hair infestations.
  - Infection.
  - Skin cancer.
  - Self-harm.

# 3.2. Conducts a regular, comprehensive skin inspection.

- 3.2.1. Conducts a comprehensive skin and tissue assessment, that may include:<sup>7, 13, 19, 24-26</sup>
  - Presence and characteristics of lesions.
  - Colour (e.g. Fitzpatrick Skin Type).
  - Appearance and texture.

- Moisture and oedema.
- Temperature.
- Perfusion and vascular assessment.
- Sensation.
- Skin care/hygiene practices.
- 3.3. Conducts a lower limb assessment to identify skin, vascular, lymphatic, neuropathic and other deficits, if appropriate.

- 3.3.1. Undertakes or refers for a lower limb assessment, that may include:<sup>1, 3, 6, 8, 9, 19, 25, 27-371, 3, 11, 19, 27, 29, 30, 32, 40, 4</sup>
  - Clinical history.
  - Limb temperature.
  - Skin colour changes.
  - Palpation of pulses.
  - Leg and foot size and shape.
  - Signs of venous insufficiency (e.g. oedema, hyperpigmentation, varicose eczema, atrophie blanche, lipomatodermatosis).
  - Signs and symptoms of peripheral arterial insufficiency (e.g. claudication, pallor, coolness, loss of hair, neuropathy or weakness).<sup>38</sup>
  - Signs of lymphatic insufficiency (e.g. pitting/non-pitting oedema, positive Stemmer sign).
  - Mobility and ankle movement.
  - Ankle brachial pressure index (ABPI) using handheld Doppler and/ or toe brachial pressure index (TBPI) or resting systolic toe pressure to evaluate arterial insufficiency.<sup>37, 39, 40</sup>
  - Photoplethysmography to determine venous refill time.
  - Transcutaneous oxygen pressure to evaluate local tissue perfusion.<sup>37</sup>
  - Referral for appropriate diagnostic investigations.
  - Palpation of the foot to assess for bounding foot pulses and increased skin temperature indicative of autonomic neuropathy.<sup>39, 40</sup>
  - Observation for callus, wounds, xerosis, foot deformity and joint mobility.
  - Assessing for peripheral sensory neuropathy using a 10g or 5.07 Semmes-Weinstein monofilament to evaluate sensation or a 128 Hz tuning fork or biothesiometer to assess vibration perception.
  - Assessing for peripheral motor neuropathy using a patella hammer to evaluate patella and Achilles' reflexes and muscle weakness.
  - Referral for appropriate diagnostic investigations.

#### 3.4. Conducts and documents comprehensive and regular wound assessment.

- 3.4.1. Undertakes and documents regular wound assessments that include:<sup>1, 8, 10, 11, 13, 17, 19, 25, 29, 32, 41-43</sup>
  - Type of wound (e.g. leg ulcer, pressure injury).
  - Aetiology (e.g. venous insufficiency) and original mechanism of wounding (e.g. trauma).
  - Duration of a wound.
  - Anatomical location.
  - Phase of wound healing (e.g. haemostasis, inflammation, reconstruction, maturation/remodelling).<sup>15, 44</sup>
  - Measurement of wound dimensions:<sup>8, 13, 15, 19, 32</sup>
    - Length, width and depth (e.g. measured at the longest, widest and deepest parts of the wound perpendicular to one another using a ruler, or planimetry device or relevant technologies).
    - Wound area (e.g. measured by wound circumference tracing and planimetry or relevant technologies).
    - Wound volume (e.g. measured using sterile fluid or filler inserted into the wound, or relevant technologies).
  - Probing to determine any undermined edges, or sinus tracking or underlying structures (e.g. bone).
  - Clinical characteristics of the wound bed (e.g. non-granulation, granulation, hypergranulation epithelialisation, slough, necrosis/ eschar, exposed bone or tendon, foreign body, unable to be visualised).
  - Wound edge colour and characteristics (e.g. level, raised, rolled, undermined).
  - Periwound and surrounding skin characteristics (e.g. colour, temperature, discolouration, erythema, oedema, induration, maceration, desiccation, dermatitis/eczema, callus, hyperkeratosis,).<sup>13</sup>
  - Exudate characteristics:<sup>10, 45, 46</sup>
    - Type and colour (e.g. serous, haemoserous/serosanguineous, sanguineous, seropurulent, purulent).
    - Viscosity (e.g. thick, thin).
    - Amount.
    - Malodour.
  - Clinical signs and symptoms of inflammation or infection.<sup>1, 3, 20, 27, 29, 47-49</sup>
  - Extent of infection (e.g. local infection, spreading infection, systemic infection).<sup>49</sup>
- 3.4.2. Uses a validated tool for classifying wound types, where such a tool exists (e.g. pressure injuries, burns, skin tears, venous leg ulcers, diabetic foot ulcers).<sup>1, 8, 9, 12, 19, 29, 42, 43, 50-52</sup>
### 3.5. Conducts a comprehensive and regular assessment of the individual's woundrelated pain.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 3.5.1. Conducts and documents initial and ongoing assessments of wound pain, which consider both verbal and non-verbal cues and include assessment of:<sup>1, 6, 8, 17, 19, 22, 27, 29</sup>
  - Aetiology of pain (e.g. procedural versus non-procedural).
  - Characteristics of pain, using a valid and reliable pain assessment tool and including:
    - Location, including any radiating or referred pain.
    - Character of the wound-related pain (e.g. burning, itching, stabbing, shooting).
    - Intensity of the wound-related pain.
    - Duration of wound-related pain.
  - Factors that contribute to wound-related pain (e.g. repositioning).
  - Factors that relieve wound-related pain (e.g. warmth, quiet, positioning).
  - Impact of pain on quality of life and well-being.

# 3.6. Uses valid, reliable and appropriate tools and/or frameworks when undertaking wound-related assessments.

- 3.6.1. Selects a valid and reliable tool and/or framework appropriate to the individual for undertaking assessments (when available), for example:<sup>1, 2, 6, 8-11, 16, 19, 22, 23, 25-27, 53-58</sup>
  - Pressure injury screening and risk assessment tools (e.g. Braden Scale, Norton Scale, Waterlow Score, Braden-Q Scale, Glamorgan Scale).
  - Wound assessment tools/frameworks (e.g. Pressure Ulcer Scale for Healing [PUSH]©, Bates-Jensen Wound Assessment Tool© [BWAT], Photographic Wound Assessment Tool© [PWAT], Tissue-Infection-Moisture-Edges [TIME], Rule of Nines, Artz's criteria, SINBAD wound classification system).
  - Nutrition screening and assessment tools (e.g. Nutrition Risk Screening [NRS] 2002, Short Nutrition Assessment Questionnaire [SNAQ] Mini Nutritional Assessment® [MNA], Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool [MUST]).
  - Cognitive screening tools (e.g. Mini Mental State Examination© [MMSE], Standardised MMSE [SMMSE], Modified Mini Mental State Examination [3MS], Cognitive Abilities Screening Instrument, Rowland Universal Dementia Assessment Scale [RUDAS]).
  - Psychological screening tools (e.g. Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, Beck Depression Inventory©, Hamilton Rating Scale for Anxiety [HAM-A], Geriatric Depression Scale).

- Wellbeing and quality of life (QOL) assessment tools (e.g. Short Form 36<sup>™</sup>, World Health Organisation Quality of Life, Cardiff Wound Impact Schedule, VEINES-QOL, Chronic Venous Insufficiency QOL Questionnaire, Wound-QoL).
- Pain assessment tools (e.g. Numerical Rating Scale, Visual Analogue Scale, Wong-Baker FACES® pain rating scale, Verbal Rating Scale).
- 3.6.2. Uses a consistent assessment method to undertake repeat assessments to enable outcome monitoring over time.<sup>6, 19, 22</sup>

#### 3.7. Uses diagnostic investigations to support wound assessment.

- 3.7.1. Refers for diagnostic investigations when indicated (e.g. to attain a definitive diagnosis or to identify reasons for delayed wound healing) and documents the outcomes. These may include:
  - Biochemical investigations, for example:<sup>1, 11, 19</sup>
    - Full blood count.
    - Blood glucose and HbA1c.
    - Haemoglobin.
    - Clotting factors.
    - Lipids.
    - Urea and electrolytes.
    - Rheumatoid factor.
    - Auto antibodies.
    - White cell count.
    - Inflammatory markers (e.g. C-reactive protein and erythrocyte sedimentation rate).
    - Vitamins/minerals and trace elements.
    - Liver function tests, including plasma albumin.
  - Microbiology investigations, for example: 1, 6, 19, 47-49
    - $^\circ$  Wound swab for semi-quantitative and quantitative organisms.
    - Needle aspiration for quantitative organisms.49
    - Wound/bone biopsy for quantitative organisms.<sup>20, 49</sup>
    - Blood cultures to evaluate systemic infection.<sup>11, 49</sup>
    - Skin scrapings/nail clippings for culture and microscopy.49
  - Histopathology investigations (e.g. wound biopsy to identify pathological changes).<sup>1, 11, 32, 52</sup>
  - Diagnostic imaging and infection investigations, for example: 1, 11, 19, 34,  $_{\rm 35,\,47}$ 
    - Doppler or colour duplex ultrasound to evaluate venous and arterial disease.

- Photoplethysmography to evaluate venous disease.
- Angiography to evaluate arterial disease.
- Laser Doppler flowmetry or video microscopy to evaluate burn depths.<sup>55</sup>
- Plain x-ray (e.g. fracture, gas gangrene and osteomyelitis).
- Magnetic resonance imaging or positron emission tomography (e.g. osteomyelitis).<sup>61</sup>
- Bone scan (e.g. osteomyelitis if magnetic resonance imaging is contraindicated).
- Computed tomography (e.g. soft tissue infection).
- Sinogram and fistulogram to identify wound tracking.

# 3.8. Identifies factors in the environment that could impact on the risk of sustaining a wound, wound healing and/or care delivery.

Evidence Criteria

- 3.8.1. Undertakes/refers for assessment of environmental conditions and safety (e.g. hazards, temperature, humidity).<sup>13</sup>
- 3.8.2. Undertakes/refers for assessment of risk for wound contamination/ infection or cross-infection.
- 3.8.3. Undertakes/refers for assessment of individual's lifestyle factors that may impact on risk of sustaining a wound and/or wound healing.<sup>13</sup>
- 3.8.4. Establishes privacy and security of the environment.

# 3.9. Establishes goals of care with the individual, their family/carers and the collaborative care team.

Evidence Criteria

- 3.9.1 Works with the individual, their family/carers and the collaborative care team when establishing relevant goals of care (e.g. healing, reduction in wound size, pain reduction, etc.).<sup>6,8,19,25</sup>
- 3.9.2 Documents goals that are relevant to wound management.<sup>6, 8, 19, 43</sup>
- 3.9.3 Addresses optimisation of healing and the individual's capacity to heal when establishing goals of care.<sup>8, 17, 19, 42</sup>
- 3.9.4 Addresses conservative/palliative wound management if appropriate when establishing goals of care.<sup>19, 62, 63</sup>

# 3.10 Monitors and documents wound status, wound healing progress and effectiveness of the wound management plan.

- 3.10.1. Regularly screens for new wounds.<sup>6</sup>
- 3.10.2 Monitors wound healing outcomes (e.g. complete healing, wound deterioration, percent of healing over time).<sup>6, 19, 22, 27, 42</sup>
- 3.10.3 Monitors person-related outcomes (e.g. pain, quality of life, activities of daily living etc.).<sup>22, 27</sup>

3.10.4 Reviews and revises the wound management plan consistent with the changing status of the individual and their wound.<sup>19, 22, 27, 42</sup>

## Criteria for wound service providers

To meet the criteria for the Wound Assessment Standard, the wound service provider:

# 3.11. Promotes a clinical governance framework that is consistent with individuals receiving a comprehensive clinical assessment.

### Evidence Criteria

- 3.11.1. Develops and regularly reviews policies and procedures to guide wound-related screening and assessments.<sup>3, 19</sup>
- 3.11.2. Provides access to wound assessment tools, documentation systems, equipment and technology that is maintained according to manufacturers' directions.<sup>8, 19, 33</sup>
- 3.11.3. Identifies and supports wound practitioners who are responsible for conducting wound-related screening and assessments.<sup>3, 19, 33</sup>
- 3.11.4. Establishes and maintains clinical governance frameworks that promote access to screening, assessment and diagnostic investigations performed by appropriately qualified members of the collaborative care team.<sup>3, 64</sup>

## **Related resources**

Australian Wound Management Association and New Zealand Wound Care Society. (2012). Australia and New Zealand Clinical Practice Guideline for Prevention and Management of Venous Leg Ulcers. Cambridge Media: Osborne Park, WA	EBG
Commons RJ, Charles J, Cheney J, Lynar SA. Malone M and Raby E. (2021). Australian Guideline on Management of Diabetes-related Foot Infection: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease, Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane.	EBG
European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel and Pan Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. (2019). Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers/Injuries: Clinical Practice Guideline, Haesler E. (ed). EPUAP/ NPIAP/PPPIA.	EBG
Hamilton EJ, Scheepers J, Ryan H, Perrin BM, Charles J, Cheney J, et al. Australian guideline on wound classification of diabetes-related foot ulcers: Part of the 2021 Australian evidence-based guidelines for diabetes- related foot disease; version 1.0. Brisbane, Australia: Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society; 2021. https://www.diabetesfeetaustralia.org/ new-guidelines/.	EBG
International Wound Infection Institute. (2022). Wound infection in clinical practice. Wounds International: London.	С
LeBlanc K, Beeckman D, Campbell K, Hevia Campos H, Dunk AM, Gloeckner M, Holloway S, Idensohn P, Ousey K, Lucia Conceição de Gouveia Santos V, Smet S, Tariq G, and Woo K. (2021). Best Practice Recommendations for Prevention and Management of Periwound Skin Complications. Wounds International.	С

Lipsky B, Senneville E, Abbas Z, Aragón-Sánchez J, Diggle M, Embil JM, Kono S, Lavery LA, Malone M, van Asten SA, Urbančič-Rovan V, Peters EJG on behalf of the International Working Group on the Diabetic Foot (IWGDF). Guidelines on the diagnosis and treatment of foot infection in persons with diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metabolism Research and Reviews, 2020; 36(S1): (e3280).	EBG
Neumann H, Cornu-Thénard A, Jünger M, Mosti G, Munte K, Partsch H, Rabe E, Ramelet A and Streit M. Evidence-based (S3) guidelines for diagnostics and treatment of venous leg ulcers. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol,2016; 30(11): p. 1843-1875.	EBG
World Union of Wound Healing Societies. (2016). Florence Congress, Position Document. Local Management in Diabetic Foot Ulcer. Wounds International: London.	Р
World Union of Wound Healing Societies. (2019). Consensus Document. Wound Exudate: Effective Assessment and Management. Wounds International: London.	С
Wounds UK. (2018). Best Practice Statement: Improving Holistic Assessment of Chronic Wounds. Wounds UK: London.	С
Wounds UK. (2019). Best Practice Statement: Ankle Brachial Pressure Index (ABPI) in Practice. Wounds UK: London.	С

## **Background and Context**

A comprehensive and holistic assessment of the individual, their wound and the wound healing environment is an integral component of wound prevention and management. Assessment and diagnosis underpin decision-making, care planning and ongoing evaluation.

### Assessing the individual, the wound and the healing environment

A comprehensive assessment of the individual acknowledges the contribution of a large range of intrinsic factors that influence both the risk of developing a wound and the ability of the individual to heal. Intrinsic factors include comorbidities, nutrition status, vascular status and infection, which influence skin and tissue health and reparative processes. They require appropriate investigation to inform the development of a wound prevention and/or management plan that will address underlying intrinsic factors that influence the risk of sustaining a wound and/or ability to heal.<sup>1-11</sup>

It is widely acknowledged that in addition to the physical factors that influence the healing, the cognitive and psychosocial status of the individual are important contributory factors to healing, wellbeing and quality of life for those who live with, or are at risk of, a wound. Ascertaining the health literacy level, communication skills and cognitive ability of the individual is crucial in engaging the individual in both the assessment process, care decisions and management. Assessment of multidimensional factors, including the individual's social support and engagement, psychological health and quality of life provides context to that person's resources, abilities to engage in potential interventions and additional assistance they may require to prevent or manage wounds.<sup>1, 8, 9, 21</sup>

Initial and ongoing wound assessment is critical to promotion of healing. Certain characteristics of the wound can provide key indicators to the collaborative care team as to the wound's changing status and the success or otherwise of a management plan. Accurate and well-documented assessment allows wound practitioners to identify early, covert signs of infection (e.g. hypergranulation, friable granulating tissue, wound breakdown or epithelial bridging)<sup>3, 19, 20, 27, 47, 49</sup> and act accordingly. Regular documentation of the wound's dimension, appearance and characteristics allows monitoring of the wound healing progress, which can provide an indication of effectiveness of treatment or suggest potential complications that are hindering normal wound healing (e.g. biofilm).

Assessment of the care environment is crucial and influences prevention and management strategies. Attention to the risk of infection from the environment (e.g. from air borne contaminants, unclean surfaces or equipment, ventilation or water sources) is most critical when the wound is exposed. Environmental factors can influence the engagement of individuals in prevention and management practices; for example, in a warm or humid environment, compression stockings or bulky wound dressings may impact on the individual's comfort.<sup>1</sup> Assessment of the local environment in community settings may provide indicators to factors that could influence healing (e.g. non-hygienic conditions, access to equipment, storage and waste facilities, presence of pets).<sup>65-68</sup>

### Assessment and measurement tools

The way in which a health assessment is conducted can influence the reliability and relevance of the information that is collected. Best practice suggests that, where possible, wound practitioners use assessment tools that have been validated to guide a clinical assessment. Validity refers to the ability of an assessment tool or test to measure the factor that it purports to be assessing. Reliability of an assessment tool or test refers to the ability of the assessment strategy to produce the same result if it is administered repeatedly to the same individual.<sup>69, 70</sup>

Reliability and validity are important considerations because strong psychometric qualities of the assessment tool ensure the diagnoses arising from the assessment are based on accurate information. If the tools used to conduct an assessment have strong validity and reliability there can be greater certainty that the assessment is measuring the characteristics as purported, and that any changes in the assessment results are not random.<sup>69, 70</sup>

Selection of assessment tools should be individualised. Many assessment tools are developed for specific populations, and may not be valid and reliable for measuring the same criteria in a different population.<sup>69</sup> For example, a tool designed to measure severity of pain that has been developed for adults may not have strong psychometric qualities if it is used to measure pain in children or adults with cognitive impairment. Where possible, assessment strategies should be selected based on psychometric qualities, the individual's characteristics (e.g. age, cognitive status, health status and health literacy), the appropriateness of the items on the tool to that individual, the individual's and wound practitioner's preferences, resources available and local policies and procedures.

### Emerging and advanced wound assessment and measurement techniques

Advanced wound measurement technologies (e.g. digital photography, digital software planimetry, 3D wound mapping) are becoming ubiquitous in well-resourced areas.<sup>27</sup>

Contemporary wound assessment has been aided by techniques that allow for more detailed evaluation of skin and tissue characteristics.<sup>27</sup> Recent research has explored the use of physical markers (e.g. skin and tissue moisture, wound and tissue temperature, and pressure), biochemical markers (e.g. pH and odour) and molecular markers (e.g. proteases, DNA of micro-organisms, RNA, genes and their function).<sup>8, 32, 71-75</sup> A range of digital technologies are becoming increasingly available to facilitate advanced wound assessment (see Standard 8). It is important that the collaborative care team selects technology that is scientifically demonstrated to provide valid and reliable assessment, and that wound practitioners receive education in training to ensure advanced wound evaluation strategies are implemented accurately.

### Goals of care

Developing goals of care collaboratively with the individual and their family/carers is intrinsic to successful wound prevention and management. Goals of care should be specific, measurable, attainable, relevant and time bound. They should consider the individual's specific circumstances and the resources available. Goals that are measurable and time bound can be tracked and reviewed to determine the efficacy of interventions.<sup>8, 76</sup>

In individuals for whom the ability to heal is significantly compromised (e.g. palliative care, inadequately perfused wounds, distal gangrene, cachexia, advanced dementia), conservative wound management is an option.<sup>8, 18, 62, 77</sup> Management of symptoms that concern the individual (e.g. pain and odour) and prevention of further skin breakdown are appropriate interventions for maintenance of non-healing wounds.<sup>8</sup> Aggressive sharp debridement may not be appropriate in palliative care or for wounds without the ability to heal.<sup>62</sup>

## References

- Australian Wound Management Association (AWMA) and New Zealand Wound Care Society (NZWCS). 2012. Australia and New Zealand Clinical Practice Guideline for Prevention and Management of Venous Leg Ulcers. Cambridge Media: Osborne Park, WA.
- 2. Swindon, Wiltshire Bath and North East Somerset Wound Group. Identification, diagnosis and treatment of wound infection. Nursing Standard, 2011; 26(11): 44-8.
- 3. National Association of Diabetes Centres and The Australian Diabetes Society. 2019. Interdisciplinary Diabetes High Risk Foot Services (HRFS) Standards. NADC: Sydney, NSW.
- 4. Australian Nursing Federation. 2013. Telehealth Standards: Registered Nurses. Australian Nursing Federation: Australia.
- 5. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2016. Registered Nurses Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 6. Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario. 2016. Assessment and Management of Pressure Injuries for the Interprofessional Team (third edition). Toronto, ON: Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario.
- 7. Wounds UK. 2018. Best Practice Statement Maintaining Skin Integrity. Wounds UK: London.
- 8. Wounds UK. 2018. Best Practice Statement: Improving Holistic Assessment of Chronic Wounds. Wounds UK: London.
- 9. Wounds UK. 2016. Best Practice Statement: Holistic Management of Venous Leg Ulceration. Wounds UK: London.

- 10. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2019. Consensus Document. Wound Exudate: Effective Assessment and Management Wounds International: London.
- 11. SA Health South Australia Government. 2019. Clinical Guideline No: CG304: Diabetic Foot Infections: Antibiotic Management Clinical Guideline. SA Health: https://www.sahealth. sa.gov.au/wps/wcm/connect/public+content/sa+health+internet/resources/policies/ diabetic+foot+infections+antibiotic+management+clinical+guideline.
- 12. Fletcher J, Beeckman D, Boyles A, Fumarola S, Kottner J, LcNichol L, Moore Z, Sarkar N, and Voegeli D. 2020. International best practice recommendations: Prevention and management of moisture-associated skin damage (MASD). Wounds International.
- LeBlanc K, Beeckman D, Campbell K, Hevia Campos H, Dunk AM, Gloeckner M, Holloway S, Idensohn P, Ousey K, Lucia Conceição de Gouveia Santos V, Smet S, Tariq G, and Woo K. 2021. Best practice recommendations for prevention and management of periwound skin complications. Wounds International.
- 14. Romanelli M, Serena T, Kimble R, Han S-K, Kim JT, Cruz J, Zin C, Chong SJ, and Al Assar S. 2019. Skin graft donor site management in the treatment of burns and hard-to-heal wounds. Wounds International.
- 15. van Rijswijk L. Measuring Wounds to Improve Outcomes. American Journal of Nursing, 2013; 113(8): 60-1.
- 16. Stotts NA, Rodeheaver GT, Thomas DR, Frantz R, Bartolucci AA, Sussman C, GFerrell B, Cuddigan J, Maklebust J, and PUSH Task Force. An instrument to measure healing in pressure ulcers: development and validation of the Pressure Ulcer Scale for Healing (PUSH). J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2001; 56A(12): M795-99.
- Pope E, Lara-Corrales I, Mellerio J, Martinez A, Schultz G, Burrell R, Goodman L, Coutts P, Wagner J, Allen U, and Sibbald G. A consensus approach to wound care in epidermolysis bullosa. J Am Acad Dermatol, 2012; 67(5): 904-17.
- 18. Okan D, Woo KA, Ayello E, and Sibbald G. The role of moisture balance in wound healing. Adv Skin Wound Care, 2007; 20(1): 39-55.
- 19. European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel, and Pan-Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. 2019. Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers/Injuries: Clinical Practice Guideline. E. (ed). EPUAP/NPIAP/PPPIA.
- 20. Gould L, Stuntz M, Giovannelli M, Ahmad A, Aslam R, Mullen-Fortino M, Whitney JD, Calhoun J, Kirsner RS, and Gordillo GM. Wound Healing Society 2015 update on guidelines for pressure ulcers. Wound Repair Regen, 2016; 24(1): 145-62.
- 21. Langemo DK. Psychosocial aspects in wound care. Quality of life and pressure ulcers: what is the impact? Wounds, 2005; 17(1): 3-7.
- 22. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards, Comprehensive Care Standard: Minimising Patient Harm. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/comprehensive-care-standard/minimising-patient-harm
- 23. Wounds UK. 2020. Best Practice Statement: Post-Operative Wound Care Reducing the Risk of Surgical Site Infection. Wounds UK: London.
- 24. Beeckman D, Campbell KE, LeBlanc K, Campbell J, Dunk AM, Harley C, Holloway S, Langemo D, Romanelli M, Tariq G, and Vuagnat H. Best practice recommendations for holistic strategies to promote and maintain skin integrity. Wounds International, 2020.
- 25. Wounds UK. 2019. Best Practice Statement: Addressing Complexities in the Management of Venous leg Ulcers. Wounds UK: London.
- 26. Fujiwara H, Isogai Z, Irisawa R, Otsuka M, Kadono T, Koga M, Hirosaki K, Asai J, Asano Y, Abe M, Amano M, Ikegami R, Ishii T, Isei T, Ito T, Inoue Y, Iwata Y, Omoto Y, Kato H, Kaneko S, Kanoh H, Kawakami T, Kawaguchi M, Kukino R, Kono T, Kodera M, Sakai K, Sakurai E,

Sarayama Y, Shintani Y, Tanioka M, Tanizaki H, Tsujita J, Doi N, Nakanishi T, Hashimoto A, Hasegawa M, Hayashi M, Fujita H, Fujimoto M, Maekawa T, Matsuo K, Madokoro N, Motegi SI, Yatsushiro H, Yamasaki O, Yoshino Y, Pavoux AL, Tachibana T, and Ihn H. Wound, pressure ulcer and burn guidelines - 2: Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of pressure ulcers, second edition. J Dermatol, 2020; 47(9): 929-78.

- 27. Mani R, Margolis DJ, Shukla V, Akita S, Lazarides M, Piaggesi A, Falanga V, Teot L, Xie T, Bing FX, Romanelli M, Attinger C, Han CM, Lu S, Meaume S, Xu Z, and Viswanathan V. Optimizing technology use for chronic lower-extremity wound healing: A consensus document. Int J Low Extrem Wounds, 2016: 1-18.
- 28. British Lymphology Society. Position paper for ankle brachial pressure index (ABPI): Informing decision making prior to the application of compression therapy. 2018. BLS.
- 29. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2016. Florence Congress, Position Document. Local Management in Diabetic Foot Ulcers Wounds International: London.
- 30. Schaper NC, van Netten JJ, Apelqvist J, Bus SA, Hinchcliffe RJ, Lipsky BA, and Board IE. Practical Guidelines on the prevention and management of diabetic foot disease (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36(S1): e3266.
- 31. American Diabetes Association. 11. Microvascular complications and foot care: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2021. Diabetes Care, 2021; 44(Supplement 1): S151-S67.
- 32. Lozano-Platonoff A, Mejia-Mendoza MDF, Ibanez-Doria M, and Contreras-Ruiz J. Assessment: Cornerstone in Wound Management. J Am Coll Surg, 2015; 221(2): 611-20.
- 33. Wounds UK. 2019. Best Practice Statement: Ankle Brachial Pressure Index (ABPI) in Practice. Wounds UK: London.
- 34. Lavery LA, Davis KE, Berriman SJ, Braun L, Nichols A, Kim PJ, Margolis D, Peters EJ, and Attinger C. WHS guidelines update: Diabetic foot ulcer treatment guidelines. Wound Repair Regen, 2016; 24(1): 112-26.
- 35. Marston W, Tang J, Kirsner RS, and Ennis W. Wound Healing Society 2015 update on guidelines for venous ulcers. Wound Repair Regen, 2016; 24(1): 136-44.
- 36. Rivolo M, Dionisi S, Olivari D, Ciprandi G, Crucianelli S, Marcadelli S, Zortea RR, Bellini F, Martinato M, Gabrielli A, and Pomponio G. Heel pressure injuries: Consensus-based recommendations for assessment and management. Adv Wound Care, 2020; 9(6): 332-47.
- 37. Federman DG, Ladiiznski B, Dardik A, Kelly M, Shapshak D, Ueno CM, Mostow EN, Richmond NA, and Hopf HW. Wound Healing Society 2014 update on guidelines for arterial ulcers. Wound Repair Regen, 2016; 24(1): 127-35.
- 38. Aboyans V, Ricco J-B, Bartelink M-LEL, Björck M, Brodmann M, Cohnert T, Collet J-P, Czerny M, De Carlo M, Debus S, Espinola-Klein C, Kahan T, Kownator S, Mazzolai L, Naylor AR, Roffi M, Röther J, Sprynger M, Tendera M, Tepe G, Venermo M, Vlachopoulos C, Desormais I, and Group ESD. 2017 ESC Guidelines on the Diagnosis and Treatment of Peripheral Arterial Diseases, in collaboration with the European Society for Vascular Surgery: Document covering atherosclerotic disease of extracranial carotid and vertebral, mesenteric, renal, upper and lower extremity arteries. Endorsed by: the European Stroke Organization (ESO), The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Peripheral Arterial Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and of the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS). European Heart Journal, 2017; 39(9): 763-816.
- 39. Hinchliffe RJ, Forsythe RO, Apelqvist J, Boyko EJ, Fitridge R, Hong JP, Katsanos K, Mills JL, Nikol S, Reekers J, Venermo M, Zierler RE, and Schaper NC. Guidelines on diagnosis, prognosis, and management of peripheral artery disease in patients with foot ulcers and diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36 (S1) (no pagination)(e3276).

- 40. Chuter V, Quigley F, Tosenovsky P, Ritter JC, Charles J, Cheney J, and Fitridge R. 2021. Australian Guideline on Diagnosis and Management of Peripheral Artery Disease: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease, Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.
- 41. Ahn C and Salcido RS. Advances in wound photography and assessment methods. Adv Skin Wound Care, 2008; 21(2): 85-95.
- 42. Denyer J, Pillay E, and Clapham J. 2017. Best Practice Guidelines for Skin and Wound Care in Epidermolysis Bullosa. An International Consensus. Wounds International: London.
- 43. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2016. Florence Congress, Position Document. Advances in Wound Care: the Triangle of Wound Assessment. Wounds International.
- 44. Benbow M. Wound care: ensuring a holistic and collaborative assessment. Br J Community Nurs, 2011: S6-16
- 45. Kerr A. How best to record and describe wound exudate. Wounds UK, 2014; 10(2): 50-7.
- 46. Independent Hospital Pricing Authority. ICD-10-AM/ACHI/ACS Eleventh Edition. 2019. Australia Lane Print.
- 47. Lipsky BA, Senneville E, Abbas ZG, Aragon-Sanchez J, Diggle M, Embil JM, Kono S, Lavery LA, Malone M, van Asten SA, Urbancic-Rovan V, and Peters EJG. Guidelines on the diagnosis and treatment of foot infection in persons with diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36(S1): e3280.
- 48. Commons RJ, Charles J, Cheney J, Lynar SA, Malone M, and Raby E. 2021. Australian Guideline on Management of Diabetes-related Foot Infection: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease, Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.
- 49. International Wound Infection Institute (IWII). 2022. Wound Infection in Clinical Practice. Wounds International.
- 50. Monteiro-Soares M, Russell D, Boyko EJ, Jeffcoate W, Mills JL, Morbach S, and Game F. Guidelines on the classification of diabetic foot ulcers (IWGDF 2019). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36 (S1) (no pagination) (e3273).
- 51. Carville K, Lewin G, Newall N, Haslehurst P, Michael R, Santamaria N, and Roberts P. STAR: A consensus for skin tear classification. Primary Intention 2007; 15(1): 18-28.
- 52. Neumann H, Cornu-Thenard M, Junger M, Mosti G, Munte K, Partsch H, Rabe E, Ramelet AA, and Strei M. Evidence-based (S3) guidelines for diagnostics and treatment of venous leg ulcers. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol, 2016; 30(11): 1843-75.
- 53. Schultz-Larsen K, Lomholt RK, and Kreiner S. Mini-mental status examination: a short form of MMSE was as accurate as the original MMSE in predicting dementia. J Clin Epidemiol, 2007; 60: 260-7.
- 54. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2018. Consensus Document. Surgical Wound Dehiscence: Improving Prevention and Outcomes. Wounds International: London.
- 55. Yoshino Y, Hashimoto A, Ikegami R, Irisawa R, Kanoh H, Sakurai E, Nakanishi T, Maekawa T, Tachibana T, Amano M, Hayashi M, Ishii T, Iwata Y, Kawakami T, Sarayama Y, Hasegawa M, Matsuo K, Ihn H, Omoto Y, Madokoro N, Isei T, Otsuka M, Kukino R, Shintani Y, Hirosaki K, Motegi S, Kawaguchi M, Asai J, Isogai Z, Kato H, Kono T, Tanioka M, Fujita H, Yatsushiro H, Sakai K, Asano Y, Ito T, Kadono T, Koga M, Tanizaki H, Fujimoto M, Yamasaki O, Doi N, Abe M, Inoue Y, Kaneko S, Kodera M, Tsujita J, Fujiwara H, and Le Pavoux A. Wound, pressure ulcer and burn guidelines 6: Guidelines for the management of burns, second edition. J Dermatol, 2020; 47(11): 1207-35.
- 56. Hasegawa M, Inoue Y, Kaneko S, Kanoh H, Shintani Y, Tsujita J, Fujita H, Motegi SI, Le Pavoux A, Asai J, Asano Y, Abe M, Amano M, Ikegami R, Ishii T, Isei T, Isogai Z, Ito T, Irisawa R, Iwata Y, Otsuka M, Omoto Y, Kato H, Kadono T, Kawakami T, Kawaguchi M, Kukino R, Kono T,

Koga M, Kodera M, Sakai K, Sakurai E, Sarayama Y, Tanioka M, Tanizaki H, Doi N, Nakanishi T, Hashimoto A, Hayashi M, Hirosaki K, Fujimoto M, Fujiwara H, Maekawa T, Matsuo K, Madokoro N, Yatsushiro H, Yamasaki O, Yoshino Y, Tachibana T, and Ihn H. Wound, pressure ulcer and burn guidelines - 1: Guidelines for wounds in general, second edition. J Dermatol, 2020; 47(8): 807-33.

- 57. Cullen B, O'Neill B, Evans JJ, Coen RF, and Lawlor BA. A review of screening tests for cognitive impairment. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry Res, 2007 78(8): 790-9.
- 58. Hamilton EJ, Scheepers J, Ryan H, Perrin B, Charles J, Cheney J, and Twigg SM. 2021. Australian Guideline on Wound Classification of Diabetes-related Foot Ulcers: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease, Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.
- 59. Gardner S, Frantz R, Saltzman MD, Hillis S, Park H, and Scherubel M. Diagnostic validity of three swab techniques for identifying chronic wound infection. Wound Repair Regen, 2006; 14: 548-57.
- 60. Angel DE, Lloyd P, Carville K, and Santamaria N. The clinical efficacy of two semiquantitative wound-swabbing techniques in identifying the causative organism(s) in infected cutaneous wounds. Int Wound J, 2011; 8(2): 176-85.
- 61. Llewellyn A, Kraft J, Holton C, Harden M, and Simmonds M. Imaging for detection of osteomyelitis in people with diabetic foot ulcers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Radiol, 2020; 131 (no pagination)(109215).
- 62. Sibbald G, Elliot JA, Ayello EA, and Somayaji R. Optimizing the moisture management tightrope with wound bed preparation 2015 ©. Adv Skin Wound Care, 2015; 28(10): 466-76.
- 63. Nursing and Midwifery Council. 2018. Future nurse: Standards of proficiency for registered nurses. Nursing and Midwifery Council UK.
- 64. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Standards for general practices. 2020. 5th ed. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP.
- 65. Grossman S and Mager DD. Managing the threat of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in home care. Home Healthc Nurse, 2008; 26(6): 356-66.
- 66. Hart S. Using an aseptic technique to reduce the risk of infection. Nurs Stand, 2007; 21(47): 43-8.
- 67. Pegram A and Bloomfield J. Wound care: principles of aseptic technique. Mental Health Practice, 2010; 14(2): 14-8.
- 68. Swanson J and Jeanes A. Infection control in the community: a pragmatic approach. British Journal of Community Nursing, 2011; 16(6): 282-8.
- 69. DeVon HA, Block ME, Moyle-Wright P, Ernst DM, Hayden SJ, Lazzara DJ, Savoy SM, and Kostas-Polston E. A psychometric toolbox for testing validity and reliability. J Nurs Scholarsh, 2007; 39(2): 155-64.
- 70. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2020. Strategies to Reduce Practice Variation in Wound Assessment and Management: The T.I.M.E. Clinical Decision Support Tool. Wounds International: London.
- 71. Serena TE, Cullen BM, Bayliff SW, Gibson MC, Carter MJ, Chen L, Yaakov RA, Samies J, Sabo M, Demarco D, Le N, and Galbraith J. Defining a new diagnostic assessment parameter for wound care: Elevated protease activity, an indicator of nonhealing, for targeted protease-modulating treatment. Wound Repair Regen, 2016; 24(3): 589-95.
- 72. Dargaville TR, Farrugia BL, Broadbent JA, Pace S, Upton Z, and Voelcker NH. Sensors and imaging for wound healing: A review. Biosens Bioelectron, 2013; 41: 30-42.
- 73. Mohd SJ, Yussof EO, Pai DR, and Indian SS. Cellular events and biomarkers of wound healing. Journal of Plastic Surgery, 2012; 45(2): 220-8.

- 74. Patel S, Maheshwari A, and Chandra A. Biomarkers for wound healing and their evaluation. Journal of Wound Care, 2016; 25(1): 46-55.
- 75. Snyder R, Driver V, Fife C, Lantis J, Peirce B, Serena T, and Weir D. Using a diagnostic tool to identify elevated protease activity levels in chronic and stalled wounds: A consensus panel discussion. Ostomy Wound Manage, 2011; 57(12): 36-46.
- 76. Vyt A. Interprofessional and transdisciplinary teamwork in health care. Diabetes Metabolism Research and Review, 2008; 24(Supp 1): \$106-9.
- 77. Langemo DK, Haesler E, Naylor W, Tippett A, and Young T. Evidence-based guidelines for pressure ulcer management at the end of life. International Journal of Palliative Nursing, 2015; 21(5): 225-32.

## STANDARD 4: WOUND PREVENTION

Wound prevention is practised according to the best available evidence to achieve optimal outcomes for the individual and their skin integrity.

## Rationale

Prevention of wounds is an indicator of high quality clinical care. Wound prevention is performed at both the organisation level as a component of risk reduction and continuous quality improvement, and at the individual level in accordance with risks identified during screening and assessment.

## Criteria for wound practitioners

To meet the criteria for the Wound Prevention Standard, the wound practitioner:

4.1. Promotes skin integrity and hygiene to reduce the individual's vulnerability to sustaining a wound.

### Evidence Criteria

- 4.1.1. Implements a skin hygiene plan appropriate to the individual, with consideration to:<sup>1-8</sup>
  - Particular attention to skin folds and foot hygiene.
  - Avoidance of skin irritants.
  - Moisturiser to manage dry skin.
  - Use of pH appropriate skin cleanser.
- 4.1.2. Implements strategies to prevent moisture-associated skin damage (e.g. incontinence-associated dermatitis).<sup>3, 4, 9, 10</sup>
- 4.1.3. Avoids interventions associated with increased risk of sustaining a wound (e.g. massage/rubbing, inadequate repositioning and inappropriate manual handling techniques).<sup>3, 10</sup>
- 4.2. Optimises the individual's general physical health to reduce the risk of sustaining a wound.

### Evidence Criteria

- 4.2.1. Manages and optimises systemic factors and comorbidities that may increase the individual's risk of wounding.<sup>3, 7, 11-15</sup>
- 4.2.2. Promotes adequate nutrition and hydration of individuals.<sup>3-5, 8, 11, 16, 17</sup>
- 4.2.3. Promotes health seeking behaviours and cessation of smoking.<sup>11, 12, 18</sup>
- 4.2.4. Encourages individuals to engage in regular mobility, activity and exercise as tolerated.<sup>3, 7, 19, 20</sup>

# 4.3. Implements individualised strategies to prevent wounds based on clinical assessment and identified need.

### Evidence Criteria

4.3.1. Interprets the findings from a comprehensive assessment to inform, develop and document an individualised wound prevention plan.

- 4.3.2. Implements a wound prevention plan appropriate to the individual, that may include:<sup>2-8, 10, 12-17, 19, 21-28</sup>
  - Regular screening and/or risk assessment for:
    - Malnutrition.
    - Pressure injuries.
    - Burns.
    - Diabetic foot ulcers.
    - Leg ulcers.
    - Falls.
    - Skin cancer.
    - Moisture-associated skin damage.
    - Skin tears.
    - Self-harm.
  - Skin inspection on admission to or transfer from/within the wound service, with a change in clinical status and regularly during care delivery.
  - Strategies to prevent:
    - Pressure, friction and shear.
    - Device-related pressure injuries.
    - Falls and skin trauma.
    - Burns
    - Moisture-associated skin damage.
    - Malnutrition and dehydration.
  - Appropriate manual handling techniques.
  - Application of twice daily moisturiser to the extremities of elderly individuals.
  - Application of compression therapy.
  - Protective footwear and off-loading devices (if applicable).
  - Sun safe activities.
  - Referral for assessment of skin lesions.

# 4.4. Optimises the individual's cognitive and mental status, psychosocial health and knowledge to reduce the risk of sustaining a wound.

- 4.4.1. Undertakes or refers for screening for mental health, cognitive and social factors that could impact sustaining a wound.<sup>29</sup>
- 4.4.2. Facilitates access to specialist and support services if appropriate.<sup>3</sup>
- 4.4.3. Collaborates with the collaborative care team to reinforce preventive strategies addressing cognitive status and psychosocial health (including mental health conditions) that may hinder the individual's ability to implement optimal wound prevention.<sup>3</sup>

4.4.4. Provides the individual and their family/carers with relevant education about wound prevention strategies.<sup>3, 26, 27</sup>

## Criteria for wound service providers

To meet the criteria for the Wound Prevention Standard, the wound service provider:

4.5. Supports and facilitates the delivery of individualised, evidence-based wound prevention strategies.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 4.5.1. Maximises environmental safety to reduce the risk of accidentally sustaining a wound.<sup>19, 30, 31</sup>
- 4.5.2. Provides adequate human resources to undertake preventive care activities (e.g. appropriate staff-patient ratios and appropriate skills mix).
- 4.5.3. Provides systems that promote the implementation of individualised, evidence-based wound prevention strategies.<sup>3</sup>
- 4.5.4. Provides access to a range of products for maintaining optimal skin health.<sup>3</sup>
- 4.5.5. Provides access to medical equipment, products and devices used to prevent wounds.<sup>3, 32</sup>

# 4.6. Supports and drives the implementation of organisation level wound prevention programs.

#### Evidence Criteria

4.6.1. Facilitates interventions aimed at reducing incidence and prevalence of wounds across the wound service.<sup>3, 16</sup>

### **Related resources**

Australian Wound Management Association and New Zealand Wound Care Society. (2012). Australia and New Zealand Clinical Practice Guideline for Prevention and Management of Venous Leg Ulcers. Cambridge Media: Osborne Park, WA.	EBG
Beeckman D, Campbell K, LeBlanc K, Campbell J, Dunk AM, Harley C, Holloway S, Langemo D, Romanelli M, Tariq G, and Vuagnat H. (2020). Best practice Recommendations for Holistic Strategies to Promote and Maintain Skin Integrity. Wounds International: London.	С
European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel and Pan Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. (2019). Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers/Injuries: Clinical Practice Guideline, Haesler E. (ed). EPUAP/ NPIAP/PPPIA.	EBG
Kaminski MR, Golledge J, Lasschuit JWJ, Heinz-Schott K, Charles J, Cheney J and Raspovic A. (2021). Australian Guideline on Prevention of Foot Ulceration: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease. Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.	EBG
Romanelli M, Tariq G, and Vuagnat H. (2020). Best Practice Recommendations for Holistic Strategies to Promote and Maintain Skin Integrity. Wounds International: London.	С

Schaper NC, van Netten JJ, Apelqvist J, Bus SA, and on behalf of the International Working Group on the Diabetic Foot. (2019). IWGDF Guidelines on the Prevention and Management of Diabetic Foot Disease. IWGDF: www. iwgdfguidelines.org.	EBG
van Netten JJ, Lazzarini PA, Armstrong, D. G, Bus SA, Fitridge R, Harding K, Kinnear E, Malone M, Menz H. B, Perrin B. M, Postema K, Prentice J, Schott K. H, Wraight PR, Diabetic Foot Australia Guideline on Footwear for People with Diabetes. J Foot Ankle Res, 2018; 11: 2.	EBG
Wounds UK. (2018). Best Practice Statement Maintaining Skin Integrity. Wounds UK: London.	С
World Union of Wound Healing Societies. (2018). Consensus Document. Surgical Wound Dehiscence: Improving Prevention and Outcomes. Wounds International: London.	С

## **Background and Context**

### Minimising harm

Minimising harm to individuals is a fundamental component of the Australian National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards. Preventing avoidable wounds is an important component of preventing harm to the individual and therefore is a concept enshrined in national service accreditation standards.<sup>21</sup>

Harm minimisation is delivered at the individual and the organisation level. At the individual level, a proactive clinical approach that relies on assessment and identification of risk factors for wounds should be used by wound practitioners to inform the development of an individualised wound prevention plan. For some individuals, prevention of wounds focuses on disease and comorbidity management (e.g. chronic venous insufficiency and diabetic foot disease). The prevention of wounds requires intensive education and skills development of the individual and their family/carers to address systemic disease, as well as promoting skin health. Individuals at an increased risk of preventable wounds (e.g. pressure injuries, moisture associated skin damage or skin tears) require similar prevention education and strategies.<sup>5, 10</sup>

Wound prevention programs delivered at the organisation level seek to prevent harm to all individuals within the facility. Organisation-wide wound prevention programs focus primarily on preventable wounds such as pressure injuries and skin tears.<sup>3, 33, 34</sup> Organisation-level wound prevention programs require commitment and resources, and motivation for change at all levels. Surveying and analysing the factors within an organisation that are contributing to preventable wounds is the first step in designing a wound prevention program. Establishing a monitoring committee that regularly analyses, publishes and responds to wound incidence and prevalence results provides a driving force to maintain the program and inform organisation-specific interventions.<sup>3, 35</sup> Preventive initiatives that are supported by current evidence are generally multi-faceted and require engagement of team members with a range of skills and qualifications. Staff and consumer education, environmental surveillance, review of available equipment and resources and innovative use of technology are recommended components of wound prevention programs.<sup>3, 33, 34</sup>

## References

- Carville K, Leslie G, Osseiran-Moisson R, Newall N, and Lewin G. The effectiveness of a twice-daily skin-moisturising regimen for reducing the incidence of skin tears. International Wound Journal, 2014; 11(4): 446-53.
- 2. Kottner J, Lichterfeld A, and Blume-Peytavi U. Maintaining skin integrity in the aged: a systematic review. British Journal of Dermatology, 2013; 169(3): 528-42.
- 3. European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel, and Pan-Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. 2019. Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers/Injuries: Clinical Practice Guideline. Haesler E. (ed). EPUAP/NPIAP/PPPIA.
- 4. Nursing and Midwifery Council. 2018. Future nurse: Standards of proficiency for registered nurses. Nursing and Midwifery Council UK.
- 5. Wounds UK. 2018. Best Practice Statement Maintaining Skin Integrity. Wounds UK: London.
- 6. Schaper NC, van Netten JJ, Apelqvist J, Bus SA, Hinchcliffe RJ, Lipsky BA, and Board IE. Practical Guidelines on the prevention and management of diabetic foot disease (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36(S1): e3266.
- Araki E, Goto A, Kondo T, Noda M, Noto H, Origasa H, Osawa H, Taguchi A, Tanizawa Y, Tobe K, and Yoshioka N. Japanese Clinical Practice Guideline for Diabetes 2019. Diabetol Int, 2020; 11(3): 165-223.
- Fujiwara H, Isogai Z, Irisawa R, Otsuka M, Kadono T, Koga M, Hirosaki K, Asai J, Asano Y, Abe M, Amano M, Ikegami R, Ishii T, Isei T, Ito T, Inoue Y, Iwata Y, Omoto Y, Kato H, Kaneko S, Kanoh H, Kawakami T, Kawaguchi M, Kukino R, Kono T, Kodera M, Sakai K, Sakurai E, Sarayama Y, Shintani Y, Tanioka M, Tanizaki H, Tsujita J, Doi N, Nakanishi T, Hashimoto A, Hasegawa M, Hayashi M, Fujita H, Fujimoto M, Maekawa T, Matsuo K, Madokoro N, Motegi SI, Yatsushiro H, Yamasaki O, Yoshino Y, Pavoux AL, Tachibana T, and Ihn H. Wound, pressure ulcer and burn guidelines - 2: Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of pressure ulcers, second edition. J Dermatol, 2020; 47(9): 929-78.
- 9. Continence Nurses Society Australia. 2017. Practice Standards for Nurse Continence Specialists. Continence Nurses Society Australia: Melbourne.
- 10. Beeckman D, Campbell KE, LeBlanc K, Campbell J, Dunk AM, Harley C, Holloway S, Langemo D, Romanelli M, Tariq G, and Vuagnat H. 2020. Best practice recommendations for holistic strategies to promote and maintain skin integrity. Wounds International.
- 11. Sibbald RG, Goodman L, Woo KY, Krasner DL, Smart H, Tariq G, Ayello EA, Burrell RE, Keast DH, Mayer D, Norton L, and Salcido RS. Special considerations in wound bed preparation 2011: an update. World Council of Enterostomal Therapists Journal, 2012; 32(2): 10-30.
- 12. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2016. Florence Congress, Position Document. Local Management in Diabetic Foot Ulcers Wounds International: London.
- 13. Hinchliffe RJ, Forsythe RO, Apelqvist J, Boyko EJ, Fitridge R, Hong JP, Katsanos K, Mills JL, Nikol S, Reekers J, Venermo M, Zierler RE, and Schaper NC. Guidelines on diagnosis, prognosis, and management of peripheral artery disease in patients with foot ulcers and diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36 (S1) (no pagination)(e3276).
- 14. Hingorani A, LaMuraglia GM, Henke P, Meissner MH, Loretz L, Zinszer KM, Driver VR, Frykberg R, Carman TL, Marston W, Mills JL Sr, and Murad MH. The management of diabetic foot: A clinical practice guideline by the Society for Vascular Surgery in collaboration with the American Podiatric Medical Association and the Society for Vascular Medicine. J Vasc Surg, 2016; 63(2 Suppl): 3s-21s.
- 15. Chuter V, Quigley F, Tosenovsky P, Ritter JC, Charles J, Cheney J, and Fitridge R. 2021. Australian Guideline on Diagnosis and Management of Peripheral Artery Disease: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease, Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.

- World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2020. Strategies to Reduce Practice Variation in Wound Assessment and Management: The T.I.M.E. Clinical Decision Support Tool. Wounds International: London.
- 17. Gould L, Stuntz M, Giovannelli M, Ahmad A, Aslam R, Mullen-Fortino M, Whitney JD, Calhoun J, Kirsner RS, and Gordillo GM. Wound Healing Society 2015 update on guidelines for pressure ulcers. Wound Repair Regen, 2016; 24(1): 145-62.
- NSW Health. 2016. Quick guide to smoking cessation brief intervention Smoking Cessation 5As. NSW Ministry of Health: https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/tobacco/Factsheets/tool-2guide-5as.pdf.
- 19. Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario. 2016. Assessment and Management of Pressure Injuries for the Interprofessional Team (third edition). Toronto, ON: Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario.
- 20. Marston W, Tang J, Kirsner RS, and Ennis W. Wound Healing Society 2015 update on guidelines for venous ulcers. Wound Repair Regen, 2016; 24(1): 136-44.
- 21. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards, Comprehensive Care Standard: Minimising Patient Harm. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhsstandards/comprehensive-care-standard/minimising-patient-harm
- 22. Australian Wound Management Association (AWMA) and New Zealand Wound Care Society (NZWCS), Australia and New Zealand Clinical Practice Guideline for Prevention and Management of Venous Leg Ulcers. 2012, Cambridge Media: Osborne Park, WA.
- 23. Denyer J, Pillay E, and Clapham J. 2017. Best Practice Guidelines for Skin and Wound Care in Epidermolysis Bullosa. An International Consensus. Wounds International: London.
- 24. van Netten JJ, Lazzarini PA, Armstrong DG, Bus SA, Fitridge R, Harding K, Kinnear E, Malone M, Menz HB, Perrin BM, Postema K, Prentice J, Schott KH, and Wraight PR. Diabetic Foot Australia guideline on footwear for people with diabetes. J Foot Ankle Res, 2018; 11: 2.
- 25. Bus SA, Lavery LA, Monteiro-Soares M, Rasmussen A, Raspovic A, Sacco ICN, and van Netten JJ. Guidelines on the prevention of foot ulcers in persons with diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36 (S1) (no pagination) (e3269).
- 26. Fernando ME, Horsley M, Jones S, Martin B, Nube V, Charles J, Cheney J, and Lazzarini PA. 2021. Australian Guideline on Offloading Treatment for Foot Ulcers: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot disease, Version 1.0. . Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.
- 27. Kaminski MR, Golledge J, Lasschuit JWJ, Heinz-Schott K, Charles J, Cheney J, and Raspovic A. 2021. Australian Guideline on Prevention of Foot Ulceration: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease. Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.
- 28. Fletcher J, Beeckman D, Boyles A, Fumarola S, Kottner J, LcNichol L, Moore Z, Sarkar N, and Voegeli D. 2020. International best practice recommendations: Prevention and management of moisture-associated skin damage (MASD). Wounds International.
- 29. Hussey G and Young T. The impact of psychological factors on wound healing. Wounds International; 11(4): 58-62.
- 30. Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission. 2019. Aged Care Quality Standards. Australian Government: https://www.agedcarequality.gov.au/.
- 31. Department of Social Services. 2013. National Standards for Disability Services. Australian Government: https://www.dss.gov.au/.
- 32. National Association of Diabetes Centres and The Australian Diabetes Society. 2019. Interdisciplinary Diabetes High Risk Foot Services (HRFS) Standards. NADC: Sydney, NSW.

- 33. Edwards HE, Chang AM, Gibb M, Finlayson KJ, Parker C, O'Reilly M, McDowell J, and Shuter P. Reduced prevalence and severity of wounds following implementation of the Champions for Skin Integrity model to facilitate uptake of evidence-based practice in aged care. J Clin Nurs, 2017; 26(23-24): 4276-85.
- 34. Berlowitz D, Van Deusen Lukas C, Parker V, Niederhauser A, Silver J, Logan C, Atyello E, and Zulkowski K. 2014. Preventing Pressure Ulcers in Hospitals. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality: Rockville, MD.
- 35. Scott SM and Bennett J. Avoiding pressure injuries with root cause analysis and action. AORN J, 2018; 108(5): 15-6.

## STANDARD 5: WOUND TREATMENT

Wound treatment is delivered according to the best available evidence to achieve optimal outcomes for the individual and their wound.

## Rationale

Wound treatment aims to maximise healing potential and outcomes for the individual. Wound treatment is guided by comprehensive assessment (see Standard 3) and the implementation of evidence-based treatments designed to meet the goals of care.

## Criteria for wound practitioners

To meet the criteria for the Wound Treatment Standard, the wound practitioner:

5.1. Interprets the findings from a comprehensive assessment to inform and develop an individualised wound treatment plan.

### Evidence Criteria

- 5.1.1 Develops a wound treatment plan consistent with the assessment of the individual and their wound.<sup>1-5</sup>
- 5.1.2 Develops a wound treatment plan consistent with the individual's goals of care.<sup>2, 6, 7</sup>
- 5.1.3 Develops a wound treatment plan consistent with the clinical context.

### 5.2 Implements strategies to optimise the individual's wound-related quality of life.

- 5.2.1. Implements a plan to minimise pain,<sup>1, 2, 8-11</sup> including for example:
  - Non-pharmacological interventions (e.g. moist wound healing, psychological interventions, adjunctive treatments etc.)<sup>2, 8, 12-17</sup>
  - Use of atraumatic wound dressings, pharmaceutical products and devices.<sup>2, 8, 12, 13, 18-21</sup>
  - Topical analgesia (e.g. impregnated wound dressings, anaesthetic creams).<sup>2, 8, 22</sup>
  - When non-pharmacological interventions and/or topical analgesia are insufficient to control pain, use of a systemic analgesia regimen.<sup>2,</sup> 8, 13, 20, 23
  - Referral to members of the collaborative care team where appropriate (e.g. chronic pain management team).
- 5.2.2. Implements a plan to minimise wound-related signs and symptoms, including pruritus, odour and exudate, including for example:<sup>11, 14, 17</sup>
  - Environmental interventions (e.g. temperature and odour control etc.).<sup>2, 13</sup>

- Judicious selection of skin and wound products.<sup>13, 14, 17, 21</sup>
- Advising the individual on appropriate clothing and laundering.<sup>13</sup>
- Promotion of health seeking behaviours.
- Referral to members of the collaborative care team where appropriate (e.g. dermatologist, immunologist, etc.).
- 5.2.3. Implements strategies to promote the individual's wellbeing and quality of life,<sup>9</sup> including for example:
  - Informing the individual about what to expect regarding wound prevention and management.<sup>17</sup>
  - Promoting relaxation and stress management.<sup>13</sup>
  - Facilitating access to information and resources to promote role maintenance and socialisation.<sup>13</sup>
  - Referral to the collaborative care team (e.g. psychologist, social worker, counsellor, etc.).<sup>2</sup>

### 5.3. Implements strategies to optimise the individual's healing capacity.

### Evidence Criteria

- 5.3.1. Makes referrals to other members of the collaborative team when appropriate.
- 5.3.2 Manages and optimises systemic factors and comorbidities that may impair wound healing (e.g. diabetes, incontinence, etc.).<sup>9, 11, 24-33</sup>
- 5.3.3. Addresses psychosocial factors that may hinder optimal wound healing, including mental health conditions and cognitive impairment.<sup>2, 25, 26</sup>
- 5.3.4. Promotes adequate nutrition and hydration.<sup>2, 7, 11, 13, 24-28, 30, 33, 34</sup>
- 5.3.5. Promotes cessation of smoking.<sup>24, 29, 30, 32, 35</sup>
- 5.3.6. Encourages individuals to engage in regular mobility, activity and exercise as tolerated.<sup>2, 25</sup>
- 5.3.7. Ensures that medications that could impair wound healing are reviewed with consideration to benefit versus risk.<sup>11, 24</sup>

### 5.4. Implements strategies to optimise the wound and periwound area for healing.

- 5.4.1. Promotes an optimal wound moisture balance.<sup>2, 12-14, 16, 17, 20, 21, 26, 29, 30, 34, 36-40</sup>
- 5.4.2. Protects the periwound area and surrounding tissue from moisture and other sources of damage.<sup>2, 9, 12, 13, 16, 21, 25, 30, 36, 37, 39-42</sup>
- 5.4.3. Protects the wound bed tissue from toxins, pressure, friction, shear and other injury.<sup>2, 12-14, 17, 21, 23, 27-30, 33, 34, 40, 43-46</sup>
- 5.4.4. Promotes an optimal wound temperature.<sup>2, 14, 17, 37, 47</sup>
- 5.4.5. Promotes an optimal pH of the wound and periwound area.<sup>17, 21, 47-52</sup>

- 5.4.6. Removes devitalised or infected tissue from the wound bed using appropriate cleansing and/or debridement methods with consideration to:<sup>2, 7, 9-12, 19, 20, 25, 28, 29, 33, 34, 40, 46, 53</sup>
  - Pain.
  - Clinical competence and scope of practice.
  - Clinical contraindications to removing eschar.
  - Wound assessment outcomes.
  - Arterial insufficiency.
  - Uncontrolled comorbidities.
  - Access to sterile equipment.
  - Preferences and goals of the individual.

# 5.5. Attends wound cleansing in a manner that is appropriate to the individual, their wound and the clinical context.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 5.5.1. Performs a risk assessment before selecting an appropriate wound cleansing method, <sup>14, 29, 54, 55</sup> with consideration to:
  - Size and location of the wound.<sup>56, 57</sup>
  - Extent of visualisation of the wound bed.<sup>56, 57</sup>
  - Complexity of the procedure, including its anticipated duration.  $^{\rm 56,\ 57,\ 58}$
  - Clinical environment in which the procedure will be performed.<sup>56, 57</sup>
  - Immune status of the individual.<sup>57, 59</sup>
- 5.5.2. Selects a wound cleansing method that is appropriate to the individual, their wound and the clinical context, for example:<sup>56, 58</sup>
  - Washing/showering.
  - Standard aseptic non-touch technique (ANTT™).
  - Surgical ANTT<sup>™</sup>.

#### 5.6. Prevents and manages wound-related infection and cross infection.

- 5.6.1. Implements appropriate infection prevention and control when caring for the individual and their wound.<sup>56, 58, 60-63</sup>
- 5.6.2. Optimises the individual's immune response through management of other health conditions and nutritional deficits.<sup>9, 16, 63</sup>
- 5.6.3. Reduces the risk of wound bed contamination by:<sup>2, 10, 11, 19, 26, 29, 30, 56, 58, 63, 64</sup>
  - Managing potential sources of infection (e.g. incontinence).
  - Performing appropriate and adequate wound cleansing and debridement.
  - Using an appropriate technique to perform wound-related procedures.
  - Changing wound dressings with appropriate frequency.

- Educating the individual and their family/carers regarding wound treatment.
- 5.6.4. Initiates investigation when wound infection/biofilm is suspected and the wound fails to respond to appropriate treatment, to confirm presence of infection and/or to determine causative organisms, such as:<sup>2. 6, 26, 56</sup>
  - Assessment of clinical signs and symptoms.
  - Biochemical analysis (e.g. inflammatory markers (e.g. CRP).
  - Microbiological, pathological and radiological investigations as appropriate and available (e.g. blood cultures, needle aspiration, wound tissue/bone biopsy, peptide nucleic acid fluorescent *in situ* hybridisation [PNA-FISH], light and electron microscopy, plain x-ray, magnetic resonance imaging, bone scan).
- 5.6.5. Initiates appropriate treatment in the presence of clinical indicators of wound infection/biofilm, such as:<sup>2, 6, 10, 11, 16, 19, 25, 26, 28-30, 33, 34, 56, 61, 63-73</sup>
  - Frequent and adequate wound cleansing and debridement.
  - Use of topical antiseptics and/or antimicrobial dressings consistent with local policies and procedures, relevant guidelines and the principles underpinning antimicrobial stewardship.
  - Biofilm-based wound care.
  - Use of topical or systemic antibiotics consistent with local policies and procedures, relevant guidelines and the principles underpinning antimicrobial stewardship.
  - Urgent referral to members of the collaborative care team (e.g. medical practitioner, infectious diseases team, etc.) in the presence of signs and symptoms of spreading infection and/or systemic infection and/or osteomyelitis.
  - Other appropriate topical therapies.

# 5.7. Selects and uses products, pharmaceuticals and devices competently and safely.

- 5.7.1. Selects and uses products, pharmaceuticals, therapies and devices in accordance with:
  - Goals of care and clinical needs.<sup>2, 9, 13, 14, 20, 23, 28, 29, 33, 45, 53</sup>
  - Current evidence.66
  - The risk-benefit profile for the individual.4, 5, 74-76
  - Local policies and procedures (e.g. antimicrobial stewardship program, wound dressing selection guidelines).<sup>6, 56</sup>
  - The manufacturer's instructions.<sup>2</sup>
  - Indications approved by the Therapeutic Goods Administration.<sup>77</sup>

- Appropriate ethics approval when used as a component of a research protocol.<sup>78</sup>
- Accessibility and cost.<sup>2,9</sup>
- Preferences of the individual.<sup>41</sup>
- 5.7.2. Evaluates compatibility and efficacy when using products, pharmaceuticals, therapies and devices in conjunction with one another.<sup>9</sup>
- 5.7.3. Stores and maintains products, pharmaceuticals and devices in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions.

# 5.8. Considers adjunctive therapies and advanced innovations for stimulating wound healing when available, appropriate and recommended.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 5.8.1. Evaluates the appropriateness of incorporating adjunctive biophysical technologies used to stimulate wound healing (e.g. negative pressure wound therapy, electrical stimulation, ultrasound and electromagnetic treatment) into the individual's wound management plan.<sup>2, 7, 9, 14, 15, 19, 29, 30, 45, 46, 53, 72, 79, 80</sup>
- 5.8.2. Evaluates the appropriateness of incorporating advanced innovations used to change the biology of the wound (e.g. skin grafts, biological dressings, growth factors) into the individual's wound management plan.<sup>2, 6, 13-15, 19, 29, 30, 46, 53, 72, 79</sup>
- 5.8.3. Refers individuals for surgical interventions.<sup>2, 19, 28-31, 33, 34, 45, 72</sup>

### Criteria for wound service providers

To meet the criteria for the Wound Treatment Standard, a wound service provider:

# 5.9. Supports and facilitates the delivery of individualised, evidence-based wound treatments.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 5.9.1. Supports an organised system of care for individuals with a wound.  $^{\rm 2,\ 28,\ 33,\ 72}$
- 5.9.2. Provides access to registered health professionals from a range of disciplines to support the multifactorial needs of individuals with a wound.<sup>2, 28, 33, 81, 82</sup>
- 5.9.3. Provides systems that promote the implementation of individualised, evidence-based wound treatments.<sup>2, 81</sup>
- 5.9.4. Supports a system of care that promotes assessment, prevention and treatment of wound-related pain.
- 5.9.5. Procures and provides access to a range of contemporary wound treatment products that are evidence-based and cost-effective.<sup>9</sup>

#### 5.10. Supports and facilitates wound infection prevention and control.

#### Evidence Criteria

5.10.1. Initiates a comprehensive and evidence-based infection surveillance and control program within the wound service.<sup>56, 81</sup>

- 5.10.2. Monitors key performance indicators related to infection prevention and control. <sup>56, 61, 64, 72, 73, 81, 83, 84</sup>
- 5.10.3. Establishes roles and responsibilities related to infection surveillance, prevention and control outcomes.<sup>56, 82</sup>
- 5.10.4. Promotes an organisational culture that strives to prevent and control wound infection. <sup>56, 72, 73, 81, 82</sup>

#### 5.11. Provides an environment conducive to wound healing.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 5.11.1. Provides an environment that is conducive to healing (e.g. temperature and humidity control, cleanliness).<sup>2,81</sup>
- 5.11.2. Maximises appropriate storage of wound-related equipment and products within the service.<sup>2</sup>
- 5.11.3. Maximises privacy of the environment.<sup>81, 82, 85, 86</sup>

### **Related resources**

Australian Wound Management Association and New Zealand Wound Care Society. (2012). Australia and New Zealand Clinical Practice Guideline for Prevention and Management of Venous Leg Ulcers. Cambridge Media: Osborne Park, WA	EBG
Chen P, Carville K, Swanson T, Lazzarini PA, Charles J, Cheney J and Prentice J (2021). Australian Guideline on Wound Healing Interventions to Enhance Healing of Foot Ulcers: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease, Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.	EBG
Chuter V, Quigley F, Tosenovsky P, Ritter JC, Charles J, Cheney J and Fitridge R. (2021). Australian Guideline on Diagnosis and Management of Peripheral Artery Disease: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease, Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.	EBG
Commons RJ, Charles J, Cheney J, Lynar SA, Malone M and Raby E. (2021). Australian Guideline on Management of Diabetes-related Foot Infection: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease, Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.	EBG
Denyer J, Pillay E, and Clapham J. (2017), Best Practice Guidelines for Skin and Wound Care in Epidermolysis Bullosa. An International Consensus. Wounds International.	С
Federman DG, Ladiiznski B, Dardik A, Kelly M, Shapshak D, Ueno CM, Mostow E, Richmond N and Hopf H. Wound Healing Society 2014 update on Guidelines for Arterial Ulcers. Wound Repair Regen, 2016; 24(1): p. 127-35.	EBG
Fernand ME, Horsley M, Jones S, Martin B, Nube V, Charles J, Cheney J and Lazzarini PA, (2021). Australian Guideline on Offloading Treatment for Foot Ulcers: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes- related Foot disease, Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.	EBG

European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel and Pan Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. (2019). Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers/Injuries: Clinical Practice Guideline, Haesler. E. (ed) EPUAP/ NPIAP/PPPIA.	EBG
International Wound Infection Institute (2022). Wound Infection in Clinical Practice. Wounds International: London.	С
ISBI Practice Guidelines Committee. ISBI Practice Guidelines for Burn Care, Part 2. Burns, 2018. 44(7): p. 1617-1706.	EBG
LeBlanc K, Beeckman D, Campbell K, Hevia Campos H, Dunk AM, Gloeckner M, Holloway S, Idensohn P, Ousey K, Lucia Conceição de Gouveia Santos V, Smet S, Tariq G, and Woo K. (2021). Best practice recommendations for prevention and management of periwound skin complications. Wounds International.	С
Lipsky BA, Senneville E, Abbas Z, Aragón-Sánchez J, Diggle M, Embil JM, Kono S, Lavery LA, Malone M, van Asten SA, Urbančič-Rovan V, Peters EJG, on behalf of the International Working Group on the Diabetic Foot (IWGDF). Guidelines on the diagnosis and treatment of foot infection in persons with diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metabolism Research and Reviews, 2020. 36(S1) (e3280).	EBG
Neumann H, Cornu-Thénard A, Jünger M, Mosti G, Munte K, Partsch H, Rabe E, Ramelet A and Streit M. Evidence-based (S3) guidelines for diagnostics and treatment of venous leg ulcers. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol, 2016; 30(11): p. 1843-1875.	EBG
World Union of Wound Healing Societies. (2016). Position Document. Management of Biofilm. Wounds International: London.	Р
World Union of Wound Healing Societies. (2019). Consensus Document. Wound Exudate: Effective Assessment and Management. Wounds International: London.	С
World Union of Wound Healing Societies. (2016). Florence Congress, Position Document. Local Management in Diabetic Foot Ulcers. Wounds International: London.	Ρ
World Union of Wound Healing Societies. (2018). Consensus Document. Surgical Wound Dehiscence: Improving Prevention and Outcomes. Wounds International: London.	С
World Union of Wound Healing Societies. (2020). Optimising Wound Care Through Patient Engagement. Wounds International: London.	С
Wounds UK. (2019). Best Practice Statement: Ankle Brachial Pressure Index (ABPI) in practice. Wounds UK: London.	С

# **Background and Context**

### Evidence-based practice

Development of a wound management plan is underpinned by the individual's preferences, clinical history, wound and/or risk assessment and the goals of care. Wound prevention and treatment decisions should ideally be based on scientific evidence that provides objective data indicating the efficacy of the intervention. Maintaining a scientific and evidence-based approach when making clinical decisions regarding wound treatment is associated with superior clinical outcomes and more cost-effective care.<sup>87</sup> However, it is important that evidence is not used in isolation. A body of evidence on specific interventions requires interpretation and evaluation by the collaborative care team and individual team members to determine its appropriateness to the individual (e.g. co-morbidities, personal

preferences), the team (e.g. skill level) and the local setting (e.g. clinical setting, environment and resources).<sup>87, 88</sup>

Advances in knowledge, technologies and emerging wound therapies are ongoing. The collaborative care team should seek out the best evidence on effectiveness and implementation. Systematic reviews and evidence-based clinical practice guidelines are sources of evidence that provide comprehensive and concise guidance. These sources generally compile the best available evidence for interventions in a systematic manner and/or develop recommendations for clinical practice based on the strength of the body of scientific evidence. However, guidelines typically provide an interpretation of the available body of scientific evidence and their relevance to a specific individual should be evaluated by wound practitioners.

As highlighted in many wound guidelines and research,<sup>2, 16, 89, 90</sup> the current evidence base for many wound treatments is limited in quality and/or quantity, and the availability of new evidence is ongoing.<sup>2, 88</sup> Wound practitioners therefore have an obligation to maintain a contemporary knowledge base and to develop skills in evaluating and translating evidence into relevant clinical practice that is applicable to their clinical context and the individuals in their care.<sup>90, 91</sup>

## References

- 1. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards, Comprehensive Care Standard: Minimising Patient Harm. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/comprehensive-care-standard/minimising-patient-harm.
- 2. European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel, and Pan-Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. 2019. Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers/Injuries: Clinical Practice Guideline. Haesler E. (ed). EPUAP/NPIAP/PPPIA.
- 3. Nursing and Midwifery Council. 2018. Future nurse: Standards of proficiency for registered nurses. Nursing and Midwifery Council UK.
- 4. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2016. Registered Nurses Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 5. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2021. Nurse Practitioner Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 6. National Association of Diabetes Centres and The Australian Diabetes Society. 2019. Interdisciplinary Diabetes High Risk Foot Services (HRFS) Standards. NADC: Sydney, NSW.
- Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario. Assessment and Management of Pressure Injuries for the Interprofessional Team (3<sup>rd</sup> edition). 2016. Toronto, ON: Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario.
- 8. Mudge EJ and Orsted H. Wound infection and pain management made easy. Wounds International, 2010; 1(3): 1-6.
- 9. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2019. Consensus Document. Wound Exudate: Effective Assessment and Management Wounds International: London.
- 10. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2018. Consensus Document. Surgical Wound Dehiscence: Improving Prevention and Outcomes. Wounds International: London.
- 11. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2020. The role of Non-medicated Dressings for the Management of Wound Infection. Wounds International: London.
- 12. Okan D, Woo KA, Ayello E, and Sibbald G. The role of moisture balance in wound healing. Adv Skin Wound Care, 2007; 20(1): 39-55.

- 13. Denyer J, Pillay E, and Clapham J. 2017. Best Practice Guidelines for Skin and Wound Care in Epidermolysis Bullosa. An International Consensus. Wounds International: London.
- 14. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2016. Florence Congress, Position Document. Local Management in Diabetic Foot Ulcers Wounds International: London.
- 15. Kim PJ, Attinger CE, Constantine T, Crist BD, Faust E, Hirche CR, Lavery LA, Messina VJ, Ohura N, Punch LJ, Wirth GA, Younis I, and Teot L. Negative pressure wound therapy with instillation: International consensus guidelines update. Int Wound J, 2020; 17(1): 174-86.
- 16. Australian Wound Management Association (AWMA) and New Zealand Wound Care Society (NZWCS), Australia and New Zealand Clinical Practice Guideline for Prevention and Management of Venous Leg Ulcers. 2012, Cambridge Media: Osborne Park, WA.
- 17. Romanelli M, Serena T, Kimble R, Han S-K, Kim JT, Cruz J, Zin C, Chong SJ, and Al Assar S. 2019. Skin graft donor site management in the treatment of burns and hard-to-heal wounds. Wounds International.
- 18. Kim JY, Kim NK, and Lee YJ. A descriptive study of Korean nurses' perception of pain and skin tearing at dressing change. International Wound Journal, 2016; 13(supp s1): 47-51.
- 19. Neumann H, Cornu-Thenard M, Junger M, Mosti G, Munte K, Partsch H, Rabe E, Ramelet AA, and Strei M. Evidence-based (S3) guidelines for diagnostics and treatment of venous leg ulcers. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol, 2016; 30(11): 1843-75.
- 20. Hasegawa M, Inoue Y, Kaneko S, Kanoh H, Shintani Y, Tsujita J, Fujita H, Motegi SI, Le Pavoux A, Asai J, Asano Y, Abe M, Amano M, Ikegami R, Ishii T, Isei T, Isogai Z, Ito T, Irisawa R, Iwata Y, Otsuka M, Omoto Y, Kato H, Kadono T, Kawakami T, Kawaguchi M, Kukino R, Kono T, Koga M, Kodera M, Sakai K, Sakurai E, Sarayama Y, Tanioka M, Tanizaki H, Doi N, Nakanishi T, Hashimoto A, Hayashi M, Hirosaki K, Fujimoto M, Fujiwara H, Maekawa T, Matsuo K, Madokoro N, Yatsushiro H, Yamasaki O, Yoshino Y, Tachibana T, and Ihn H. Wound, pressure ulcer and burn guidelines 1: Guidelines for wounds in general, second edition. J Dermatol, 2020; 47(8): 807-33.
- 21. LeBlanc K, Beeckman D, Campbell K, Hevia Campos H, Dunk AM, Gloeckner M, Holloway S, Idensohn P, Ousey K, Lucia Conceição de Gouveia Santos V, Smet S, Tariq G, and Woo K. 2021. Best practice recommendations for prevention and management of periwound skin complications. Wounds International.
- 22. Briggs M, Nelson EA, and Martyn-St James M. Topical agents or dressings for pain in venous leg ulcers. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2012; 11: CD001177.
- 23. Fujiwara H, Isogai Z, Irisawa R, Otsuka M, Kadono T, Koga M, Hirosaki K, Asai J, Asano Y, Abe M, Amano M, Ikegami R, Ishii T, Isei T, Ito T, Inoue Y, Iwata Y, Omoto Y, Kato H, Kaneko S, Kanoh H, Kawakami T, Kawaguchi M, Kukino R, Kono T, Kodera M, Sakai K, Sakurai E, Sarayama Y, Shintani Y, Tanioka M, Tanizaki H, Tsujita J, Doi N, Nakanishi T, Hashimoto A, Hasegawa M, Hayashi M, Fujita H, Fujimoto M, Maekawa T, Matsuo K, Madokoro N, Motegi SI, Yatsushiro H, Yamasaki O, Yoshino Y, Pavoux AL, Tachibana T, and Ihn H. Wound, pressure ulcer and burn guidelines 2: Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of pressure ulcers, second edition. J Dermatol, 2020; 47(9): 929-78.
- 24. Sibbald RG, Goodman L, Woo KY, Krasner DL, Smart H, Tariq G, Ayello EA, Burrell RE, Keast DH, Mayer D, Norton L, and Salcido RS. Special considerations in wound bed preparation 2011: an update. World Council of Enterostomal Therapists Journal, 2012; 32(2): 10-30.
- 25. Wounds UK. 2019. Best Practice Statement: Addressing Complexities in the Management of Venous leg Ulcers. Wounds UK: London.
- 26. Wounds UK. 2016. Best Practice Statement: Holistic Management of Venous Leg Ulceration. Wounds UK: London.
- 27. Araki E, Goto A, Kondo T, Noda M, Noto H, Origasa H, Osawa H, Taguchi A, Tanizawa Y, Tobe K, and Yoshioka N. Japanese Clinical Practice Guideline for Diabetes 2019. Diabetol Int, 2020; 11(3): 165-223.

- 28. Schaper NC, van Netten JJ, Apelqvist J, Bus SA, Hinchcliffe RJ, Lipsky BA, and Board IE. Practical Guidelines on the prevention and management of diabetic foot disease (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36(S1): e3266.
- 29. Lavery LA, Davis KE, Berriman SJ, Braun L, Nichols A, Kim PJ, Margolis D, Peters EJ, and Attinger C. WHS guidelines update: Diabetic foot ulcer treatment guidelines. Wound Repair Regen, 2016; 24(1): 112-26.
- 30. Marston W, Tang J, Kirsner RS, and Ennis W. Wound Healing Society 2015 update on guidelines for venous ulcers. Wound Repair Regen, 2016; 24(1): 136-44.
- Federman DG, Ladiiznski B, Dardik A, Kelly M, Shapshak D, Ueno CM, Mostow EN, Richmond NA, and Hopf HW. Wound Healing Society 2014 update on guidelines for arterial ulcers. Wound Repair Regen, 2016; 24(1): 127-35.
- 32. Hinchliffe RJ, Forsythe RO, Apelqvist J, Boyko EJ, Fitridge R, Hong JP, Katsanos K, Mills JL, Nikol S, Reekers J, Venermo M, Zierler RE, and Schaper NC. Guidelines on diagnosis, prognosis, and management of peripheral artery disease in patients with foot ulcers and diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36 (S1) (no pagination)(e3276).
- 33. Kaminski MR, Golledge J, Lasschuit JWJ, Heinz-Schott K, Charles J, Cheney J, and Raspovic A. 2021. Australian Guideline on Prevention of Foot Ulceration: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease. Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.
- 34. Gould L, Stuntz M, Giovannelli M, Ahmad A, Aslam R, Mullen-Fortino M, Whitney JD, Calhoun J, Kirsner RS, and Gordillo GM. Wound Healing Society 2015 update on guidelines for pressure ulcers. Wound Repair Regen, 2016; 24(1): 145-62.
- 35. Rice VH, Hartmann-Boyce J, and Stead LF. Nursing interventions for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2013(8).
- 36. Snyder RJ, Fife C, and Moore Z. Components and quality measures of DIME (devitalized tissue, infection/inflammation, moisture balance, and edge preparation) in wound care. Advances in Skin & Wound Care 2016; 29(5): 205-15.
- 37. Benbow M. Exploring the concept of moist wound healing and its application in practice. British Journal of Nursing, 2008; 17(15): \$4-16.
- 38. Winter G. Formation of the scab and the rate of epithelialization of superficial wounds in the skin of the domestic pig. Nature, 1962; 193: 293-4.
- 39. Sibbald G, Elliot JA, Ayello EA, and Somayaji R. Optimizing the moisture management tightrope with wound bed preparation 2015 ©. Adv Skin Wound Care, 2015; 28(10): 466-76.
- 40. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2016. Florence Congress, Position Document. Advances in Cound Care: the Triangle of Wound Assessment. Wounds International, .
- 41. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2020. Optimising Wound Care Through Patient Engagement. Wounds International: London.
- 42. Fletcher J, Beeckman D, Boyles A, Fumarola S, Kottner J, McNichol L, Moore Z, Sarkar N, and Voegeli D. 2020. International best practice recommendations: Prevention and management of moisture-associated skin damage (MASD). Wounds International.
- 43. Dumville JC, Stubbs N, Keogh SJ, Walker RM and Zhenmi L. Hydrogel dressings for treating pressure ulcers. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2015. DOI: 10.1002/14651858. CD011226.
- 44. Bus SA, Armstrong DG, Gooday C, Jarl G, Caravaggi C, Viswanathan V, and Lazzarini PA. Guidelines on offloading foot ulcers in persons with diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36 (S1) (no pagination)(e3274).
- 45. Rivolo M, Dionisi S, Olivari D, Ciprandi G, Crucianelli S, Marcadelli S, Zortea RR, Bellini F, Martinato M, Gabrielli A, and Pomponio G. Heel pressure injuries: Consensus-based recommendations for assessment and management. Adv Wound Care, 2020; 9(6): 332-47.

- 46. Hingorani A, LaMuraglia GM, Henke P, Meissner MH, Loretz L, Zinszer KM, Driver VR, Frykberg R, Carman TL, Marston W, Mills JL, Sr., and Murad MH. The management of diabetic foot: A clinical practice guideline by the Society for Vascular Surgery in collaboration with the American Podiatric Medical Association and the Society for Vascular Medicine. J Vasc Surg, 2016; 63(2 Suppl): 3s-21s.
- 47. Kruse CR, Nuutila K, Lee CCY, Kiwanuka E, Singh M, Caterson EJ, Eriksson E, and Sørensen JA. The external microenvironment of healing skin wounds. Wound Repair Regen, 2015; 23(4): 456-64.
- 48. Percival SL, McCarty S, Hunt JA, and Woods EJ. The effects of pH on wound healing, biofilms, and antimicrobial efficacy. Wound Repair Regen, 2014; 22(2): 172-86.
- 49. Greener B, Hughes AA, Bannister NP, and Douglass J. Proteases and pH in chronic wounds. Journal of Wound Care, 2005; 14: 59-61.
- 50. Rushton I. Understanding the role of proteases and pH in wound healing. Nursing Standard, 2007; 21(32): 68-72.
- 51. Rodgers A and Watret L. The role of pH modulation in wound bed preparation. Diabetic Foot Journal, 2005; 8(3): 154.
- 52. Schneider LA, Korber A, Grabbe S, and Dissemond J. Influence of pH on wound-healing: a new perspective for wound-therapy? Archives of Dermatological Research 2007; 298(9): 413-20.
- 53. Rayman G, Vas P, Dhatariya K, Driver V, Hartemann A, Londahl M, Piaggesi A, Apelqvist J, Attinger C, and Game F. Guidelines on use of interventions to enhance healing of chronic foot ulcers in diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36 (S1) (no pagination) (e3283).
- 54. Fernandez R and Griffiths R. Water for wound cleansing. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2012(2).
- 55. Dayton P, Feilmeier M, and Sedberry S. Does postoperative showering or bathing of a surgical site increase the incidence of infection? A systematic review of the literature. Foot Ankle Surg, 2013; 52(5): 612-4.
- 56. National Health and Medical Research Council. 2019. Australian Guidelines for the Prevention and Control of Infection in Healthcare. National Health and Medical Research Council: Canberra.
- 57. Flores A. Sterile versus non-sterile glove use and aseptic technique. Nursing Standard, 2008; 23(6): 35-9.
- 58. Australasian College for Infection Prevention and Control. 2015. Aseptic Technique Policy and Practice Guidelines. ACIPC.
- 59. Lawson C, Juliano L, and Ratliff CR. Does sterile or nonsterile technique make a difference in wounds healing by secondary intention? Ostomy Wound Management, 2003; 49(4): 56.
- 60. Hart S. Using an aseptic technique to reduce the risk of infection. Nurs Stand, 2007; 21(47): 43-8.
- 61. Ling ML, Apisarnthanarak A, Abbas A, Morikane K, Lee KY, Warrier A, and Yamada K. APSIC guidelines for the prevention of surgical site infections. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control, 2019; 8: 174.
- 62. Kelahmetoglu O, Camli MF, Kirazoglu A, Erbayat Y, Asgarzade S, Durgun U, Mehdizade T, Yeniocak A, Yildiz K, Sonmez Ergun S, and Guneren E. Recommendations for management of diabetic foot ulcers during COVID-19 outbreak. Int Wound J, 2020; 17(5): 1424-7.
- 63. International Wound Infection Institute (IWII). 2022. Wound Infection in Clinical Practice. Wounds International.
- 64. The Association for the Advancement of Wound Care. 2018. Major Recommendations for the International Consolidated Wound Infection Guideline (ICWIG). The Association for the Advancement of Wound Care.

- 65. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2016. Position Document. Management of Biofilm. Wounds International: London.
- 66. Lipsky BA, Senneville E, Abbas ZG, Aragon-Sanchez J, Diggle M, Embil JM, Kono S, Lavery LA, Malone M, van Asten SA, Urbancic-Rovan V, and Peters EJG. Guidelines on the diagnosis and treatment of foot infection in persons with diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36(S1): e3280.
- 67. ISBI Practice Guidelines Committee. ISBI Practice Guidelines for Burn Care, Part 2. Burns, 2018; 44(7): 1617-706.
- 68. Chen P, Carville K, Swanson T, Lazzarini PA, Charles J, Cheney J, and Prentice J. 2021. Australian Guideline on Wound Healing Interventions to Enhance Healing of Foot Ulcers: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease, Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.
- 69. Commons RJ, Charles J, Cheney J, Lynar SA, Malone M, and Raby E. 2021. Australian Guideline on Management of Diabetes-related Foot Infection: Part of the 2021 Australian Evidence-based Guidelines for Diabetes-related Foot Disease, Version 1.0. Diabetes Feet Australia, Australian Diabetes Society: Brisbane, Australia.
- 70. Lipsky BA, Aragón-Sánchez J, Diggle M, Embil JM, Kono S, Lavery L, Senneville E, Urbančič-Rovan V, Van Asten S, Peters EJG, and on behalf of the International Working Group on the Diabetic Foot (IWGDF). IWGDF guidance on the diagnosis and management of foot infections in persons with diabetes. Diabetes Metabolism Research and Review, 2016; 32(Supp 1): 45-74.
- 71. Høiby N, Bjarnsholt T, Moser C, Bassi GL, Coenye T, Donelli G, Hall-Stoodley L, Holá V, Imbert C, Kirketerp-Møller K, Lebeaux D, Oliver A, Ullmann AJ, Williams C, and for the ESCMID Study Group for Biofilms (ESGB). ESCMID\* guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of biofilm infections 2014. Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 2015; 21: S1-25.
- 72. ISBI Practice Guidelines Committee. ISBI Practice Guidelines for Burn Care. Burns, 2016; 42: 953-1021.
- 73. Australian Government Department of Health and Australian Government Department of Agriculture Water and the Environment. 2019. Australia's National Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy 2020 and Beyond. Commonwealth of Australia.
- 74. van Rijswijk L and Gray M. Evidence, research, and clinical practice: a patient-centered framework for progress in wound care. J Wound Ostomy Cont Nurs, 2012; 39(1): 35-44.
- 75. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Medication Safety Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/medication-safety-standard.
- 76. Wounds UK. 2019. Best Practice Statement: Ankle Brachial Pressure Index (ABPI) in Practice. Wounds UK: London.
- 77. Therapeutic Goods Administration. 2011. Australian Regulatory Guidelines for Medical Devices. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care: Canberra.
- 78. The National Health and Medical Research Council, The Australian Research Council, and The Australian Vice-Chancellors' Committee. 2015. National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research 2007 (Updated 2015). Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra.
- 79. Garwood CS and Steinberg JS. What's new in wound treatment: a critical appraisal. Diabetes Metabolism Research and Review, 2016; 32(supp 1): 268-74.
- Apelqvist J, Willy C, Fagerdahl AM, Fraccalvieri M, Malmsjö M, Piaggesi A, Probst A, and Vowden P. EWMA Document: Negative Pressure Wound Therapy. J Wound Care, 2017; 26(Sup3): \$1-s154.
- 81. Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission. 2019. Aged Care Quality Standards. Australian Government: https://www.agedcarequality.gov.au/.

- 82. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. 2020. Standards for general practices. 5th ed. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP.
- 83. Wounds UK. 2020. Best Practice Statement: Post-Operative Wound Care Reducing the Risk of Surgical Site Infection. Wounds UK: London.
- 84. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2016. Consensus Document. Closed Surgical Incision Management: Understanding the Role of NPWT. Wounds International: London.
- 85. Wounds UK. 2018. Best Practice Statement Maintaining Skin Integrity. Wounds UK: London.
- 86. Beeckman D, Campbell KE, LeBlanc K, Campbell J, Dunk AM, Harley C, Holloway S, Langemo D, Romanelli M, Tariq G, and Vuagnat H. Best practice recommendations for holistic strategies to promote and maintain skin integrity. Wounds International, 2020.
- 87. Brolmann FE, Ubbink DT, Nelson EA, Munte K, van der Horst CM, and Vermeulen H. Evidencebased decisions for local and systemic wound care. British Journal of Surgery, 2012; 99: 1172-82.
- 88. Snyder RJ. Evidence-Based Wound Care in Clinical Practice. Podiatry Management, 2010; 29(6): 169-70
- 89. Qaseem A, Humphrey LL, Forciea MA, Starkey M, Denberg TD, and Clinical Guidelines Committee of the American College of Physicians. Treatment of pressure ulcers: A clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. Annals of Internal Medicine, 2015; 162(5): 370-9.
- 90. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2020. Evidence in Wound Care. Wounds International: London.
- 91. Gonzales R, Handley MA, Ackerman S, and O'Sullivan PS. Increasing the translation of evidence Into practice, policy, and public health improvements: A framework for training health professionals in implementation and dissemination science. Acad Med., 2012 87(3): 271-8.

## **STANDARD 6: DOCUMENTATION**

Wound-related documentation provides a legal, comprehensive and chronological record of assessments, investigations, wound prevention and management planning and monitoring, and evaluation at the individual and organisation level.

# Rationale

Accurate, comprehensive and chronological health records promote the safety of the individual, continuity of care and ability to determine if the care plan is effectively meeting the goals of care. Maintenance of health records in an accurate and clear manner is a legal requirement that protects the individual, their family/carers and the collaborative care team. A comprehensive wound-related documentation system facilitates service-level monitoring and auditing.

## Criteria for wound practitioners

To meet the criteria for the Documentation Standard, the wound practitioner:

6.1. Maintains wound-related health records that meet legislative, regulatory and service provider requirements.

### Evidence Criteria

- 6.1.1 Implements local documentation policies and procedures when collecting, storing, accessing, transferring and/or destroying health and wound-related information.
- 6.1.2 Maintains, stores, transfers and accesses health records in a manner consistent with relevant legislation.<sup>1-7</sup>
- 6.1.3 Maintains legible written health records that include name, designation, signature and date.<sup>8-11</sup>

# 6.2. Documents wound assessment, prevention and management comprehensively, chronologically and accurately.

- 6.2.1 Documents assessments, care planning, care delivery and care evaluation<sup>8, 9, 12-16</sup> related to wound management, <sup>10, 17-21</sup> including:
  - A comprehensive initial and ongoing assessment of the individual, the wound and the environment.<sup>10, 13, 14, 17, 19</sup>
  - Diagnostic investigations and results.<sup>9, 17, 19, 22</sup>
  - An evidence-based wound management plan.<sup>10, 12-14, 17, 19</sup>
  - Evaluation of progress towards goals of care<sup>23</sup> using valid and reliable documentation methods (e.g. assessment and monitoring tools, electronic records, digital photography) and effectiveness of the wound care plan.<sup>6, 11, 24-30</sup>

- Any changes to the wound care plan, including the rationale.<sup>13, 14, 23</sup>
- Any adverse effects or risks associated with wound management.<sup>16</sup>
- 6.2.2 Documents collaboration between the individual, their family/carers, their legal delegates and the collaborative care team, including:<sup>8, 13, 14</sup>
  - The individual and their family/carers' ability and willingness to participate in care decisions.
  - The individual and their family/carers' care preferences, expectations, goals of care and care decisions.<sup>13, 14, 16</sup>
  - The individual and their family/carers' ability and willingness to participate in care delivery.<sup>21, 31</sup>
  - A record of collaborative care team meetings/care reviews.<sup>31</sup>
  - Provision of information and education to the individual and their family/carers.<sup>8, 19, 31</sup>

# 6.3 Consults with the individual and their family/carers regarding the use of health information.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 6.3.1 Provides the individual and/or their family/carer with information relating to collection, storage and transfer of health information and its use by the collaborative care team.<sup>5, 9</sup>
- 6.3.2 Obtains and documents informed consent relating to wound assessment (e.g. photography) and care delivery.<sup>9, 31, 32</sup>

## Criteria for wound service providers

To meet the criteria for the Documentation Standard, the wound service provider:

# 6.4. Ensures that health and wound-related records are maintained in a manner that meets legislative, regulatory and care provision requirements.

- 6.4.1. Develops and regularly reviews documentation policies and procedures that include the ways in which health and wound-related information will be collected, recorded, accessed, and stored.<sup>20, 21, 23, 27, 28, 33, 34</sup>
- 6.4.2. Provides for storage, access, and transfer of health records according to relevant legislative and regulatory requirements.<sup>1-7, 34</sup>
- 6.4.3. Provides a wound-related documentation system that facilitates wound management, monitoring and evaluation, auditing and research.<sup>21, 23, 33-35</sup>
- 6.4.4. Provides for health records stored in a manner consistent with privacy legislation, with back-up mechanisms in place.<sup>34, 36-38</sup>
- 6.4.5. Ensures that wound documentation is accessible to current and future collaborative care teams.<sup>11, 23, 27, 28, 39</sup>

# **Related resources**

Relevant Federal and jurisdictional legislation (Health Records Act, Health Privacy Principles, Health Records Regulations, Health Care Act, Privacy Act and/or Freedom of Information Act), including:	S
Commonwealth Government of Australia, Privacy Act 1988, Compilation No. 86, 17 February 2021, Schedule 1: Australian Privacy Principles. 2021. https://www.legislation.gov.au/Details/C2021C00139	
Australian Capital Territory Legislative Assembly, Health Records (Privacy and Access) Act 1997, Schedule 1: The Privacy Principles. Republication 27, Effective 01 April 2016. 2016. https://www.legislation.act.gov.au/a/1997-125/ default.asp	
New South Wales Government, Health Records and Information Privacy Act 2002, No 71. 2020, New South Wales Government. https://legislation.nsw.gov. au/view/html/inforce/current/act-2002-071	
Queensland Government, Information Privacy Act 2009, Reprint current from 1 July 2019. 2019. https://www.legislation.qld.gov.au/view/html/inforce/ current/act-2009-014	
Victorian Government, Health Records Act 2001, Version No. 046, No. 2 of 2001, amendment 27 August 2020, in 046. 2020. http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/vic/consol_act/hra2001144/sch1.html	
Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Comprehensive Care Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/comprehensive-care-standard	S
World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2020. Strategies to Reduce Practice Variation in Wound Assessment and Management: The T.I.M.E. Clinical Decision Support Tool. Wounds International: London.	С
Wounds UK. 2018. Best Practice Statement: Improving holistic assessment of chronic wounds. Wounds UK: London.	С

# **Background and Context**

Documentation of wound assessment, prevention and management is important from a variety of perspectives. The individual's health record details the efficacy of the management plan and the progress toward care goals. It is one of many methods through which the collaborative care team communicate with each other regarding the individual's progress and any issues that may arise in care delivery and referrals. Documentation also forms an ongoing legal account of the care provided.

## Maintaining legible and lawful health records

Legible records are important to ensure continuity of care and are required from a medico-legal perspective. Record entries should be signed and dated, and the identity of the team member completing the record should be legible. Documentation should be accurate, specific and use only standard abbreviations. Documented health records should not be altered or erased. If changes are required, additional information can be added to a record (and dated) or information can be deleted by ruling through the mistaken entry and initialling and dating changes.<sup>40, 41</sup> These principles promote continuity of care and protect the individual, registered health professionals and unregulated health care workers in the event of complaints or legal action.<sup>6</sup> Under Australian Privacy Principle One<sup>5</sup> health service providers are required to clearly express how health-related information will be collected and managed. This information should be available for the individual, family/carers and members of the collaborative care team. The kind of information that should be included in the health service's privacy policy includes the kind of information that is collected and how it is used, for what purposes information is disclosed to other people or service providers, the process for an individual to access their documented medical record, and how individuals can make a complaint if their privacy is breached.<sup>5</sup> Other Commonwealth and State legislation includes guidance on ways in which medical records must be stored, who may access records, the length of time records must be stored and how records are transferred or destroyed.<sup>1-3, 5, 7, 36</sup>

### Documenting decision making

The right to engage in decisions regarding one's care is a foundational health care principle. Informed consent requires the individual to have engaged in an informed decision-making process with the support of the collaborative care team and their family/carers. Counselling the individual about the role and outcome of wound assessment, risk assessment and options for care should be thoroughly documented in the health record, including the education with which the individual was provided, the individual's goals for care, alternative care strategies that have been discussed, and the choices the individual has made with respect to ongoing care planning and delivery. This documentation serves as a both a legal record, and communication to the registered health professionals and unregulated health care workers regarding the education and consultation that has been undertaken.<sup>31</sup>

#### **Documentation systems**

An advanced documentation system provides a wound service with advantages in achieving best practice in wound management continuous quality improvement. Many facilities have introduced, or are developing, electronic medical records that provide the opportunity to integrate best practice into documentation, care planning and quality improvement. Evidence suggests that an advanced (and specifically, electronic) medical record is associated with more effective care delivery and superior outcomes for the individual.<sup>42</sup> An ideal comprehensive documentation system includes standardised assessment and monitorina tools, clinical decision tools or flow charts and flagging or alert systems to draw attention to assessment outcomes that are of concern (e.g. identified as having a high risk of pressure injuries).<sup>43</sup> An electronic documentation system ensures that wound assessment is stored in one place, ensuring care continuity across the collaborative care team.<sup>24,</sup> <sup>43</sup> More advanced documentation systems integrate wound photography, healing trajectory for wounds, consumer education material and relevant clinical guidelines and/or recommendations. Organisation level wound prevalence and incidence rates and healing outcomes can also be derived from wound documentation systems and are therefore useful for quality improvement planning and reporting.<sup>43</sup>

## References

- 1. Australian Capital Territory Legislative Assembly. Health Records (Privacy and Access) Act 1997, Schedule 1: The Privacy Principles. Republication 27, Effective 01 April 2016. 2016: Available at: www.legislation.act.gov.au/a/1997-125/default.asp.
- 2. Victorian Government. Health Records Act 2001, Version No. 046, No. 2 of 2001, amendment 27 August 2020, in 046. 2020: Available at: http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/vic/consol\_act/hra2001144/sch1.html.
- 3. Queensland Government. Information Privacy Act 2009, Reprint current from 1 July 2019. 2019, Queensland Government: https://www.legislation.qld.gov.au/view/whole/html/ inforce/current/act-2009-014.
- 4. South Australia Government. Health Care Act 2008, Version 17.12.2020. 2020, South Australia Government: https://www.legislation.sa.gov.au/lz/c/a/health%20care%20act%202008/ current/2008.3.auth.pdf.
- 5. Commonwealth Government of Australia. Privacy Act 1988, Compilation No. 86, 17 February 2021, Schedule 1: Australian Privacy Principles. 2021, Commonwealth Government of Australia: https://www.legislation.gov.au/Details/C2021C00139.
- 6. Kinnunen UM, Saranto K, Ensio A, Iivanainen A, and Dykes P. Developing the standardized wound care documentation model: A delphi study to improve the quality of patient care documentation. Journal of Wound, Ostomy and Continence Nursing, 2012; 39(4): 397-407.
- 7. New South Wales Government. Health Records and Information Privacy Act 2002, No 71. 2020, New South Wales Government: https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/ current/act-2002-071.
- 8. Nursing and Midwifery Council. 2018. Future nurse: Standards of proficiency for registered nurses. Nursing and Midwifery Council UK.
- 9. Ahpra and National Boards. 2014. For Registered Health Practitioners: Code of Conduct. Ahpra: https://www.ahpra.gov.au/News/2014-02-13-revised-guidelines-code-and-policy. aspx.
- 10. Wounds UK. 2018. Best Practice Statement Maintaining Skin Integrity. Wounds UK: London.
- 11. Hess CT. Understanding Your Documentation Requirements. Adv Skin Wound Care, 2018; 31(3): 144.
- 12. American Physical Therapy Association. 2019. Standards of Practice for Physical Therapy. American Physical Therapy Association: https://www.apta.org/apta-and-you/leadership-and-governance/policies/standards-of-practice-pt.
- 13. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2016. Registered Nurses Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 14. American Nurses Association. 2015. Nursing: Scope and Standards of Practice. American Nurses Association: Silver Spring, MD.
- 15. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2021. Nurse Practitioner Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 16. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Comprehensive Care Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/comprehensive-carestandard.
- 17. The Association for the Advancement of Wound Care. Major Recommendations for the International Consolidated Wound Infection Guideline (ICWIG) 2018. https://aawconline. memberclicks.net/resources: The Association for the Advancement of Wound Care.
- World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2020. Strategies to Reduce Practice Variation in Wound Assessment and Management: The T.I.M.E. Clinical Decision Support Tool. Wounds International: London.
- 19. Hess CT. Wound Care Medical Record Documentation. Adv Skin Wound Care, 2018; 31(10): 479-80.
- 20. Hess CT. Focusing on Wound Care Documentation and Audits. Adv Skin Wound Care, 2019; 32(9): 431-2.
- 21. Brown A. Legal implications of pressure injuries: experience of a tissue viability nurse expert. Nursing Standard, 2019 (no pagination).
- 22. Wounds UK. 2019. Best Practice Statement: Ankle Brachial Pressure Index (ABPI) in Practice. Wounds UK: London.
- 23. Wounds UK. 2018. Best Practice Statement: Improving Holistic Assessment of Chronic Wounds. Wounds UK: London.

- 24. Bitner J, Sachdev U, Hager ES, and Dillavou ED. Standardized care protocol and modifications to electronic medical records to facilitate venous ulcer healing. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord, 2019; 7(4): 570-6.
- 25. Bloemen EM, Rosen T, Cline Schiroo JA, Clark S, Mulcare MR, Stern ME, Mysliwiec R, Flomenbaum NE, Lachs MS, and Hargarten S. Photographing Injuries in the Acute Care Setting: Development and Evaluation of a Standardized Protocol for Research, Forensics, and Clinical Practice. Acad Emerg Med, 2016; 23(5): 653-9.
- 26. Moore Z, Angel D, Bjerregaard J, O'Connor T, McGuiness W, Kroger K, Schnack Brandt Pasmussen B, and Bonet Yderstraede K. eHealth in Wound Care: From conception to implementation. J Wound Care, 2015; 24(5): S1–S44.
- 27. Hess CT. Documentation Drivers for Effective Clinical and Patient Outcomes: Present and Future. Adv Skin Wound Care, 2017; 30(2): 96.
- 28. Hess CT. Documentation drivers for optimal patient outcomes. Nursing, 2017; 47(8): 69.
- 29. Nair HKR. Increasing productivity with smartphone digital imagery wound measurements and analysis. J Wound Care, 2018; 27(Sup9a): S12-s9.
- 30. Khalil H, Cullen M, Chambers H, Carroll M, and Walker J. Reduction in wound healing times, cost of consumables and number of visits treated through the implementation of an electronic wound care system in rural Australia. Int Wound J, 2016; 13(5): 945-50.
- Choudry M, Latif A, Hamilton L, and Leigh B. Documenting the process of patient decision making: a review of the development of the law on consent. Future Hosp J, 2016; 3(2): 109–13
- 32. Sharpe K and Baxter HWC. Obtaining consent in wound care: What are the key issues? Journal of Wound Care, 2002; 11(1): 10-2.
- 33. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Communicating for Safety Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/communicating-safety-standard.
- 34. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. 2020. Standards for general practices. 5th ed. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP.
- 35. Jacobson TM, Thompson SL, Halvorson AM, and Zeitler K. Enhancing Documentation of Pressure Ulcer Prevention Interventions: A Quality Improvement Strategy to Reduce Pressure Ulcers. Journal of Nursing Care Quality, 2016; 31(3): 207-14.
- Office of Parliamentary Counsel Canberra. My Health Records Act 2012, Compilation No. 10. 2020, Commonwealth Government of Australia: http://www6.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/ viewdb/au/legis/cth/consol\_act/mhra2012180/.
- 37. Australian Nursing Federation. 2013. Telehealth Standards: Registered Nurses. Australian Nursing Federation: Australia.
- 38. Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission. 2019. Aged Care Quality Standards. Australian Government: https://www.agedcarequality.gov.au/.
- 39. British Lymphology Society. Position paper for ankle brachial pressure index (ABPI): Informing decision making prior to the application of compression therapy. 2018. BLS.
- 40. Butcher M. Wound care and word care go hand in hand. British Journal of Nursing, 2013; 22(15): S3.
- 41. Johnson LJ. Legibility, accuracy, specificity vital in records. Medical Economics, 2010; 87(10): 40.
- 42. Manca DP. Do electronic medical records improve quality of care? Yes. Canadian Family Physician, 2015; 61(10): 846-51.
- 43. Berlowitz D, Van Deusen Lukas C, Parker V, Niederhauser A, Silver J, Logan C, Atyello E, and Zulkowski K. 2014. Preventing Pressure Ulcers in Hospitals. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality: Rockville, MD.

## STANDARD 7: KNOWLEDGE, EDUCATION AND RESEARCH

# Wound-related knowledge, education and research capacity are maximised.

## Rationale

Delivery of the highest standard of wound practice requires expert knowledge and skills. Formal education, research, continuous professional development and continuous quality improvement activities promote attainment of contemporary, evidence-based knowledge for wound practitioners and the collaborative care team. Maximising the knowledge and skills of the individual and their family/carers facilitates their participation in care decisions and activities.

## Criteria for wound practitioners

To meet the criteria for the Knowledge, Education and Research Standard, the wound practitioner:

## 7.1 Demonstrates knowledge, skills and critical thinking with respect to woundrelated practice.

### Evidence Criteria

- 7.1.1 Demonstrates knowledge of wound assessment, prevention and management at a level commensurate with scope of practice, education background and experience.<sup>1</sup>
- 7.1.2 Demonstrates proficiency in contemporary wound management.<sup>2</sup>
- 7.1.3 Thinks critically and analyses wound practice.<sup>3-5</sup>
- 7.1.4 Engages in reflective practice.<sup>1,3</sup>

## 7.2 Maintains current and evidence-based wound knowledge.

### Evidence Criteria

- 7.2.1 Identifies own wound-related learning needs and professional goals.<sup>4,6-8</sup>
- 7.2.2. Engages in wound-related education and skills acquisition that reflects best practice.<sup>2, 4, 8-10</sup>

## 7.3. Contributes to wound-related research, quality improvement activities and other opportunities to translate evidence into practice.

- 7.3.1. Engages in collaborative processes to identify needs for improvement in wound-related clinical care delivery.<sup>1, 5, 11</sup>
- 7.3.2. Engages in collaborative processes to evaluate wound-related clinical practice and quality indicators.<sup>5, 11</sup>

7.3.3. Engages in collaborative processes through which new evidence is critiqued and introduced into clinical practice.<sup>1, 5, 12</sup>

## 7.4. Contributes to the wound-related professional development of the collaborative care team.

- 7.4.1. Contributes to the education and learning opportunities of the collaborative care team.<sup>3-5, 7, 13</sup>
- 7.4.2. Demonstrates effective supervision, teaching and performance appraisal, as applicable. <sup>1, 2, 5, 14-17</sup>
- 7.4.3. Demonstrates effective role modelling and mentoring with respect to wound management.<sup>1, 4, 5, 14, 15, 17</sup>

## 7.5. Educates the individual and their family/carers regarding the wound management.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 7.5.1. Assesses and documents the wound-related learning needs of the individual and their family/carers.<sup>18, 19</sup>
- 7.5.2. Provides relevant and appropriate wound-related education, skills development and learning opportunities to individuals and their family/ carers.<sup>1, 3, 5, 7, 13, 18-26</sup>
- 7.5.3. Provides individuals and their family/carers advice on accessing evidence-based wound-related information and support.<sup>20</sup>

## Criteria for wound service providers

To meet the criteria for the Knowledge, Education and Research Standard, the wound service provider:

### 7.6. Identifies wound-related learning needs of the collaborative care team.

### Evidence Criteria

- 7.6.1. Records and regularly reviews the knowledge and skills set of the collaborative care team.<sup>27, 28</sup>
- 7.6.2. Facilitates a professional development review process that incorporates wound-related learning needs.<sup>27, 28</sup>

## 7.7. Promotes wound-related education for the collaborative care team, individuals and family/carers.

- 7.7.1. Facilitates access to wound-related education.9, 23, 29-34
- 7.7.2. Provides opportunity for the collaborative care team to share their knowledge and skills.<sup>20, 28</sup>
- 7.7.3. Promotes the education of individuals and their family/carers on wound prevention and management.<sup>9, 20-22, 31, 35-37</sup>

## 7.8. Facilitates the collaborative care team to evaluate evidence and translate it into practice.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 7.8.1. Facilitates access to contemporary wound-related research and evidence-based practice guidance.<sup>12, 27, 31</sup>
- 7.8.2. Implements a wound-related quality improvement program.<sup>11,20,31,32,38</sup>
- 7.8.3. Facilitates processes through which the collaborative care team critique and implement new evidence to practice.<sup>11, 12, 28, 31, 32</sup>
- 7.8.4. Facilitates wound-related research.

#### 7.9. Strives to achieve wound-related service level quality indicators.

- 7.9.1. Identifies appropriate service-level wound-related quality indicators (e.g. reduction in wound prevalence).<sup>20, 28, 31</sup>
- 7.9.2. Implements a wound-related quality improvement program.<sup>20, 31, 32</sup>
- 7.9.3. Establishes systems through which wound-related quality indicators within the wound service are monitored and regularly evaluated.<sup>31, 39-41</sup>

## **Related resources**

Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. (2017). The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Comprehensive Care Standard. ACSQHC. https://www.safetyandquality. gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards	S
Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission (2019). Aged Care Quality Standards. Australian Government. http://www.agedcarequality.gov.au/	S
European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel, and Pan Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. (2019). Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers/Injuries: Clinical Practice Guideline, Haesler. E. (ed.): EPUAP/NPIAP/PPPIA.	EBG
Holloway S, Pokorna A, Janssen A, Ousey K, and Probst S. Wound Curriculum for Nurses: Post-registration qualification wound management-European qualification framework level 7. J Wound Care, 2020. 29(Supplement 7a): p. \$1-\$39.	R
Team V, Bouguettaya A, Richards C, Turnour L, Jones A, Teede H and Weller CD. Patient education materials on pressure injury prevention in hospitals and health services in Victoria, Australia: Availability and content analysis. Int Wound J, 2020. 17(2): p. 370-379.	R
Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. (2021). Nurse Practitioner Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.	S
Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. (2016). Registered Nurses Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.	S
World Union of Wound Healing Societies. (2020). Evidence in Wound Care. Wounds International: London.	Р
World Union of Wound Healing Societies. (2020). Strategies to Reduce Practice Variation in Wound Assessment and Management: The T.I.M.E. Clinical Decision Support Tool. Wounds International: London.	Р

## **Background and Context**

### Education for the collaborative care team

It is essential that members of the collaborative care team have the skills they need to undertake evidence-based practice required to optimise outcomes for the individual. It is a professional responsibility to ensure that one's clinical skill set is contemporary, evidence-based and competent, and appropriate to the clinical context in which one practises. Many individuals who sustain wounds have complex health care issues that influence their risk of wounds and ability to heal. These individuals require access to wound practitioners with specialist skills to intervene appropriately to optimise healing.<sup>42, 43</sup>

Specialist wound practitioners are those who have undertaken additional education and qualification in wound management.<sup>44</sup> Specialist wound practitioners not only perform advanced wound assessment and management, but also have a significant role in mentoring, role modelling and providing education to other members of the collaborative care team.<sup>14, 42, 45</sup> International research demonstrates that wound service providers that engage specialist-trained tissue viability/wound/ostomy and continence nurses have lower rates of adverse skin events and improved healing outcomes for individuals with wounds.<sup>31, 45, 46</sup>

## Optimising knowledge for individuals and family/carers

Low health literacy has been associated with an increased risk of developing a wound in individuals at risk.<sup>47</sup> Without knowledge of factors associated with the prevention, development and management of a wound, the individual is limited in their ability to actively engage in wound management. Understanding the knowledge needs of the individual and their family/carers provides the collaborative care team with a foundation for planning and delivering education. Learning needs extend beyond practical skills and include knowledge regarding the influence of comorbidities and lifestyle on wound prevention and healing.

Individuals and their family/carers should have access to contemporary woundrelated knowledge. This may be in the form of one-to-one or group formats,<sup>48-50</sup> and may be delivered using a range of strategies (e.g. face-to-face, web-based, pre-recorded, interactive).<sup>51, 52</sup> However, evidence indicates that written education material reinforces verbal education and enhances ongoing learning. In developing written resources, consideration should be given to the format (e.g. hard copy, digital, website, mobile app, etc.), language, cognitive ability and reading level of the intended audience, and inclusion of visual tools.<sup>36, 53</sup> Australian studies have shown that accessible consumer education on health and wound topics generally fails to deliver content at an appropriate reading level with helpful information and appropriate contributors and endorsements.<sup>36, 53, 54</sup>

## References

- 1. Nursing and Midwifery Council. 2018. Future nurse: Standards of proficiency for registered nurses. Nursing and Midwifery Council UK: https://www.nmc.org.uk/.
- 2. Ahpra and National Boards. 2014. For Registered Health Practitioners: Code of Conduct. Ahpra: https://www.ahpra.gov.au/News/2014-02-13-revised-guidelines-code-and-policy. aspx.

- 3. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2016. Registered Nurses Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 4. American Nurses Association. 2015. Nursing: Scope and Standards of Practice. American Nurses Association: Silver Spring, MD.
- 5. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2021. Nurse Practitioner Standards for Practice. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: Melbourne.
- 6. Jones V, Corbett V, and Tarran N. Postgraduate diploma/master of science in wound healing and tissue repair. Int Wound J 2004; 1(1): 38-41.
- 7. American Physical Therapy Association. 2019. Standards of Practice for Physical Therapy. American Physical Therapy Association: https://www.apta.org/apta-and-you/leadership-and-governance/policies/standards-of-practice-pt.
- Medical Board of Australia and Ahpra. 2020. Good Medical Practice: A Code of Conduct for Doctors in Australia. Ahpra: https://www.medicalboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Policies.aspx.
- 9. National Health and Medical Research Council. 2019. Australian Guidelines for the Prevention and Control of Infection in Healthcare. National Health and Medical Research Council: Canberra.
- 10. Australian Nursing Federation. 2013. Guidelines for Telehealth On-Line Video Consultation Funded Through Medicare. Australian Nursing Federation: Australia.
- 11. Walsh K, Helm R, and Aboshady OA. Quality improvement in health care: How to do it. Br J Hosp Med (Lond), 2016; 77(9): 536-8.
- 12. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2020. Evidence in Wound Care. Wounds International: London.
- 13. EdCaN. 2020. Competency Standards for Specialist Cancer Nurses. Cancer Australia: http://edcan.org.au/professional-development/professional-development-model/somenurses/competency-standards.
- 14. Baxter P. The CCARE model of clinical supervision: bridging the theory-practice gap. Nurs Ed in Pract, 2007; 7: 103-11.
- 15. Brunero S and Stein-Parbury J. The effectiveness of clinical supervision in nursing: an evidenced based literature review. Aust J of Adv Nurs 2008; 25(3): 86-94.
- 16. Butterworth T, Bell L, Jackson C, and Pajnkihar M. Wicked spell or magic bullet? A review of the clinical supervision literature 2001-2007. Nurs Ed Today, 2008; 28: 264-72.
- 17. Anderson CC. Registered Nurses' understanding of the nursing standard requirement to provide professional development to nursing students on clinical placements: The theory of Doing the Right Thing. 2017, University of Wollongong: https://ro.uow.edu.au/theses1/95
- Gethin G, Probst S, Stryja J, and Christiansen N. Evidence for person-centred care in chronic wound care: A systematic review and recommendations for practice. J Wound Care, 2020; 29(Supplement 9b): S4-S23.
- 19. Bobbink P, Pugliese MT, Larkin P, and Probst S. Nurse-led patient education for persons suffering from a venous leg ulcer in outpatient's clinics and homecare settings: A scoping review. J Tissue Viability, 2020; 29(4): 297-309.
- 20. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards, Comprehensive Care Standard: Minimising Patient Harm. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/comprehensive-care-standard/minimising-patient-harm.
- 21. Latimer S, Chaboyer W, and Gillespie B. Patient participation in pressure injury prevention: giving patient's a voice. Scand J Caring Sci, 2014; 28(4): 648-56.

- 22. Hudgell L, Dalphinis J, Blunt C, Zonouzi M, and Procter S. Engaging patients in pressure ulcer prevention. Nurs Stand, 2015; 29(36): 64-70.
- 23. Schaper NC, van Netten JJ, Apelqvist J, Bus SA, Hinchcliffe RJ, Lipsky BA, and Board IE. Practical Guidelines on the prevention and management of diabetic foot disease (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36(S1): e3266.
- 24. The Association for the Advancement of Wound Care. 2018. Major Recommendations for the International Consolidated Wound Infection Guideline (ICWIG) The Association for the Advancement of Wound Care.
- 25. van Netten JJ, Lazzarini PA, Armstrong DG, Bus SA, Fitridge R, Harding K, Kinnear E, Malone M, Menz HB, Perrin BM, Postema K, Prentice J, Schott KH, and Wraight PR. Diabetic Foot Australia guideline on footwear for people with diabetes. J Foot Ankle Res, 2018; 11: 2.
- 26. Bus SA, Lavery LA, Monteiro-Soares M, Rasmussen A, Raspovic A, Sacco ICN, and van Netten JJ. Guidelines on the prevention of foot ulcers in persons with diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36 (S1) (no pagination)(e3269).
- 27. International Council of Nurses. 2021. The ICN Code of Ethics for Nurses. ICN: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 28. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. 2020. Standards for general practices. 5th ed. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP.
- 29. Wounds UK. 2018. Best Practice Statement Maintaining Skin Integrity. Wounds UK: London.
- 30. Wounds UK. 2019. Best Practice Statement: Ankle Brachial Pressure Index (ABPI) in Practice. Wounds UK: London.
- 31. European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel, and Pan-Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. 2019. Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers/Injuries: Clinical Practice Guideline. ed. Haesler E. EPUAP/NPIAP/PPPIA.
- 32. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2020. Strategies to Reduce Practice Variation in Wound Assessment and Management: The T.I.M.E. Clinical Decision Support Tool. Wounds International: London.
- 33. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. 2019. Surgical site infections: prevention and treatment NICE: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng125.
- 34. Holloway S, Pokorna A, Janssen A, Ousey K, and Probst S. Wound Curriculum for Nurses: Post-registration qualification wound management-European qualification framework level 7. J Wound Care, 2020; 29 (Supplement 7a): \$1-\$39.
- 35. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Partnering with Consumers Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/standards/nsqhs-standards/partnering-consumers-standard.
- 36. Team V, Bouguettaya A, Richards C, Turnour L, Jones A, Teede H, and Weller CD. Patient education materials on pressure injury prevention in hospitals and health services in Victoria, Australia: Availability and content analysis. Int Wound J, 2020; 17(2): 370-9.
- Clarke C, Whitmore L, and Webb A. Patient education pictorial boards: Improving patients' understanding of venous leg ulcer and compression therapy. Wounds UK, 2020; 16(2): 54-60.
- 38. Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission. 2019. Aged Care Quality Standards. Australian Government: https://www.agedcarequality.gov.au/.
- 39. ISBI Practice Guidelines Committee. ISBI Practice Guidelines for Burn Care. Burns, 2016; 42: 953-1021.
- 40. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2021. The National Safety and Quality Health Service (NSQHS) Standards: Clinical Governance Standard. ACSQHC: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/our-work/clinical-governance/clinical-governance.

- 41. National Association of Diabetes Centres and The Australian Diabetes Society. 2019. Interdisciplinary Diabetes High Risk Foot Services (HRFS) Standards. NADC: Sydney, NSW.
- 42. Anderson I. Education saves lives. British Journal of Nursing, 2014; 23(6 Supp): S3-S.
- 43. Smith-Strøm H, Iversen MM, Graue M, Skeie S, and Kirkevold M. An integrated wound-care pathway, supported by telemedicine, and competent wound management-Essential in follow-up care of adults with diabetic foot ulcers. Int J Med Inform, 2016; 94: 59-66.
- 44. Wounds Australia. What health professionals work in wound care? 2021. [cited March 2022]. Available from: https://www.woundaware.com.au/what-health-professionals-work-in-wound-care/.
- 45. Trinkoff AM, Lerner NB, Storr CL, Han K, Johantgen ME, and Gartrell K. Leadership education, certification and resident outcomes in US nursing homes: cross-sectional secondary data analysis. Int J Nurs Stud, 2015; 52(1): 334-44.
- 46. Castle NG, Furnier J, Ferguson-Rome JC, Olson D, and Johs-Artisensi J. Quality of care and long-term care administrators' education: does it make a difference? Health Care Manage Rev, 2015; 40(1): 35-45.
- 47. Chen PY, Elmer S, Callisaya M, Wills K, Greenaway TM, and Winzenberg TM. Associations of health literacy with diabetic foot outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabet Med, 2018; 35(11): 1470-9.
- 48. Gonzalez A. Education project to improve venous stasis self-management knowledge. Journal of Wound, Ostomy, & Continence Nursing, 2014; 41(6): 556-9.
- 49. Heinen M, Borm G, Van der Vleuten C, Evers A, Oostendorp R, and Van Achterberg T. The Lively Legs self-management programme increased physical activity and reduced wound days in leg ulcer patients: Results from a randomized controlled trial. International Journal of Nursing Studies, 2012; 49(2): 151-61.
- 50. Lindsay E and Tyndale-Biscoe J. Leg Clubs: Helping nurses improve patient outcomes. British Journal of Community Nursing, 2011; 16(7): 348-9.
- 51. Martinez R, Rogers AD, Numanoglu A, and Rode H. The value of WhatsApp communication in paediatric burn care Burns, 2018; 44(4): 947-55.
- 52. Moradi A, Alavi SM, Salimi M, Nouhjah S, and Shahvali EA. The effect of short message service (SMS) on knowledge and preventive behaviors of diabetic foot ulcer in patients with diabetes type 2. Diabetes Metab Syndr, 2019; 13(2): 1255-60.
- 53. Chuter V, West M, Hawke F, and Searle A. Where do we stand? The availability and efficacy of diabetes related foot health programs for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians: a systematic review. J Foot Ankle Res, 2019; 12: 17.
- 54. Cheng C and Dunn M. Health literacy and the Internet: a study on the readability of Australian online health information. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 2015; 39(4): 309-14.

## STANDARD 8: DIGITAL PLATFORMS AND TECHNOLOGIES

Digital platforms and technologies are used to facilitate the delivery of evidence-based wound prevention and management.

## Rationale

Digital health platforms and technologies are rapidly advancing. This includes physical technologies that are used to perform wound assessment, prevention and management, as well as technologies that transmit and broadcast wound-related information on a one-to-one basis (e.g. telehealth consultations) or more broadly (e.g. social media). It is important that wound practitioners and wound service providers navigate the moral, ethical and social responsibilities associated with using digital technologies, as well as attain proficiency in using new technologies as they emerge.

## Criteria for wound practitioners

To meet the criteria for the Digital Platforms and Technologies Standard, the wound practitioner:

8.1. Accesses and delivers telehealth when appropriate in a manner consistent with professional standards and regulatory requirements.

### Evidence Criteria

- 8.1.1. Assesses the individual and the clinical situation to determine the appropriateness of using a digital telehealth platform, including the acceptability to the individual.<sup>1-5</sup>
- 8.1.2. Implements telehealth consultations in a way that enables consent, privacy, confidentiality and data security.<sup>1, 4, 6-9</sup>
- 8.1.3. Documents telehealth care using a structured approach that promotes integrity of data.<sup>1, 4, 6, 7</sup>

## 8.2. Delivers telehealth in a manner consistent with best practice in wound assessment, prevention and management.

- 8.2.1. Uses telehealth platforms in a way that promotes evidence-based wound assessment, prevention and management.<sup>2</sup>
- 8.2.2. Integrates telehealth consultations with in-person wound management to achieve optimal clinical outcomes.<sup>2, 4, 6</sup>
- 8.2.3. Delivers telehealth in a manner that promotes collaborative and therapeutic relationships.<sup>2-6, 10</sup>

## 8.3. Implements digital technologies (e.g. photography) in a manner consistent with effective wound management.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 8.3.1. Evaluates safety and efficacy of new technologies before implementing them in wound management.<sup>4</sup>
- 8.3.2. Undertakes training before using digital devices/technologically advanced equipment.<sup>4, 5, 7</sup>
- 8.3.3. Considers the consent, dignity and privacy of the individuals when undertaking digital recording/photography.<sup>7</sup>
- 8.3.4. Performs digital photography/recording in a manner consistent with achieving a repeatable and comparable image for initial assessment and ongoing monitoring.<sup>7</sup>
- 8.3.5. Ensures individuals and family/carers performing digital photography have appropriate knowledge and skills.
- 8.3.6. Records and stores the digital wound assessment accurately and securely.<sup>7</sup>
- 8.3.7. Uses a consistent method to assess a wound via digital record, particularly when the wound was not also evaluated in-person (e.g. when comparing serial wound photographs or assessing wounds documented via telehealth).<sup>11</sup>

## 8.4. Uses social media and other digital platforms in a professionally responsible manner.

### Evidence Criteria

- 8.4.1. Protects the privacy of the individual, their family/carers, colleagues and employers when using social media and other digital platforms.<sup>8, 12-14</sup>
- 8.4.2. Observes ethical and professional boundaries and obligations (e.g. follows consent processes) when using social media and other digital platforms.<sup>8, 12-15</sup>

## Criteria for wound service providers

To meet the criteria for the Digital Platforms and Technologies Standard, the wound service provider:

## 8.5. Facilitates access to telehealth when it is appropriate to enable access to wound assessment, prevention and management.

- 8.5.1. Has policies and procedures outlining the context in which telehealth will be used, including guidance outlining its implementation, including consent processes.<sup>1, 6, 16, 17</sup>
- 8.5.2. Maintains technology systems that ensure that telehealth can be delivered securely, privately and confidentially.<sup>1, 2, 5</sup>
- 8.5.3. Provides access to technology support services.<sup>3-6</sup>

8.5.4. Facilitates education on delivery of telehealth, including use of supportive digital technologies (e.g. cameras).<sup>1-3, 6</sup>

## 8.6. Facilitates use of digital technologies to enable accurate wound assessment, prevention and management.

#### Evidence Criteria

- 8.6.1. Supports the use of evidence-based digital technologies in the wound service.<sup>4,7</sup>
- 8.6.2. Evaluates safety and efficacy of new technologies before introducing their use for wound management.<sup>4</sup>
- 8.6.3. Provides access to reliable photographic and recording equipment, and appropriate digital storage systems.<sup>7</sup>
- 8.6.4. Facilitates education and training when introducing new digital technologies to the wound service.<sup>4</sup>

#### 8.7. Promotes responsible use of social media and other digital platforms.

#### Evidence Criteria

8.7.1. Provides guidance on the use of personal devices, social media and other digital platforms within the wound service.

## **Related resources**

Australian Nursing Federation, Telehealth Standards: Registered Nurses. 2013, Australian Nursing Federation: Australia.	S
Ahpra and National Boards, Social media: How to meet your obligations under the National Law. 2019, Ahpra: https://www.ahpra.gov.au/Publications/ Social-media-guidance.aspx	Ρ
Chen L, Cheng L, Gao W, Chen SD, Wang C and Ran X. Telemedicine in chronic wound management: Systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth,2020;8 (6): p. e15574.	R
Moore Z, Angel D, Bjerregaard J, O'Connor T, McGuiness W, Kroger K, Schnack Brandt Pasmussen B and Bonnet Yderstraede K. eHealth in Wound Care: From conception to implementation. J Wound Care, 2015. 24(5): p. \$1–\$44.	Ρ
Piaggesi A, Läuchli S, Bassetto F, Biedermann T, Marques A, Najafi B, Palla I, Scarpa C, Seimetz D, Triulzi I, Turchetti G and Vaggelas A. EWMA document: advanced therapies in wound management: cell and tissue based therapies, physical and bio-physical therapies smart and IT based technologies. J Wound Care, 2018. 27 (6 Suppl 6).	Р

## **Background and Context**

The rapid development of technologies in all areas of life is mirrored in health care and wound management. Technological advance offers opportunities for more cost effective and timely wound management, with potential to eliminate redundancy, reduce variability, reduce errors, increase data access and promote greater time for the wound practitioner to establish a therapeutic relationship with the individual and their carer.<sup>18</sup>

The Digital Platforms and Technologies Standard refers specifically to digital technologies that are commonly used in Australian wound practice at the time of publication. Recent reviews indicate that the most used digital technologies are photography and other digital imaging, and telehealth.<sup>3, 4</sup> Advanced wound measurement technologies (e.g. digital photography, digital software planimetry, 3D wound mapping) are becoming ubiquitous in well-resourced areas.<sup>19</sup> Other digital technologies that support telecommunications (e.g. telehealth) have also improved the access of individuals in rural and remote areas to specialised general and wound-related care. However, many other emerging technologies are being explored and adopted; for example, sensorised wound dressings, biophysical therapies, and nanotechnology-based therapy.<sup>3</sup> The broad principles outlined above, including maintaining professional, legal and ethical obligations, developing frameworks and guidelines for new resources and ensuring appropriate education and training, remain relevant to the introduction of other new technological advances.

## The intersection between wound management and telehealth

Increasingly, digital technologies are being used to enable access to health care, including wound management.<sup>3</sup> Telehealth uses telecommunication technoloaies to facilitate remote delivery of health advice and health care.<sup>2-4, 20</sup> Telehealth presents an opportunity to connect more personally with an individual and their family/carers when it is not possible to physically meet. As audio-visual technologies rapidly advance, and telecommunication technologies improve in ability to rapidly transmit data, telehealth is being used across Australia to connect wound practitioners with consumers.<sup>21</sup> Telehealth services provide an option for people living in rural and remote regions, people living in regions with poor access to specialists, out-of-hours care and in more exceptional circumstances (e.g. during pandemics). Telehealth may be delivered in real-time (e.g. using secure web-conferencing platforms) or as a "store and forward" consultation.<sup>3</sup> A recent systematic review that included world-wide data demonstrated that wound models of care that include a level of telehealth (e.g. some or all consultation conducted remotely) are associated with no significant difference in clinical outcomes compared with in-person wound management, including no statistically significant difference in wound healing and amputation rates.<sup>21</sup> However, the use of telehealth should be balanced with the potential impact on the accuracy of assessment, delivery of wound treatments and the therapeutic relationship.<sup>20, 22</sup> For wound practitioners and wound service providers, video conferencing and other internet-based platforms also offer opportunity for increased connectedness with colleagues, peers and other specialists for consultation and education.<sup>3</sup>

Although telehealth provides opportunities for greater connectedness with individuals with a wound, family/carers and the collaborative care team, the use of digital platforms does not change the obligation to maintain professional

and clinical standards in wound management.<sup>6</sup> As noted in the *Digital Platforms* and *Technologies Standard* above, additional safeguards may be required to maintain privacy and confidentiality. Consideration of the physical environment, technological capabilities and education needs for all telehealth participants should be addressed when establishing services.

#### **Digital information**

A significant number of individuals access information via the internet; however, sources are not always complete, accurate, reliable or evidence-based. An important role for registered health professionals and unregulated health care workers is educating individuals in appraising the reliability of information sources, identifying sound educational websites (e.g. government, university or health care organisation sites) to access, and discussing information that individuals have located to ensure it is reliable and accurately understood.<sup>23</sup>

## References

- 1. Australian Nursing Federation. 2013. Guidelines for Telehealth On-Line Video Consultation Funded Through Medicare. Australian Nursing Federation: Australia.
- 2. Australian Nursing Federation. 2013. Telehealth Standards: Registered Nurses. Australian Nursing Federation: Australia.
- Piaggesi A, Läuchli S, Bassetto F, Biedermann T, Marques A, Najafi B, Palla I, Scarpa C, Seimetz D, Triulzi I, Turchetti G, and Vaggelas A. EWMA document: advanced therapies in wound management: cell and tissue based therapies, physical and bio-physical therapies smart and IT based technologies. J Wound Care, 2018; 27 (6 Suppl 6).
- Moore Z, Angel D, Bjerregaard J, O'Connor T, McGuiness W, Kroger K, Schnack Brandt Pasmussen B, and Bonnet Yderstraede K. eHealth in Wound Care: From conception to implementation. J Wound Care, 2015; 24(5): \$1–\$44.
- Desborough J, Hall Dykgraaf S, Sturgiss E, Parkinson A, Dut G, and Kidd M. What has the COVID-19 pandemic taught us about the use of virtual consultations in primary care? Australian Journal for General Practitioners, 2022; 51: 179-83.
- 6. American Nurses Association. 2019. Core Principles on Connected Health (Principles). ANA: Silver Spring, MD.
- 7. Institute of Medical Illustrators. 2019. IMI National Guideline Wound Management Photography. Institute of Medical Illustrators: London, UK.
- 8. Ahpra and National Boards. 2014. For Registered Health Practitioners: Code of Conduct. Ahpra: https://www.ahpra.gov.au/News/2014-02-13-revised-guidelines-code-and-policy. aspx.
- AustralianGovernmentDepartmentofHealth.2020.Factsheet-PrivacyChecklistforTelehealth Services. Australian Government Department of Health: http://www.mbsonline.gov.au/ internet/mbsonline/publishing.nsf/Content/F47F4FC1848FAEC2CA25855D008395C9/\$File/ Factsheet-privacy-checklist-for-telehealth-services-20200804.pdf.
- NSW Health. 2021. Wound care organisational models. NSW Government Agency for Clinical Innovation: https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0010/665128/ Chronic-wound-care-organisational-models.pdf.
- 11. Photographic Wound Assessment Tool PWAT-Revised (©Hodgkinson, Bowles, Gordy, Parslow, Houghton, 2010). South West Healthline Canada: https://www.southwesthealthline.ca/healthlibrary\_docs/b.9.3b.pwatinstruc.pdf.

- 12. American Nurses Association. 2011. Principles for Social Networking and the Nurse: Guidance for Registered Nurses. ANA: Silver Spring, MD.
- 13. Ahpra and National Boards. 2019. Social media: How to meet your obligations under the National Law. Ahpra, : https://www.ahpra.gov.au/Publications/Social-media-guidance. aspx Available from: https://www.ahpra.gov.au/Publications/Social-media-guidance. aspx.
- 14. Medical Board of Australia and Ahpra. 2020. Good Medical Practice: A Code of Conduct for Doctors in Australia. Ahpra: https://www.medicalboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Policies.aspx.
- 15. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia. 2018. Code of Conduct for Nurses. Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia: https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Statements/Professional-standards.aspx.
- 16. Kelahmetoglu O, Camli MF, Kirazoglu A, Erbayat Y, Asgarzade S, Durgun U, Mehdizade T, Yeniocak A, Yildiz K, Sonmez Ergun S, and Guneren E. Recommendations for management of diabetic foot ulcers during COVID-19 outbreak. Int Wound J, 2020; 17(5): 1424-7.
- 17. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. 2020. Standards for general practices. 5th ed. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP.
- 18. American Nurses Association. 2015. Nursing: Scope and Standards of Practice. American Nurses Association: Silver Spring, MD.
- Mani R, Margolis DJ, Shukla V, Akita S, Lazarides M, Piaggesi A, Falanga V, Teot L, Xie T, Bing FX, Romanelli M, Attinger C, Han CM, Lu S, Meaume S, Xu Z, and Viswanathan V. Optimizing technology use for chronic lower-extremity wound healing: A consensus document. Int J Low Extrem Wounds, 2016: 1-18.
- 20. Gethin G, Probst S, Stryja J, and Christiansen N. Evidence for person-centred care in chronic wound care: A systematic review and recommendations for practice. J Wound Care, 2020; 29 (Supplement 9b): S4-S23.
- 21. Chen L, Cheng L, Gao W, Chen S, Wang C, and Ran X. Telemedicine in chronic wound management: Systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 8(6): e15574.
- 22. Van Netten JJ, Clark D, Lazzarini PA, Janda M, and Reed L. The validity and reliability of remote diabetic foot ulcer assessment using mobile phone images. Scientific Reports, 2017; 7(1): 9480.
- 23. European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel, and Pan-Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. 2019. Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers/Injuries: Clinical Practice Guideline. Haesler E. (ed). EPUAP/NPIAP/PPPIA.

## **Glossary of Terms**

Absolute toe pressure: See Resting systolic toe pressure.

Acute wound: A wound that proceeds though the reparative process in an orderly and timely manner to achieve restored skin integrity.<sup>1</sup>

Adjuvant/adjunctive interventions: Therapies that are used in addition to standard primary interventions for wound prevention and management. Adjuvant therapies are used to enhance the impact of primary wound treatments and to assist in achieving outcome measures beyond wound prevention and healing.

**Angiography:** A medical imaging technique used to investigate blockages, narrowing, inflammation or abnormal widening or bleeding in the blood vessels. Contrast medium is injected into the artery or vein to allow visualisation of blood vessels using x-ray.

**Ankle brachial pressure index (ABPI):** ABPI is sometimes referred to as Doppler testing or Doppler ultrasound. A non-invasive vascular test using Doppler ultrasound that identifies large vessel peripheral arterial disease in the leg. It is used to determine adequate arterial blood flow in the leg before use of compression therapy. Systolic blood pressure is measured at the brachial artery and at the ankle level. The ABPI is calculated as the highest systolic blood pressure from the foot arteries (either dorsalis pedis or posterior tibial artery) divided by the highest brachial systolic pressure, which is the best estimate of central systolic blood pressure. An ABPI of 0.8 to 1.1 is usually considered indicative of adequate arterial flow in the absence of other clinical indicators for arterial disease. An ABPI of less than 0.8 and a clinical picture of arterial disease should be considered as arterial insufficiency. An ABPI above 1.2 is suggestive of possible arterial calcification.<sup>2.3</sup>

Anthropometric measurement: Non-invasive measurements of the body, typically including weight, height, head/body circumference, body mass index (BMI) and skinfold thickness.<sup>4</sup>

**Antibiotic:** A natural or synthetic medicine administered systemically or topically that has the capacity to destroy or inhibit bacterial growth.<sup>5</sup>

**Antimicrobial resistance:** Antimicrobial resistance occurs when microorganisms change over time in ways that render the medications used to treat the infections they cause ineffective.<sup>5,6</sup>

Antimicrobial stewardship: The supervised and organised appropriate use of antimicrobial agents in order to decrease the spread of infections that are caused by multidrug-resistant organisms and to improve clinical outcomes by encouraging optimised use of antimicrobials.<sup>5,</sup>

**Antimicrobial tolerance:** Antimicrobial tolerance occurs when microorganisms have a lower susceptibility to an antimicrobial.<sup>5</sup>

**Antiseptic:** An antiseptic is a topical agent with broad spectrum activity that inhibits multiplication of, or sometimes kills, microorganisms. Depending upon its concentration, an antiseptic may have a toxic effect on human cells. Development of resistance to topical antiseptics is uncommon.<sup>5</sup>

Asepsis: A state of being free from infectious (pathogenic) agents.<sup>5,8</sup>

**Aseptic technique:** A practice framework that aims to prevent cross-infection of pathogenic microorganisms when performing a wound dressing procedure.<sup>8</sup> Selection of an aseptic technique is guided by a risk assessment of the individual, their wound and environmental factors; local policies and resources and the context of care.<sup>5</sup>

**Assessment:** The process of undertaking a structured investigation and evaluation to determine if the individual has any health conditions and to elicit information that will assist the collaborative care team to plan and deliver care. An assessment can include both subjective information (e.g. gathered from sets of questions) and objective information (e.g. gathered during physical examination).<sup>9</sup>

**Atrophie blanche:** A morphological feature commonly seen in people with venous stasis and healed venous ulcers, presenting as porcelain, satellite scars with hyperpigmentation and peripheral telangiectasia.<sup>10</sup>

**Biofilm:** A form of infection that is more resistant to treatment than planktonic bacteria. Biofilm is thought to primarily compose of aggregated microorganism species (although single species biofilm have been observed) that co-exist in a manner that makes their eradication from a wound more difficult. In *in vitro* conditions, biofilm has been observed as aggregated microorganisms that exist in an extracellular matrix.<sup>5</sup>

**Biophysical therapy/biophysical agent:** A therapy that is based on the delivery of biophysical energy to the wound using specially designed medical devices. Biophysical therapies are usually used as adjuvant therapy. Biophysical modalities include electromagnetic spectrum technologies (e.g. electrical stimulation, electromagnetic field therapy and phototherapy), acoustic technologies (e.g. low frequency ultrasound, high frequency ultrasound), kinetic technologies (e.g. pulsatile lavage, vibration therapy), atmospheric technologies (e.g. negative pressure, suction, hyperbaric oxygen or topical oxygen) or a mix of these modalities.<sup>11</sup>

**Biothesiometer:** An instrument designed to measure the threshold of vibration an individual can perceive; in wound management the instrument is applied to identify and evaluate peripheral neuropathy. The amplitude is gradually lowered until the individual can no longer discern the vibration.

**Body mass index (BMI):** A measure of whether an individual's weight is in a healthy range based on their height. A BMI is calculated as the person's weight in kilograms divided by the square of the individual's height in metres.<sup>12</sup>

**Bone scan:** A nuclear imaging technique in which a small amount of radioactive dye is injected into bones to allow assessment of the bone and identification of bone regions in which metabolism is disrupted.<sup>13</sup>

**Callus:** Hyperkeratosis of the stratum corneum (outer layer of skin). Calluses generally occur as a protective response to friction or pressure, most often forming on hands or feet.<sup>14</sup>

**Chronic wound:** A wound that makes slow progression through the healing phases or displays delayed, interrupted or stalled healing. Inhibited healing may be due to to intrinsic and extrinsic factors that impact on the person, their wound and their healing environment.<sup>1, 5</sup>

**Claudication:** Muscle pain, cramping or discomfort in the leg (e.g. calf or thigh) or buttocks that occurs during activity and resolves when resting. The pain may be accompanied by numbness, weakness or a heavy/tired feeling. Claudication is a symptom of peripheral arterial insufficiency.<sup>15</sup>

**Cognitive impairment:** A disruption to a person's mental process of learning, understanding and knowing. Cognitive impairment can impact knowledge, attention, memory, judgement, reasoning, decision-making, comprehension and language. The two most common forms of cognitive impairment are dementia (a form of progressive cognitive impairment) and delirium (a form of acute cognitive impairment).<sup>16</sup>

**Collaborative care:** Involving two or more people and/or disciplines working together. Collaborative care involves working with health practitioners involved in the care of the individual and their family/carers to develop a prevention and management plan with which the individual is comfortable.<sup>17</sup> Collaborative care is an umbrella term to describes a variety of care models that involve collaboration, including multidisciplinary care and interdisciplinary care.<sup>18</sup>

**Computed tomography (CT scan):** A form of x-ray that takes images of the body from different angles to produce cross sectional images, thereby providing a three-dimensional impression that is used for diagnostic or therapeutic purposes.<sup>19</sup>

**C-reactive protein:** A blood test that provides an indirect measure of inflammation activity; an early indicator of acute inflammatory stage of a range of different diseases, including wound infection.<sup>20</sup>

**Cross infection:** Transfer of microorganisms (e.g. bacteria, virus) from one person, object or location (e.g. anatomical location) to another person, object or location.

**Debridement:** The removal of devitalised (non-viable) tissue from or adjacent to a wound.<sup>5</sup> Debridement also removes foreign matter, exudate and bacterial colonies (e.g. biofilm) from the wound bed and promotes a stimulatory environment. Methods of debridement include autolytic debridement (promotion of naturally occurring autolysis), surgical sharp debridement, conservative sharp debridement, enzymatic debridement, mechanical debridement (e.g. mesh pad), biological debridement (e.g. larval therapy) and low frequency ultrasonic debridement.<sup>5, 21, 22</sup>

Desiccation: The drying out of the wound bed and periwound area.<sup>23</sup>

**Dermatitis/Eczema**: A reaction of the skin that often occurs rapidly (acute dermatitis/eczema) but may be gradual and long standing (chronic dermatitis/eczema). It is characterised by a red rash, often blistered and swollen, that may be surrounded by darker, thickened skin (in chronic cases) and is generally dry and itchy. It may be caused by irritants (e.g. products, chemical or even friction) or allergic response, and can become infected.<sup>24</sup>

Devitalised tissue: Dead tissue presenting as necrotic tissue or slough.<sup>25</sup>

 $\mbox{Diversity:}$  Variation in personal, social and economic characteristics including culture and identity.  $^{26}$ 

**Duplex ultrasound:** A non-invasive ultrasound that evaluates blood flow to detect adequate flow, clots or venous reflux.

Electrical stimulation: see Biophysical therapy.

Electromagnetic field therapy: see Biophysical therapy.

**Erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR):** A blood test that provides a non-specific indicator of inflammation activity in the body.<sup>20</sup>

Erythema: Superficial reddening of the skin.<sup>11, 22</sup>

**Eschar:** Necrotic, devitalised tissue that appears black or brown, can be loose or firmly adherent and hard or soft, and may appear as leathery.<sup>5,11</sup>

**Evidence-based (wound) practice:** Integration of clinical expertise, the perspective of the individual and research evidence to make decisions about the most appropriate way to deliver wound management to that particular individual.<sup>27</sup>

**Exogenous:** Originating outside the body.

Extrinsic factors: Originating outside of the body.

**Exudate:** Fluid that is released from tissue and/or capillaries in response to injury, inflammation and/or microbial burden. It is mainly comprised of serum, fibrin, proteins and white blood cells.<sup>5</sup> Exudate types include:

Serous: Clear, amber or straw coloured exudate that is thin and watery.<sup>28</sup>

Haemoserous/serosanguineous: Pink to light red exudate that is thin but slightly thicker than water.  $^{\rm 28,\ 29}$ 

Sanguineous: Red exudate that is thin and watery, indicating presence of red blood cells.<sup>28</sup>

Seropurulent: Cloudy, creamy, yellow or tan exudate that has a thin consistency.<sup>28</sup>

**Purulent:** Opaque, milky, yellow or brown/green, pus that is thick and may have an offensive odour.<sup>28</sup>

**Family/carer:** In this document a family/carer refers to a person who provides support for an individual with or at risk of a wound in an informal, supportive role, such as a relative, a friend, a neighbour or a colleague (i.e. extended family/friend circle).

**Fibrin:** A protein involved in clotting of blood. When wound bleeding occurs, fibrinogen in blood plasma is converted into fibrin by the action of a clotting enzyme called thrombin. Fibrin and thrombin combine with red blood cells and platelets at the wound site to create a mass that hardens and contracts into a blood clot. This clot prevents blood loss and promotes tissue regeneration by delivering erythrocytes, macrophages and fibroblasts around the wound.<sup>30</sup>

**Fibrinous wound base/surface:** A metabolic by-product of healing occurring as a layer that is loosely or firmly adherent to the wound bed. It is composed of serum and matrix proteins that may be white, yellow, tan, brown or green, and has a fibrous or gelatinous texture and appearance.<sup>5</sup>

**Fistula:** An abnormal tunnel-like connection forming between two organs or vessels in the body that do not usually connect.<sup>31</sup> This can lead to draining of bodily fluid (e.g. faeces, urine) between organs or from an organ to an opening in the skin, if the fistula is cutaneous.<sup>31, 32</sup>

Fistulogram: see Sinogram.

**Fitzpatrick Skin Type**: Classification of skin based on its response to sunlight exposure (i.e. the amount of melanin in the skin). The classification system includes six types, each of which is described by its lightness/darkness of skin and its ability to tan/burn.<sup>33</sup>

**Foreign body**: Presence in the wound of non-natural bodies that may be a result of the wounding process (e.g. gravel, dirt or glass) or arise from wound repair (e.g. sutures, staples, orthopaedic implants or drains).

Friable tissue: Fragile tissue that bleeds easily.5

**Friction (frictional force):** The contact force that is in a parallel direction relative to the skin and that occurs due to body weight loads (or a force exerted by a device). Force is associated with shear deformations and stresses, and may be static (i.e. when no relative movement between the skin and the surface occurs) or dynamic (i.e. when there is movement between the skin and surface).<sup>11, 34</sup>

**Gangrene:** Gangrene is the death of localised body tissue. It may be wet (occurring due to necrotising bacterial infections)<sup>35</sup> or dry (occurring due to tissue ischaemia due to a range of causes including peripheral arterial disease, venous insufficiency, thrombosis, trauma frostbite or embolism).<sup>22,36</sup> Early signs of wet gangrene include blisters, bruising that precedes skin/tissue necrosis, crepitation and cutaneous numbness. These symptoms require urgent investigation.<sup>35</sup> In most cases a surgical consultation should be sought urgently.<sup>22,37</sup>

**Granulation tissue:** New connective tissue and microscopic blood vessels<sup>38, 39</sup> that appears as pink/red, moist, shiny tissue that glistens, with a granular or 'cobblestone' surface.<sup>39, 40</sup> Granulation tissue extracellular matrix contains fibroblasts, keratinocytes, endothelial cells and immune cells (e.g. neutrophils, macrophages).<sup>38</sup>

**Glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1c):** A test that indicates an individual's average blood glucose level over the life of the red blood cells, which is about 10 to 12 weeks. HbA1c is used an indicator of diabetes control.<sup>20</sup>

Harris-Benedict equation: An equation that is used to calculate a person's total daily energy expenditure based on their basal metabolic rate and activity level. This is used to determine nutritional needs.<sup>41</sup>

Health care worker: see Unregulated health care worker.

**Health history:** Past or concurrent diseases or comorbidities, trauma, surgical interventions, medication regimens, or other factors of relevance to current health status and wound prevention and management.

**Health literacy:** The cognitive and social skills that determine the ability of an individual to gain access to, understand and use information in ways which promote and maintain health, including the individual's motivation to seek out such information.<sup>42</sup>

Health professional: see Registered health professional.

Hyperkeratosis: Thickening of the outer surface of the skin (stratum corneum).43

**Hypergranulation:** Hypergranulation is an increase in the proliferation of granulation tissue such that the tissue progresses above or over the wound edge and inhibits epithelialisation. It presents as raised, soft/spongy, shiny, friable, red tissue. Also referred to as over granulation.<sup>5</sup>

Induration: Hardening of soft tissues.

**Individual:** In this document, individual refers to a person with or at risk of a wound (i.e. a patient, resident or client).

**Infection**: when the quantity of microorganisms in a wound become imbalanced such that the host response is overwhelmed and wound healing becomes impaired.<sup>22, 44</sup> Transition from non-infected to infected is a gradual process determined by the quantity and virulence of microbial burden and the individual's immune response.<sup>5, 22</sup> The transition that can be categorised as:

**Contamination**: Contamination refers to the presence within the wound of microorganisms that are not proliferating. No significant host reaction is evoked and no delay in wound healing clinically observed.<sup>5</sup>

**Colonisation:** Colonisation refers to the presence of microorganisms within the wound that are undergoing limited proliferation. No significant host reaction is evoked and no delay in wound healing clinically observed.<sup>5</sup>

**Local infection:** Local infection refers to the presence and proliferation of microorganisms within the wound that evoke a response from the host that often includes delayed wound healing. Local infection is contained within the wound and the immediate periwound region (less than 2cm). Local infection often presents as subtle (covert) signs that may develop into the classic (overt) signs of infection.<sup>5</sup>

**Spreading infection:** Systemic infection arising from a wound refers to microorganisms spreading from the wound into adjacent or regional tissues, evoking a response in the host in the structures in the anatomical area beyond the periwound region. Signs and symptoms of spreading infection include diffuse, acute inflammation and infection of skin or subcutaneous tissues.<sup>5</sup>

**Systemic infection:** Systemic infection arising from a wound refers to microorganisms spreading throughout the body via the vascular or lymphatic systems, evoking a host response that affects the body as a whole. Signs of systemic infection include a systemic inflammatory response, sepsis and organ dysfunction.<sup>5</sup>

#### Informal carer: see Family/carer.

**Interdisciplinary care:** A collaborative care team of registered health professionals and unregulated health care workers who work with the individual and their family/carers to agree upon the goals of care and perform wound management. Team members combine their knowledge and skills to work more closely (compared with multidisciplinary care models) to deliver care.<sup>18</sup>

Intrinsic factors: Originating within the body.

**Linear healing rate:** Linear healing rate describes healing that occurs at a standard speed (i.e. wound healing progresses by the same amount each day). Although not all wounds heal in a linear fashion, in general linear healing rate is shown to be a reliable indicator of healing.<sup>45, 46</sup>

Lesion: A lesion is any area of altered skin or underlying tissue, usually caused by disease or

trauma.<sup>47</sup> Macules, bullae, pustules, rashes, plaques, vesicles, wounds, ulcers, purpura, scars, erosions and telangiectases are some examples of lesions.<sup>48</sup>

**Maceration:** Maceration refers to wrinkled, soggy and/or hyperhydrated soft periwound skin occurring due to excessive exposure to moisture. Periwound skin presenting as white/pale in the context of excessive moisture is at increased risk of breakdown.<sup>5, 49</sup>

**Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI):** A non-invasive medical imaging technique that uses magnetic field and radio frequency pulses to create images of the internal body.<sup>50</sup> In contrast to x-ray, MRI creates more detailed image of organs and soft tissues, as well as bone and other internal structures.

**Monofilament testing:** A test that is conducted to detect loss of sensation (e.g. occurring due to peripheral neuropathy). Calibrated nylon threads/monofilaments (i.e. a 10-g Semmes-Weinstein monofilament) are placed on the individual's skin (usually the foot), with force applied until the filament buckles. The individual indicates when the buckling sensation cannot be felt.<sup>51</sup>

**Multidisciplinary care:** A collaborative care team of registered health professionals and unregulated health care workers who work with the individual and their family/carers to agree upon the goals of care and perform wound management. Team members treat the individual independently and share information with one another.<sup>18</sup>

**Necrotic tissue/necrosis:** Dead (devitalised) tissue that is dark in colour and comprised of dehydrated, dead tissue cells. Necrotic tissue acts as a barrier to healing by preventing complete tissue repair and promoting microbial colonisation. It is usually managed with debridement, but only after a comprehensive assessment of the individual and their wound.<sup>22, 25, 52, 53</sup>

Non-granulation: Moist, red non-pebbled tissue.54

**Oedema:** Oedema is swelling of the tissues causes by accumulation of fluid.<sup>22</sup> Oedema is classified as pitting or non-pitting. When pitting oedema is pressed with the finger, an indentation remains after pressure is released. An indentation does not persist after pressure release if the oedema is non-pitting.

Offload: To remove pressure from any area.<sup>11</sup>

**Osteomyeliiis:** Infection of the bone with involvement of bone marrow<sup>22</sup> that occurs through infection of the bloodstream (including infection from another point in the body that travels in the bloodstream) or from a wound or injury that allows bacteria to directly reach bone.

**Over granulation:** see Hypergranulation.

**Palliative care:** Care focused on holistically supporting the individual for comfort and enhancing the quality of living rather than actively seeking to cure or heal the wound. This may or may not also include end-of-life care.<sup>55, 56</sup>

**Periwound**: The skin and tissue immediately adjacent to the wound edge extending out 4cm and including any skin and tissue under the wound dressing.<sup>57, 58</sup> The periwound region can be affected by moisture (e.g. maceration and excoriation) or may be dry, or develop hyperkeratosis, callus or eczema.<sup>57</sup> The condition of the periwound region is often a result of wound management strategies (e.g. contact dermatitis in response to a wound dressing), but may also be related to the wound type (e.g. dermatological problems are particularly associated with venous ulcers).<sup>57, 59</sup> The periwound region can also be indicative of the wound condition (e.g. erythema, warmth and swelling indicates potential wound infection)<sup>57</sup> or of overall health issues influencing wound healing (e.g. pale or bluish skin can indicate poor vascular supply).

**pH:** A measure on a scale from 0 to 14 of acidity or alkalinity, with 7 being neutral, greater than 7 being more alkaline and less than 7 being more acidic. The skin has a natural pH of around 5.5.

**Pharmaceutical:** A product or preparation that contains a medicinal drug that is used either topically or systemically in the management of individuals or their wounds. In Australia, the Therapeutic Goods Administration is responsible for monitoring and licensing the sale and use of pharmaceuticals and other therapeutic goods.

**Photoplethysmography (PPG):** A non-invasive test that measures venous refill time by using a small light probe that is placed on the surface of the skin just above the ankle. The test requires the individual to perform calf muscle pump exercises for brief periods followed by rest. The PPG probe measures the reduction in skin blood content following exercise. This determines the efficiency of the musculovenous pump and the presence of abnormal venous reflux.<sup>2, 60</sup>

Pigmentation changes: Changes in the colouring of the skin.

**Pocketing:** Pocketing occurs when granulation tissue does not grow in a uniform manner across the entire wound base, leading to a dead space that can potentially harbor microorganisms.<sup>5</sup>

**Potable water:** Water that is of a quality suitable for drinking, cooking and bathing. Unless the water supply is known to be of potable quality (i.e. safe for consumption), it should be considered non-potable. Tank water, pool water and dam water may or may not be of potable quality.<sup>61</sup>

**Pressure injury:** A localised injury to the skin and/or underlying tissue as a result of pressure or pressure in combination with shear. Pressure injuries usually occur over a bony prominence or in association with a medical device/other object.<sup>11</sup>

**Prevalence:** The proportion/percentage of individuals in a defined population who have a wound within a defined period of time.<sup>11</sup>

**Primary health care:** Health services delivered in community settings including but not limited to general practices, community health centres, Aboriginal health services and allied health practices.

#### Pruritus: Itchy skin.62

**Prophylactic/preventive dressing:** A dressing that is placed onto the skin before any skin damage becomes evident, with a goal of preventing skin breakdown due to pressure, shear and alternations in the skin's microclimate.<sup>11</sup> Features such as an elastic adhesive type (e.g. silicone), the number of layers used in construction of the prophylactic dressing, and the size of the selected dressing are considered to contribute to its ability to protect the skin.<sup>11, 63</sup>

**Psychometric quality:** The validity and reliability of an assessment or measurement tool. See also: Validity, Reliability.

**Quality of life:** A subjective, qualitative measure of one's ability to lead an holistic and fulfilling life. Concepts that are often included in a quality of life assessment include psychosocial, emotional and physical wellbeing. When specifically measuring the impact of health, the measure is sometimes referred to as health-related quality of life (HRQOL).<sup>64</sup>

**Reliability:** The consistency of a measure, scale or assessment. Test-retest reliability evaluates how a measure performs over time, internal consistency evaluates how consistent a measure is across items, and inter-rater reliability evaluates how well a measure performs when applied by different people.<sup>45</sup> See also: *Validity*.

**Registered health professional:** An individual who has completed (or is working toward completion of) a health professional degree and works within a branch of health care or in a role that is regulated by the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency (Ahpra).<sup>66,67</sup>

**Resting systolic toe pressure:** A non-invasive test that measures arterial perfusion in the toes and feet, particularly in individuals with incompressible arteries due to calcification.<sup>68</sup> A toe cuff is applied to the hallux (or second toe if amputated) and systolic pressure measured with a sphygmomanometer<sup>69</sup> or using a PPG probe.<sup>68</sup>

**Risk assessment:** An assessment that is conducted to identify the presence of factors known to be associated with a specific condition.<sup>11,40</sup>

Role maintenance: Maintaining ability to perform one's usual roles in life and society.

**Screening:** An evaluation of an individual undertaken for the purpose of determining if they would benefit from a more in-depth assessment. A screening is usually fairly rapid and identifies 'red flags' that can indicate a person might be at risk of a condition and requires a more targeted and detailed health evaluation.<sup>70, 71</sup> Specific screening tools are available for some purposes (e.g. nutritional risk).<sup>2, 11</sup> For other conditions (e.g. risk of pressure injuries) knowledge of demographic-specific risk factors and clinical judgement is applied by a regulated health professional to rapidly identify people requiring a prompt formal risk assessment.<sup>11</sup>

**Sinus tract**: A tract or path of tissue destruction, sometimes called a *tunnel*, occurring in any direction from the surface or edge of a wound and ending in dead space. The dead space has a potential for pus to collect (i.e. abscess formation).<sup>32, 40, 72</sup>

**Sinogram:** An x-ray procedure in which contrast medium is injected into a sinus tract to create a visual image of the path of tissue destruction. Also referred to as a fistulogram.

Skin hygiene: Bathing practices undertaken to promote skin health and integrity. Skin hygiene includes practices to keep the skin clean and moist.<sup>73</sup>

**Slough:** Slough is nonviable tissue of varying colour (e.g. cream, yellow, greyish or tan) that may be loose or firmly attached, slimy, stringy or fibrinous.<sup>5</sup>

**Stemmer sign:** A physical examination used to diagnose lymphoedema by pinching the skin on the dorsum of the hand or foot. When the examiner cannot pinch the skin, Stemmer sign is considered positive for presence of lymphoedema.<sup>74</sup>

**Support surface:** A specialised device (e.g. mattress, cushion or overlay) for pressure redistribution designed for management of tissue loads, microclimate, and/or other therapeutic functions.<sup>75, 76</sup>

Telangiectasia: Small, visible linear red blood vessels indicating broken capillaries.77

**Toe brachial pressure index (TBPI):** A non-invasive test that measures arterial perfusion in the toes and feet. A toe cuff is applied to the hallux (or second toe if amputated) and systolic pressure measured with a sphygmomanometer. To calculate the TBPI, the hallux systolic pressure is divided by the highest brachial systolic pressure.<sup>69</sup> The TBPI is used to measure arterial perfusion in the feet and toes of individuals with incompressible arteries due to calcification as may occur in individuals with diabetes and renal disease.<sup>2,3</sup>

**Transcutaneous oxygen pressure:** The amount of oxygen reaching the skin through blood circulation. Transcutaneous oxygen pressure is measured via transcutaneous oximetry, which involves electrodes placed on the skin that create a local hyperaemia that intensifies blood perfusion and maximises oxygen pressure (mmHg). Usually measurement is made at more than one site to achieve a good clinical picture.<sup>2</sup>

Tunneling: See Sinus tract.

Ultrasound (therapeutic): see Biophysical therapy/biophysical agent.

**Undermining:** An area of tissue destruction extending under intact skin along the periphery of a wound. It can be distinguished from a sinus tract in that it involves a significant portion of wound edge.<sup>40,72</sup>

**Unregulated health care worker:** In this document, unregulated health care worker refers to a person employed in a role to deliver assistance in managing personal care and health under the direction of a regulated health professional. An unregulated health care worker has not completed a professional degree and does not work in a role that is regulated by the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency. Some examples of unregulated health

care worker roles include assistant in nursing, personal care attendant, aged care worker, disability worker and health services assistant.<sup>78</sup>

**Urticaria**: Skin reaction characterised by swelling, hives or welling with hives. Acute urticaria lasts six weeks or less, while chronic urticaria is longer than six weeks in duration with daily reaction. Urticaria may occur spontaneously, or in response to systemic or topical contact with an allergen, infection, vaccination or bee/wasp stings. It occurs due to release of chemical mediators from tissue mast cells as an immune response.<sup>79</sup>

**Validity:** The extent to which a specific measure, scale or assessment measures or evaluates what it purports to be measuring or evaluating. Different types of validity (e.g. face validity, construct validity, criterion validity, etc.) refer to a range of different ways in which how well a specific measure, scale or assessment evaluates different aspects of concept can be tested.<sup>65</sup> See also: *Reliability*.

**Venous leg ulcer:** An ulcer on the lower extremity that is caused by venous disease. A venous leg ulcer is a chronic wound that is generally considered to result from venous occlusion, incompetent calf muscle pump function or venous valvular failure, giving rise to venous hypertension.<sup>2</sup>

**Wellbeing:** A dynamic matrix of factors, including physical, social, psychological and spiritual. Wellbeing is inherently individual, will vary over time, is influenced by culture and context, and is independent of wound type, duration or care setting.<sup>80</sup>

Wound: Any disruption in skin integrity.<sup>1, 58</sup>

**Wound culture:** A sample of tissue or fluid taken from the wound bed and placed in a sterile container for transportation to the laboratory. In the laboratory the sample is placed in a substance that promotes growth of organisms and the type and quantity of organisms that grow is assessed by microscopy. Wound cultures are used to determine the type and quantity of microorganisms in a wound.<sup>37, 81</sup>

**Wound dressing:** A material applied to a wound for a variety of reasons, including: prevention or management of infection; optimisation of moisture balance, temperature and wound pH; protection; absorption or drainage of exudate; control of odour or to reduce pain. Wound dressings include primary dressings (those in direct contact with the wound bed) or secondary (applied over a primary dressing for added protection or absorption). Wound dressing types are generally defined by their composition and function.

**Wound edge:** The external margin or rim of the wound. The wound edge may be well defined or have unclear margins, and its condition is an indicator of wound healing progression. A healthy wound edge is moist, intact and level with the base of the wound. An unhealthy wound edge may be macerated, dehydrated, undermining or have rolled edges.<sup>57</sup>

**Wound management:** Used in this document to refer to clinal practice related to wounds, encompassing wound-related screening and assessment, wound prevention and wound treatment.

**Wound service provider:** Any organisation, institution, facility or company that is responsible for provision of wound management or related services.

**Wound practitioner**: Used in this document to refer to any person employed in the care of individuals with a wound or at risk of sustaining a wound. The term encompasses both registered health professionals and unregulated health care workers who deliver wound management in a health service.

Xerosis: Dry skin, occurs due to lack of moisture in the stratum corneum.

## References

- 1. Lazarus GS. Definitions and guidelines for assessment of wounds and evaluation of healing. Arch Derm, 1994; 130: 489.
- Australian Wound Management Association (AWMA) and New Zealand Wound Care Society (NZWCS). 2012. Australia and New Zealand Clinical Practice Guideline for Prevention and Management of Venous Leg Ulcers. Cambridge Media: Osborne Park, WA.
- 3. Wounds UK. 2019. Best Practice Statement: Ankle Brachial Pressure Index (ABPI) in Practice. Wounds UK: London.
- 4. Casadei K and Kiel J. Anthropometric Measurement. 2021. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing.
- 5. International Wound Infection Institute (IWII). 2022. Wound Infection in Clinical Practice. Wounds International.
- 6. World Health Organization. Antimicrobial resistance. 2021. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/antimicrobial-resistance [cited September 2021].
- The Association for Professionals in Infection Control and Epidemiology (APIC). Antimicrobial stewardship. 2021. https://apic.org/Professional-Practice/Practice-Resources/ Antimicrobial-Stewardship/ [cited February 2023].
- 8. National Health and Medical Research Council. 2010. Australian Guidelines for the Prevention and Control of Infection in Healthcare. Commonwealth of Australia.
- 9. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Health Assessments in Primary Care. 2020. https://www.ahrq.gov/ncepcr/tools/assessments/health-ap10.html [cited February 2023].
- 10. Alavi A, Hafner J, Dutz JP, Mayer D, Sibbald RG, Criado PR, Senet P, Callen JP, Phillips TJ, Romanelli M, and Kirsner RS. Atrophie blanche: Is it associated with venous disease or livedoid vasculopathy? Adv Skin Wound Care, 2014; 27(11).
- 11. European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel, National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel, and Pan-Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance. 2019. Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers/Injuries: Clinical Practice Guideline. Haesler E. (Ed). EPUAP/NPIAP/PPPIA.
- 12. Heart Foundation. What's Your BMI? 2022. https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/bmicalculator [cited February 2023].
- 13. Diagnostic Imaging Pathways. Information for Consumers Bone Scans. 2017. http://www. imagingpathways.health.wa.gov.au/index.php/consumer-info/imaging-procedures/ bone-scan [cited February 2023].
- 14. Australian Podiatry Association. Corns and Calluses. 2021. https://www.podiatry.org.au/ foot-health-resources/corns-and-calluses [cited February 2023].
- 15. Aboyans V, Ricco J-B, Bartelink M-LEL, Björck M, Brodmann M, Cohnert T, Collet J-P, Czerny M, De Carlo M, Debus S, Espinola-Klein C, Kahan T, Kownator S, Mazzolai L, Naylor AR, Roffi M, Röther J, Sprynger M, Tendera M, Tepe G, Venermo M, Vlachopoulos C, Desormais I, and Group ESD. 2017 ESC Guidelines on the Diagnosis and Treatment of Peripheral Arterial Diseases, in collaboration with the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS): Document covering atherosclerotic disease of extracranial carotid and vertebral, mesenteric, renal, upper and lower extremity arteriesEndorsed by: the European Stroke Organization (ESO) The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Peripheral Arterial Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and of the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS). European Heart Journal, 2017; 39(9): 763-816.
- Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. About cognitive impairment. 2019. https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/our-work/cognitive-impairment/aboutcognitive-impairment [cited February 2023].
- 17. Agency for Clinical Innovation. Building collaborative cultures of care within NSW mental health services: Collaborative care planning. 2022. https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/projects/collaborative-cultures/action-area/systems/care-planning [cited February 2023].
- 18. Choi BC and Pak AW. Multidisciplinarity, interdisciplinarity and transdisciplinarity in health research, services, education and policy: 1. Definitions, objectives, and evidence of effectiveness. Clin Invest Med, 2006; 29(6): 351-64.

- Diagnostic Imaging Pathways. Information for Consumers Computed Tomography (CT). 2017. http://www.imagingpathways.health.wa.gov.au/index.php/consumer-info/ imaging-procedures/ct-scan [cited February 2023].
- 20. The Royal College of Pathologists Australasia. Pathology tests. 2021. https://www.rcpa.edu.au/Manuals/RCPA-Manual/Pathology-Tests[cited February 2023].
- 21. Ayello EA, Sibbald RG, and Baranoski S, Wound Debridement, in Wound Care Essentials: Practice Principles, Baranoski S and Ayello EA (Eds). 2016.
- 22. van Netten JJ, Bus SA, Apelqvist J, Lipsky BA, Hinchliffe RJ, Game F, Rayman G, Schaper NC, and on behalf of the International Working Group on the Diabetic Foot (IWGDF). Definitions and criteria for diabetic foot disease. Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews, 2020; 36(S1): e3268.
- 23. White R. The costs of wound debridement and exudate management. Br J Healthcare Manage 2015; 21(4): 172-6.
- 24. Oakley A. Dermatitis. 1997. http://www.dermnetnz.org/topics/dermatitis/ [cited March 2022].
- 25. Benbow M. Wound care: ensuring a holistic and collaborative assessment. Br J Community Nurs, 2011: \$6-16
- 26. Dune T, McLeod K, and Williams R. 2021. An introduction to culture, diversity and health in Australia, in *Culture, Diversity an Health in Australia: Towards Culturally Safe Health Care,* Dune T, McLeod K, and Williams R. (Eds). Routledge.
- 27. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2020. Evidence in Wound Care. Wounds International: London.
- 28. World Union of Wound Healing Societies. 2019. Consensus Document. Wound Exudate: Effective Assessment and Management. Wounds International: London.
- 29. Independent Hospital Pricing Authority. ICD-10-AM/ACHI/ACS Eleventh Edition. 2019. Australia Lane Print.
- 30. Vilar R, Fish R, Casini A, and Neerman-Arbez M. Fibrin(ogen) in human disease: Both friend and foe. Haematologica, 2020; 105(2): 284-96.
- 31. Wound Source Editors. Fistulas. 2019. https://www.woundsource.com/print/ patientcondition/fistulas [cited February 2022].
- 32. Dyall-Smith D. Fistulas and sinuses of the neck and face. 2010. https://dermnetnz.org/ topics/fistulas-and-sinuses-of-the-neck-and-face. [cited February 2022].
- 33. Oakley A. Fitzpatrick skin phototype. 2012. https://dermnetnz.org/topics/skin-phototype [cited February 2023].
- 34. Gefen A, Brienza DM, Cuddigan J, Haesler E, and Kottner J. Our contemporary understanding of the aetiology of pressure ulcers/pressure injuries. International Wound Journal, 2022; 19(30): 692-704
- 35. Boyens H, Oakley A, and Gonez J. Wet gangrene. 2016. http://www.dermnetnz.org/ topics/wet-gangrene/ [cited February 2023].
- 36. Boyens H and Oakley A. Dry gangrene. 2014 http://dermnetnz.org/topics/dry-gangrene [cited February 2023].
- 37. Lipsky BA, Senneville E, Abbas ZG, Aragon-Sanchez J, Diggle M, Embil JM, Kono S, Lavery LA, Malone M, van Asten SA, Urbancic-Rovan V, and Peters EJG. Guidelines on the diagnosis and treatment of foot infection in persons with diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36(S1): e3280.
- 38. Alhajj M and Goyal A. Physiology, Granulation Tissue. 2021. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK554402/ [cited February].
- 39. Naughton B. Getting to know granulation tissue and what it means for wound care. 2021. https://www.woundsource.com/blog/getting-know-granulation-tissue-and-what-it-means-wound-care [cited February].
- 40. WOCN. Wound Ostomy and Continence Nurses Society. 2010. Guideline for the Prevention and Management of Pressure Ulcers. WOCN Clinical Practice Guideline Series. Wound Ostomy and Continence Nurses Society:Mount Laurel, NJ.

- 41. Bendavid I, Lobo DN, Barazzoni R, Cederholm T, Coëffier M, de van der Schueren M, Fontaine E, Hiesmayr M, Laviano A, Pichard C, and Singer P. The centenary of the Harris-Benedict equations: How to assess energy requirements best? Recommendations from the ESPEN expert group. Clin Nutr, 2021; 40(3): 690-701.
- 42. Nutbeam D. Health literacy as a public health goal: a challenge for contemporary health education and communication strategies into the 21st century. Health Promotion International, 2000; 15(3): 259-67.
- 43. DermNet Editor. Dermatology Glossary of Terms: Hyperkeratosis. 2022. https://dermnetnz. org/glossary [cited March 2022].
- 44. Swanson T, Keast DH, Cooper R, Black J, Angel DE, Schultz G, Carville K, Fletcher J, and for the International Wound Infection Institute. Ten top tips: identification of wound infection in a chronic wound. Wounds Middle East, 2015; 2(1): 20-5.
- 45. Edsberg LE, Wyffels JT, and Ha. DS. Longitudinal Study of Stage III and Stage IV Pressure Ulcer Area and Perimeter as Healing Parameters to Predict Wound Closure. Ostomy Wound Manage, 2011; 57(10): 50-62.
- 46. Gorin DR, Cordts PR, LaMorte WW, and Menzoian JO. The influence of wound geometry on the measurement of wound healing rates in clinical trials. J Vasc Surg, 1996; 23: 524-8.
- 47. DermNet Editor. Glossary: Lesion. 2022. https://dermnetnz.org/glossary [cited February 2023].
- Benedetti J. Description of skin lesions 2021. https://www.msdmanuals.com/en-au/ professional/dermatologic-disorders/approach-to-the-dermatologic-patient/descriptionof-skin-lesions [cited February 2023].
- 49. Rippon M, Ousey K, Rogers AA, and Atkin L. Wound hydration versus maceration: understanding the differences. Wounds UK, 2016; 12(3): 62-8.
- 50. Diagnostic Imaging Pathways. Information for Consumers Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI). 2017.
- 51. Bus SA, Lavery LA, Monteiro-Soares M, Rasmussen A, Raspovic A, Sacco ICN, and van Netten JJ. Guidelines on the prevention of foot ulcers in persons with diabetes (IWGDF 2019 update). Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2020; 36 (S1)(no pagination)(e3269).
- 52. Wounds UK. 2018. Best Practice Statement: Improving Holistic Assessment of Chronic Wounds. Wounds UK: London.
- 53. Wounds UK. 2019. Best Practice Statement: Addressing Complexities in the Management of Venous leg Ulcers. Wounds UK: London.
- 54. BC Provincial Nursing Skin and Wound Care Committee. Wound Assessment Parameters and Definitions. 2014. https://scireproject.com/wp-content/uploads/IS\_ WoundAssessmentParameters.pdf [cited March 2022].
- 55. Langemo DK, Haesler E, Naylor W, Tippett A, and Young T. Evidence-based guidelines for pressure ulcer management at the end of life. Int J Palliative Nurs, 2015; 21(5): 225-32.
- 56. Langemo DK, Palliative Wound Care, in Wound Care Essentials: Practice Principles, Baranoski S and Ayello E. (Editors). 2016.
- 57. Dowsett C, Protz K, Drouard M, and Harding KG. Triangle of wound assessment made easy. Wounds International, 2015: 1-6.
- 58. LeBlanc K, Beeckman D, Campbell K, Hevia Campos H, Dunk AM, Gloeckner M, Holloway S, Idensohn P, Ousey K, Lucia Conceição de Gouveia Santos V, Smet S, Tariq G, and Woo K. 2021. Best practice recommendations for prevention and management of periwound skin complications. Wounds International.
- 59. Langøen A and Lawton S. Dermatological problems and periwound skin. World Wide Wounds, 2009: http://www.worldwidewounds.com/2009/November/Lawton-Langoen/vulnerable-skin-3.html.
- 60. Castaneda D, Esparza A, Ghamari M, Soltanpur C, and Nazeran H. A review on wearable photoplethysmography sensors and their potential future applications in health care. International journal of biosensors & bioelectronics, 2018; 4(4): 195-202.

- 61. Worksafe Queensland. Non-potable water. 2017. https://www.worksafe.qld.gov.au/ safety-and-prevention/hazards/hazardous-exposures/non-potable-water [cited October 2021].
- 62. Oakley A and de Menezes S. Pruritus. 2016. https://dermnetnz.org/topics/pruritus [cited March 2022].
- 63. Call E, Pedersen J, Bill BJ, Oberg CJ, and Ferguson-Pell M. Microclimate impact of prophylactic dressings using in vitro body analog method. Wounds, 2013; 25 4: 94-103.
- 64. Carr AJ, Gibson B, and Robinson PG. Measuring quality of life: Is quality of life determined by expectations or experience? BMJ (Clinical research ed.), 2001; 322(7296): 1240-3.
- 65. Jhangiani RS and Chiang I-CA, Reliability and Validity of Measurement in Research Methods in Psychology - Second Candian Edition. 2015, BCcampus https://opentextbc. ca/researchmethods/.
- 66. Ahpra. Regulatory principles for the National Scheme. 2021. https://www.ahpra.gov.au/ About-Ahpra/What-We-Do/Regulatory-principles.aspx [cited October 2021].
- 67. Ahpra. 2013. Fact Sheet for Students. https://www.osteopathyboard.gov.au/Registration/ Student-Registration.aspx [cited October 2021].
- 68. Tehan PE, Barwick AL, Sebastian M, and Chuter VH. Diagnostic accuracy of resting systolic toe pressure for diagnosis of peripheral arterial disease in people with and without diabetes: a cross-sectional retrospective case-control study. J Foot Ankle Res, 2017; 10(1): 58.
- 69. Romanos MT, Raspovic A, and Perrin BM. The reliability of toe systolic pressure and the toe brachial index in patients with diabetes. J Foot Ankle Res, 2010; 3(1): 31.
- 70. Vic Health. Screening. 2022.; Available from: https://www.health.vic.gov.au/patient-care/ screening [cited February 2023].
- 71. World Health Organisation. 2020. Screening programmes: A short guide. WHO Regional Office for Europe: Denmark.
- 72. Baranoski S, Ayello E, and Langemo DK, Wound Assessment, in Wound Care Essentials: Practice Principles, Baranoski S and Ayello E. (Editors). 2016.
- 73. Wounds UK. 2018. Best Practice Statement Maintaining Skin Integrity. Wounds UK: London.
- 74. Goss JA and Greene AK. Sensitivity and specificity of the Stemmer sign for lymphedema: A clinical lymphoscintigraphic study. Plastic and reconstructive surgery. Global Open, 2019; 7(6): e2295-e.
- 75. Australian Wound Management Association (AWMA) 2012. Pan Pacific Clinical Practice Guideline for the Prevention and Management of Pressure Injury. Cambridge Media: Osborne Park, WA.
- 76. National Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel (NPUAP), European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel (EPUAP), and Pan Pacific Pressure Injury Alliance (PPPIA). 2014. Prevention and Treatment of Pressure Ulcers: Clinical Practice Guideline. Haesler E (Ed.) Cambridge Media: Osborne Park, WA.
- 77. Oakley A. Telangiectasia. 2014.; https://dermnetnz.org/topics/telangiectasia [cited October 2021].
- 78. Australian College of Nursing. 2020. Unregulated health care worker postion statement. Australian College of Nursing: https://www.acn.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/positionstatement-unregulated-health-care-workers.pdf [cited October 2021].
- 79. Oakley A. Urticaria. 2015. https://dermnetnz.org/topics/acute-urticaria [cited October 2021].
- 80. International consensus. 2012. Optimising wellbeing in people living with a wound. An expert working group review. Wounds International: London.
- 81. Kallstrom G. Are quantitative bacterial wound cultures useful? J Clin Microbiology, 2014; 52(8): 2753-6.

